
REVENUE INCREASED with 13% to NOK 1,529 million
– boosted by higher efficiency and an increase in average rates

GROWTH of 8% to 1,386,800
– in the number of passengers in 2018 

ENVIRONMENTAL BENEFIT CO2 and NOx ⁄⁄ 60% and 81%
– by choosing to travel with Fjord Line instead of by road 
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On top of many consecutive years of strong expansion, Fjord 
Line continued to develop during 2018 and this growth in both 
revenues and earnings is set to continue in 2019. The drivers 
of this positive development are many but I wish to highlight 
the continued professionalisation and industrialisation of 
the company, leading to a tighter execution of processes 
and services paired with continued market success giving 
further growth in market shares as one of the most important 
factors. 

This gave a jump in revenues of 13% between 
the years, from NOK 1.359 million to NOK 
1.529 million and EBITDA continued to 
grow to NOK 336 million.

Our customer base is growing both within  
the private passenger segment and freight  
services as mentioned, resulting in further  
increases in market shares in both areas.  
Our investments in capacity expansion in the  
last few years together with the investment  
in a completely new ferry for our service on  
Kristiansand – Hirtshals - ready to set sail in 2020 - are  
important enablers to safeguard continued growth for the  
company.
 From 2019 we’re now basing all our efforts on our brand  
new Strategy Plan, “New Heights”. It’s a three-year plan 
designed to get us through a new period of profitable 
expansion, provide further consolidation and leaving us even 
more agile and attractive for our customers. 
 The management team and all of Fjord Line continue to 
work ferociously to operationalise the strategies to reach 
those higher targets. The digital agenda continues to be the 
most important task and the company is just wrapping up 
a period with an intense focus on IT-system changes, 
developing services and adopting new ways of working to 
become more efficient and customer centric. 
 We maintain a strong and lasting commitment to 
creating values for our stakeholders and are always 
looking for new business opportunities. Supported 
by new technology and new business models, we are 
diligently pushing ahead to create enthusiastic and loyal 

customers so that there is the wish to travel with us 
again and again and happily share heartfelt Fjord Line 
stories with family and friends. 

As our strategy proclaims, «We aim to become 
Scandinavia’s most loved and profitable ferry 
company»

The planet we inhabit is fragile and we do realise our market  
puts pressure on the whole industry to reduce the  

environmental footprint we’re leaving from our  
everyday business. We believe that we are 

already at the forefront in our industry,  
being early adopters of LNG as our main fuel 
and on a daily basis endeavour to reduce  
the strain we put on the envi ron ment  
around us in all ways, shapes and forms.  
A good example is our invest ment in a  

new vessel coming into service 2020 that 
once again underlines this effort by reducing 

the CO2 emissions by more than 30% per 
passen ger compared to present tonnage. 

 Therefore, I believe 2019 is set to be another inte-
resting year in which Fjord Line will see continued success on 
the market, continued growth in customer appeal resulting  
in further growth in revenues and earnings. With this, I feel  
it’s opportune to thank all my colleagues in the business 
who work daily to realise this proposition, taking care of the 
environment, our customers and our assets and not least, 
maintaining the very good work climate we experience in the 
company. 
 I am proud to be working in the dynamic and inspiring 
company that Fjord Line has become and knowing that we 
have a bright future. 

Rickard Ternblom
CEO

2018 a new all-time high 
– AND GROWTH SET TO CONTINUE IN 2019

PASSENGERS 
UP 8%

13% REVENUE 
GROWTH

CARS  
UP 8%
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2015 2016 2017 2018 Change

Passengers 18% 19.2% 19.7% 21.0% 6.6%

Cars 25.7% 27.4% 27.9% 29.5% 5.7%

Freight units 22.7% 22.9% 23.9% 23.9% 0.0%

Crossings 31.6% 31.0% 30.0% 30.9% 3.0%

Volumes total 2017 2018 Change

Passengers 1 278 842 1 386 700 8.0%

Cars 385 831 417 000 8.0%

Freight units 65 900 66 900 2.0%

Crossings 3 189 3 330 4.0%

Per crossing 2017 2018 Change

Passengers 401 416 4.0%

Cars 121 125 4.0%

Freight units 21 20 2.0%

MNOK MNOK
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The market is defined as all volumes on routes between Norway-Denmark and Norway-Sweden. Source: Shippax
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«We aim to become Scandinavia’s most 
loved and profitable ferry company.»
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Responsible  
maritime shipping

– FOR A MORE SUSTAINABLE WORLD

In 2013, Fjord Line launched the world’s first cruise ferries that undertake voyages using only 
environmentally friendly natural gas. This means that we are currently  

offering ferry travel with nearly half the CO₂ emissions than the industry average.  
Our ambition is to take a leading role in the transition to a low carbon society. 

In 2018, the IPCC presented a special report on the effects 
of climate change from a global temperature rise of 
1.5 degrees. A multitude of measures will need to be taken 
but the overall message is clear: In order for the world to be 
habitable in the future, a comprehensive and focused effort 
is needed from governments, companies and individuals. 
 At Fjord Line, we know how we impact the environment. 
We are continually working on reducing our environmental 
impact and for a long time, have taken focused steps 
towards becoming a more environmentally friendly company. 
Overall, we will contribute positively to a more sustainable 
society.

FROM THE ROAD TO THE SEA ROUTE 
The population of Norway is growing and we are travelling 
more and more. This has contributed to greater awareness 
and social debate amongst other things on how this impacts  
the environment. We see it in how ‘flight shaming’ and  
other concepts associated with environmental pessimism 
charac te rised debates throughout 2018. Population growth 
combined with high economic activity also means a lot of 

freight transportation, both domestically and abroad - by road, 
air, rail and sea. For the environment and the climate, the 
transportation choices we make go a long way. The bulk of 
transportation currently takes place on the roads, which is 
the transportation method that accounts for the majority of 
CO2 emissions into the atmosphere. In Norway, road traffic 
accounts for 17% of the total greenhouse gas emissions. 
We can look at the corresponding data on an international 
scale. In the EU, road transport accounts for nearly 75% of 
greenhouse gas emissions. 
 Maritime transport is a good and effective alternative. 
Transportation by sea produces less greenhouse gas 
emissions and consumes less energy than transporting  
the same amount of goods by other methods.

ENVIRONMENTAL BENEFIT
In 2018, Fjord Line transported 1,386,800 passengers, 
417,000 cars, 1,022 buses and 66,950 freight units across 
3,334 trips. If this transportation was to have taken place  
on the roads instead of by sea, there would have been  
60% more CO2 emissions and 81% more NOx emissions. 

1 386 800
PASSENGERS

2018
3,334 TRIPS

417 000
CARS

1 022
BUSES

66 950
FREIGHT UNITS

B
ETTER FOR THE ENVIRONM

EN
T!

81%  
less NOx

60%  
less CO2
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LARGE SCALE RESTRUCTURING
Today, there is a national policy objective to move the 
transportation of goods from land to sea. Doing so will  
have positive effects on a number of factors - 
especially the environment. Amongst other 
things, the National Transportation Plan for 
2018-2029 states that «The government’s aim 
is to facilitate the develop ment of competitive, 
effective, safe and environmentally friendly 
maritime transport, with efficient ports and 
transport corridors, as well as solid 
preparation against  
acute pollution.» 
 At the same time, the political 
parties have stated on their 
political platform that they will 
produce an “action plan for 
green shipping with the goal of 
halving emissions from domestic 
maritime transport and fishing 
by 2030”. The desire to focus on 
making shipping even  
more environmentally friendly sends  
a signal regarding its importance and its 
central role in a future in which the climate 
and the environment must come first.
 We are also seeing the same developments beyond 
our borders. With the environmental perspective in mind, the 
International Maritime Organization (IMO) and the Maritime 
Safety Committee (MSC) have set ambitious goals that are 
intended to further the objectives of the Paris Agreement. 
In 2018, the IMO set the goal of all ships cutting their CO2 
emissions by at least 40% by 2030.
 Seafaring transport must and will play a central role in  
the restructuring that is needed to achieve climate goals. 

A MODERN AND ENVIRONMENTALLY FRIENDLY  
FERRY FLEET 

One basic premise at Fjord Line is that we have to create 
value in a sustainable way and take responsibility for how we  
impact society around us. This means making the environ-
ment the focus of everything we do. As Norway’s second 
largest ferry company operating in international passenger 
and goods traffic between Norway, Sweden and Denmark,  
we aim to take a leading role in the transition to a low  
carbon society. 
 Over the last six years, we have invested heavily in a 
modern and technologically advanced fleet. In 2013, MS 
Stavangerfjord made its maiden voyage to Hirtshals and  
one year later, MS Bergensfjord did the same. These ships 
are sustainable, built with the latest technology and based 
on the principle of minimising both the potential local and 
global environmental footprints. Today, a passenger trip from 
Langesund to Hirtshals aboard one of our ships produces  
42% less CO2 emissions than the industry average.
 Our company has considerably reduced our CO2 emis-

sions over a long period of time. In parallel, our NOx emissions 
have also been significantly reduced. We see the results of  
our efforts when we compare ourselves to the transportation 

alternatives. A standard passenger trip between 
Stavanger and Oslo by air emits 63 kilos of CO2 while 

that same journey on a Fjord Line ship emits 17 kilos 
of CO2.
 The development of a more modern fleet will have  

a lasting and positive impact on the environment. 

FIRST IN THE WORLD ON LIQUID  
NATURAL GAS

The achievement of more sustainable 
development by Fjord Line over the 

past seven years is largely due to 
our willingness to invest in new 
technology.
 In 2012, we made the choice  
to focus on liquid natural gas as the 

energy source for our sister ships, MS 
Stavangerfjord and MS Bergensfjord. 

The two ships are the world’s first and 
largest cruise ferries that sail solely on 

environmentally friendly natural gas. Not 
only is this technology innovative, it also has 

significant environmental benefits. 
 The engine exhaust on board the ships is completely free 
of sulphur and soot and therefore doesn’t emit any visible 
smoke. By converting waste heat from the exhaust gases 
into steam-generated energy, the sister ships produce their  
own electricity. At the same time, the CO2emissions are  
up to 25 per cent lower than their diesel counterparts. NOx 
emissions have also been reduced by a full 92%. Looking  
at the global and local long-term picture, this means 
significant and positive effects on the climate and the 
environment.
 It’s not just us at Fjord Line who think this is a step in  
the right direction. In 2015, we received the highest score on 
the international Environmental Ship Index, beating over  
3,200 other ships.  
 This is something we are very proud of.

ONE STEP AHEAD FOR THE ENVIRONMENT 
For us, it’s important to not only operate in accordance with  
current laws and regulations but also to be always thinking 
one step ahead. Among other things, this includes getting 
ahead of future national and international emission 
regulations. 
 In March 2015, we began using one of the world’s most 
modern fuel plants in Risavika Port just outside of Stavanger. 
This is a new liquid natural gas-filling plant with zero risk  
of pollution. The facility ensures our ships receive larger 
amounts of fuel in less time and uses a method of bunkering 
with no spills.  Fjord Line is the first ferry company in Europe 
to fuel its ships with natural gas using this method. 
 We want to set an example by using environmentally 

«For the last six years,  

Fjord Line has made great 

strides in becoming a more 

environmentally conscious  

and responsible  

company.»
B
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friendly technology that minimises emissions. We do not  
dump wastewater into the ocean, we do not use toxic paints 
and we work to intentionally minimise the use of water and 
chemicals at our company. 
 In addition, we’ve started work on the future of waste 
management on all our ships. We keep our amount of 
waste at an absolute minimum and facilitate a high 
degree of recycling and reuse. This means that at Fjord 
Line all metal, glass, paper, cartons, aluminium cans, 
plastics, oil waste, bio-waste, hazardous waste, energy 
waste, wood waste and electronics are recycled.
 Our experience tells us that long-lasting and 
positive environmental effects are created when we let 
sustainability guide everything we do. For both the big 
things and the little things. 

THIS IS JUST THE BEGINNING 
We are constantly working on finding measures that 
reduce our energy consumption and are good for the 
environment. Despite having taken significant steps in 
recent years, we believe we should never stop evolving. 
 That is why, in 2020, we will be launching a new high-

speed catamaran that will operate between Kristiansand 
and Hirtshals. The new ship produces 32% less CO2 
emissions per passenger kilometre than current ships. 
That’s a lot!
 In addition, we have set ambitious and specific 
goals for 2017 on how we will take further steps towards 
becoming a positive contributor to a more sustainable
transport industry. 
 At Fjord Line, we know we have a direct impact on the 
climate and the environment. We are also acutely aware 
of the responsibility that we have to be part of the solution 
and not part of the problem. For the last six years, we have 
made great strides in becoming a more environmentally 
conscious and responsible company. Over the coming 
decades, we will introduce more measures to contribute 
to a more environmentally friendly transport industry. 

– WE ARE LOOKING 
FORWARD TO CONTINUING 
GREAT WORK! 
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Employees
Throughout 2018 we continued working on our  

training programme, Fjord Line Academy. 

In the past, the Academy was focused on various courses 
related to management training and service, alongside 
mandatory safety and hygiene certification courses.  
But we took a different approach in 2018.  
We expanded and developed our strategy  
for building skills by utilising a completely  
new and forward-thinking tool:  
a digital learning platform.  
Employees can easily build 
skills here on their own. With 
this tool, each individual gains 
more flexibility and becomes 
equipped to serve several 
different functions on board. We 
anticipate this new tool as being 
highly profitable and hope for its 
immediate implementation.
 We also endeavour to conduct 
training programmes on planned rest 
days for our ships. For example, this autumn 
we ran a major Marine Evacuation System (MES) 
exercise ashore on board MS Bergens fjord. A total of 160  
crew members participated. While the training programme  
was under way, we had the opportunity to install new retail 
outlets on board, making them ready for rollout as soon as 
MS Bergensfjord and MS Stavangerfjord were docked at the 
end of the year.
 The company receives compensation for any lost wages 
when an employee participates in and completes vocational 
training. 

SATISFACTION & ENGAGEMENT
We were able to get a good idea of how happy Fjord Line 
employees are and to learn their thoughts on the Group from 

the employee survey in 2018. We are pleased to report 
solid progress on a number of points. Furthermore, 

we are recording either the status quo or impro-
ve ments on all parameters compared to the 

2017 results.
 But even with such good results, 
Fjord Line will always strive for further 
improvement. 

FLEXIBLE VESSELS – FLEXIBLE 
ORGANISATION

In 2018, the company took its first major 
step towards what we have chosen to  

call “flexible ships/flexible organisation” 
to strengthen individual skills/flexibility. We 

believe that increased skills, greater responsibility 
and a higher degree of self-governance are crucial to  

succeeding in the achievement of such goals. In the employee  
survey mentioned earlier, our employees expressed their 
desire for a greater degree of autonomy within their areas 
of work. This tells us that company strategy goes hand in 
hand well with what employees want. This is an excellent 
springboard for success. 
 The success for Fjord Line with the flexible ship/flexible 
organisation strategy will simultaneously lead to success 
in both minimising and also providing the opportunity 
to vary the number of crew members. This is all without 
compromising our on board service.
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PRIDE IN BEING  
AN EMPLOYEE OF FJORD LINE  .......4.3

LOYALTY  .......................................................................4.5

WILLINGNESS TO BE  
AN AMBASSADOR  ............................................4.3

HIGHLIGHTS 
measured on a 
scale from 1-5

Source: 2018 Employee Survey.
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During 2018, Fjord Line 
continued working on 

developing and improving 
on-board aspects. Most  

of the work was done  
on MS Oslofjord.

When the ship returned to its daily route between Sandefjord 
and Strömstad in February 2018, it did so with a completely 
new and exciting shopping experience on decks 4 and 5! 

THE WORLD’S LARGEST TAX-FREE SHOP  
ON BOARD A DAY-TRIP FERRY! 

The new tax-free shop on MS Oslofjord boasts 1,800 square 
metres of shopping. Included in the experience is a delicious 
food market with a rich selection of frozen and refrigerated  
goods, a «We Proudly Serve» café (in collaboration with 
Starbucks) and its own departments for perfume, cosmetics, 
beverages, clothes, sweets, toys, and much more. 
 Worth noting is that when the tax-free shop was on the 
drawing board and then later came to life, Fjord Line actively 

Customer experience
– ON BOARD 2018
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used information from the customer surveys that we’ve  
been regularly carrying out since the company started  
on the route in June 2014. We can therefore say that  
this tax-free shop is one that is based on the wishes  
of our passengers and their responses to the shopping 
experience in 2018 were very positive.

NEW CABINS ON THE SISTER SHIPS 
At the end of 2017/beginning of 2018, the Deck 10  
projects were also completed as projects on the sister 
ships, MS Stavangerfjord and MS Bergensfjord, which 
operate daily on the Bergen-Stavanger-Hirtshals and 
Langesund-Hirtshals routes. Over 60 new cabins were 
built on each ship, many with upgraded classes and 

«The world’s 
largest Tax-Free 
Shop on board a 
day trip ferry!»
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FUTURE CUSTOMER EXPERIENCE 
– NEW CATAMARAN 2020
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stunning panoramic views. At the same time, the buffet 
restaurants on the ships were expanded by 125 tables,  
in the form of winter gardens with gorgeous ocean views. 
 These investments were made on the basis of the strong 
faith of Fjord Line in the market in Western Norway and a 
growing interest in Denmark as a holiday destination. 

TAX-FREE PROJECT AND NEW FASHION BOUTIQUE
Following this, Fjord Line also launched a new tax-free  
project aboard MS Stavangerfjord and MS Bergensfjord  
at the end of 2018. Drawing inspiration from the work on  
MS Oslofjord, the aim was to create a separate space for a 
food market as part of the shopping experience. Plans were 

added for a new clothing and accessories store with a wide 
selection of clothes for children and adults, as well as the 
addition of an Italian restaurant in a separate section in  
the on-board buffet restaurant section.

CONSTRUCTION OF A NEW CATAMARAN
In 2018, we started construction on a new Fjord Line  
catamaran that will run between Kristiansand and Hirtshals. 
Our plan is to have the catamaran fully operational by the 
2020 summer season and with almost double the capacity 
compared to HSC Fjord Cat, which currently operates on 
the route. The 2 hour and 15 minute travel time will remain 
unchanged.

«Bigger, better, 
bolder – still the 
fastest crossing  

with a car to 
Denmark!»
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THE GROUP
Fjord Line AS («Fjord Line») is the parent company in the 
Fjord Line Group («Group»). The Group is headquartered 
in Egersund with operative offices in Bergen, Stavanger, 
Kristiansand, Langesund, Sandefjord, Strömstad and 
Hirtshals and with sales offices in Germany, Netherland, 
Poland and Lithuania. As per December 31st 2018, the 
Group had 670 FTEs whereof 217 were shore based and 
453 were seagoing.
 The Group has one of the youngest and most modern 
fleets in the cruise ferry segment in Europe with an av-
erage age of 13,5 years. The fleet consists of four vessels 
and is highly cost efficient and all vessels fly the Danish 
flag. Our vessels operate three routes between Norway 
and Denmark, one route between Norway and Sweden 
and since January 1st the Group also operate a domestic 
route between Bergen and Stavanger.
 The Group revenues arises from three main business 
areas. All ticket revenues within the Group are generated 
in business area Travel and consists of transport-, cruise-, 
group-, package-, and conference ticket revenue streams. 
All onboard revenues are generated within business area 
Onboard Services and includes revenue streams predom-
inantly from the retail and food & beverage operations 

but also from ancillary revenues and services. Finally, 
business area Freight generates its revenues from sales 
of transportation of trucks, trailers, articulated vehicles, 
specialized or out-sized cargo and on-deck shipments 
but also from forwarding services.

TONNAGE
The cruise ferries MS Stavangerfjord (2013) and MS 
Bergensfjord (2014) operate the routes between Bergen 
– Stavanger – Hirtshals and Hirtshals – Langesund. The 
cruise ferries are nearly identical, and are both equipped 
with fuel efficient «single fuel» LNG-engines, which 
results in a close to complete elimination of pollutant 
emissions. The market demand on the route Bergen – 
Stavanger – Hirtshals is high and increasing, especially 
during peak season, school holidays and weekends. To 
meet this demand Fjord Line increased the cabin capac-
ity of MS Stavangerfjord and MS Bergensfjord with 64 
cabins per ship corresponding to an increase of 21% in 
cabin capacity.
 The modern day-ferry MS Oslofjord (1993) was sub-
ject to a substantial conversion in 2014. MS Oslofjord is 
customized for the route Sandefjord – Strömstad and 
was put into operation as the company’s first vessel on 

Annual Report 2018
FJORD LINE AS GROUP
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the route on 20 June 2014. In January 2018 the tax-free 
shopping area of the ship were increased and improved 
and today MS Oslofjord has one of the largest tax-free 
shops on a day route worldwide.
 The high-speed catamaran HSC Fjord Cat (1998) op-
erates the route Kristiansand – Hirtshals in the summer 
season. The vessel, which is one of the world’s fastest car 
carrying passenger vessels offers the fastest ferry cross-
ing between Norway and Denmark in just 2 hours and 15 
minutes.
 After several years of solid growth on the route Kris-
tiansand – Hirtshals, Fjord Line has decided to invest in a 
new catamaran with higher capacity and comfort, more 
departures and longer season. The new vessel also marks 
an increased focus on freight.
The Australian yard Austal Ships Pty Ltd got the assign-
ment to build the vessel which will represent a new tech-
nological standard and lower environmental footprint on 
this route from launching season 2020.
 The new vessel has a capacity of 1,200 passengers and 
more than 400 cars – almost a double of capacity. The 
capacity of the on board shops will also be doubled and 
provide the passengers with a wider selection. The guests 
will be able to choose from three different and exciting 
food concepts on board.

OPERATIONS IN 2018
The Group continued to grow its revenues significantly 
between the years driven by both higher production and 
generally higher average rates. Except for an exstensive 
docking of MS Bergensfjord during six weeks in January 
and February to increase cabin- and restaurant capacity, 
good regularity on all routes was achieved.
 Compared with 2017 total revenues grew with a healthy 
13% to MNOK 1,529.3 which again is a record for the Group. 
All business areas in the company contributed to this 
growth where both volumes and average rates increased 
across the board. Passenger operations on Sandefjord- 
Strömstad developed especially strong following a 
refurbishment of the retail unit onboard thus creating the 
world’s largest tax free shop afloat on a day ferry (1,200 
sqm). The maket received this novelty very well and de-
spite head-to-head competition on this route, the Group 
was able to note record trading levels for this operation.
 After a troublesome season in 2017 it was pleasing 
to record a sailing season without incidents on the route 
Kristiansand-Hirtshals where all planned sailings were 
serviced. Following the extensive docking program for our 
sister vessels MS Stavangerfjord and MS Bergensfjord, 
the capacity increase carried through onboard through 

addition of 64 new cabins and 114 further seats in our 
F&B-operation, proved valuable leading to record volumes 
during July on our Bergen-Hirtshals route. This experience 
underpins the Groups view of the great underlying poten-
tial in market demand from Western Norway.
 The Group carried 1,386,700 passengers in 2018 
compared to 1,278,900 in 2017 which constitutes an 
increase of 8,4%. The passenger numbers were negatively 
influenced by the six week docking of MS Bergensfjord, 
otherwise positively influenced by an uninterrupted sailing 
season on Kristiansand-Hirtshals and generally strong 
volume development on all routes. In fact, the Group set 
new all-time-highs on four of five routes in 2018.
Furthermore, the Group carried 417,000 passenger 
vehicles and 66,900 freight units compared to 386,900 
passenger vehicles and 65,900 in 2017, an increase with 
+7.8% and +1.5% respectively.
 The Group’s passenger market share continued to grow 
during 2018 and reached 21%, up from 19.7% in 2017 of the 
market between Norway-Denmark and Norway-Sweden. 
For passenger vehicles the market share reached 29.5% 
(27.9% in 2017) and for freight the share was stable on 
23.9% (23.9%).
 During 2018 extensive resources has been invested in 
digitalization of internal and external processes, seeing 
both first stages of a new e-commerce solution being 
implemented and a brand new ERP-system becoming op-
erative just to mention two of the initiatives. The ERP-sys-
tem, named VEGA internally, brings about fully integrated 
solutions from A-Z covering accounting, procurement, 
supply chain, POS, reporting and BI to mention some of 
the areas covered. The Group belives that the investment 
in this state-of-the-art system will bring about significant 
synegies in the years to come an lead to more efficient 
operations.
 The growth phase the Group has experienced recent 
years has put strains on the organization and as very 
often experienced, costs grows in parity with revenues. 
The Group Management team has identified challenges 
cost-wise, and thus towards the end of the year a cost-
race program Project Falcon was established to pin-point 
specific areas where savings are to be made without 
hampering commerciality or customer satisfaction. The 
program will become effective in financial year 2019 and 
render significantly lower operational costs in the Group 
both in the upcoming financial year as well as onwards.
To further strengthen commercial capabilities, a new role 
was added to the Management Team in the capacity of 
a Retail Director with the sole focus on maximizing retail 
revenues as well as retail contributions in the Group.

«A passenger crossing with one of our vessels  
on Langesund-Hirtshals, emits 42 percent less CO2  
than the trade average.»
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ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES
Fjord Line AS is a Norwegian private limited company and 
the parent company of the Group. The financial state-
ments of the parent company is presented in accordance 
with NGAAP. The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in accordance with simplified IFRS (Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards).

RESULT FOR THE GROUP AND THE PARENT COMPANY
The Group’s operating income was MNOK 1,529.3 in 2018, 
compared to MNOK 1,359.0 in 2017. The Group’s operating 
expenses ex. depreciation were MNOK 1,193.8 in 2018, 
compared to MNOK 1,051.6 in 2017.
 The Group’s EBITDA shows a profit of MNOK 335.5 in 
2018, compared to a profit of MNOK 307.4 in 2017. Oper-
ating result (EBIT) in 2018 shows a profit of MNOK 123.9, 
compared to a profit of MNOK 122.7 in 2017.
 Further on, the Group’s net financial expenses are 
MNOK 109.7 in 2018, compared to corresponding expens-
es of MNOK 118.2 in 2017. Included is a foreign exchange 
loss of MNOK 108.8 related to borrowing in EUR/DKK 
compared to corresponding foreign exchange loss in 
2017 of MNOK 171.5. MNOK 108.2 of this loss has a counter 
entry through foreign exchange gain on intergroup loans 
in DKK to subsidiaries. In total net disagio of MNOK 8.2 
was recognised in 2018, compared to a net disagio of 
MNOK 33.2 in 2017.
 Result before tax for the Group was a profit of MNOK 
14.2 in 2018, compared to a profit of MNOK 4.5 in 2017.  
Result after tax was a profit of MNOK 67.9 i 2018,  
compared to a profit of MNOK 78.2 in 2017.
 The parent company Fjord Line AS` result before tax 
was a profit of MNOK 53.8 in 2018, compared to a profit of 
MNOK 23.9 in 2017. Fjord Line’s profit of MNOK 106.8 after 
tax is proposed transferred to other equity. Subsequently 
the book equity of the parent company amounts  
to MNOK 684.6.
 Fjord Line has accumulated basis for deferred tax 
asset of MNOK 1,218.0, which implies a deferred tax asset 
(22 per cent) of MNOK 268.0 at full capitalization. For 
prudential reasons the Board of Directors has recognised 
deferred tax asset of MNOK 178.0 in the balance sheet 
which presents an increase from 2017 with MNOK 53.0. 
The revaluation of the deferred tax asset is based on an 
updated review of the future prospects of Fjord Line, 
supported by the last two years financial results and the 
positive trend we see in 2019. The increased capacity 
of MS Stavangerfjord and MS Bergensfjord will further 
enhance the financial results of 2019 and onwards.
 The Board of Directors is of the opinion that the ac-
counting figures for 2018 have to be assessed in view of 
the circumstances described under «Operations 2018».
The Board of Directors finds the profit development satis-
factory and expects further improvement in 2019.

CASH FLOWS
The Group’s liquid funds have been decreased by MNOK 
64.7 in 2018 compared to an increase of liquid funds of 
MNOK 27.9 in 2017.
The decrease consists of the following main elements:
•  Cash flow from operational activities: MNOK 268.9  
 (MNOK 319.3 per 31 December 2017).
•  Cash flow from investing activities: MNOK -312.6  
 (MNOK -339.7 per 31 December 2017).
•  Cash flow from financing activities: MNOK -21.1  
 (MNOK 48.3 per 31 December 2017).

BALANCE SHEET AND FINANCING
The Group’s total balance sheet value is MNOK 3,813.3 
per 31 December 2018, compared to MNOK 3,683.3 per 
31 December 2017. Fjord Line AS’ total balance sheet is, 
however, MNOK 3,404.7 per 31 December 2018 compared 
to MNOK 3,240.2 per 31 December 2017. Interest bearing 
debt made MNOK 2,429.2 per 31 December 2018 com-
pared to MNOK 2,362.6 per 31 December 2017.
 The group’s equity is MNOK 1,059.4 per 31 Decem-
ber 2018, compared to an equity of MNOK 1,037.1 per 31 
December 2017. Two independent valuations provided for 
the fleet promise that there are substantial added values 
in the ships compared to carrying values. These added 
values are not reflected in the accounting figures, but are 
central in the understanding of the Group’s real equity 
per 31 December 2018. The ships are valued in EURO, 
and according to the brokerage the total real value of the 
ships per 31 December 2018 is MNOK 689.8 higher than 
the carrying value.
 The Group’s boand loan of MNOK 300 were repaid in 
Febuary 2018. In 2017 Fjord Line signed a credit agree-
ment with Danica Pension Livsforsikringselskap of MDKK 
400 terminating in June 2023. The facility will cover 
re-financing of bond loan and secure the Group’s growth 
strategy.
 The Group’s liquid funds made MNOK 123.5 per  
31 December 2018, including an unused credit facility  
of MNOK 38.8.

THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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OWNERSHIP
The Group’s major owners per 31.12.2018 were as follows:
Ferd AS 44.6%, Kontrari AS 34.8 %, Kontrazi AS 17.4 %

FINANCIAL RISK
Exchange rate and interest rates
Per December 31.12.2018 the Group has interest bearing debt 
of MNOK 2,429.2, including loan in EUR/DKK, constituting 
in total MNOK 2,316.9. The Group is exposed to interest risk 
and currency risk on these loans. The risk is, however, partly 
eliminated through the fact that parts of the liabilities are 
hedged through fixed interest rate agreement, and that parts 
of Fjord Lines revenues are in EUR/DKK. At the end of the 
year the interest bearing debt of Fjord Line AS amounts to 
MNOK 2,409.0.
 The Group is to some extent exposed to currency risk, but 
this risk is partly eliminated since revenues and expenses are 
denominated in both EUR/DKK, as well as NOK. The Group 
is also exposed to fluctuations in the exchange rate of USD 
through purchase of fuel. The Group is exposed to general 
fluctuations in bunkers- and LNG prices, but a significant 
part of the risk is eliminated through hedging contracts for 
LNG and MGO.
 In 2018 the Group entered into interest swap agreements 
to reduce the financial risk.

PRICE VARIATIONS OF BUNKER
The Group has per 31.12.2018 entered into hedging contracts 
for approximately 50 per cent of the LNG consumption in the 
period 2019-2021, and approximately 60 per cent of the MGO 
consumption for the period 2019-2021.
 In 2019 additional volumes of LNG and MGO have been 
secured in hedging contracts.

COVENANTS
Per 31.12.2018 the Group had financial debt cove-
nants connected to EBITDA, liquidity and booked 
and value adjusted equity. The company’s Board 
of Directors and management are continuously 
monitoring the financial debt covenants, and per 
31 December 18 the company is in compliance with 
all covenants. The Group is also compliant as per 31 
March 2019.

MARKET
Market risk is considered to be limited for the com-
pany, as the target group comprises a large number 
of and various types of customers. The Group’s 
main objective is to secure profitability and to main-
tain cost efficient operations. Fjord Line is working 

44,6%
Ferd AS

34,8%
Kontrari AS

17,4%
Kontrazi AS
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purposefully to improve profitability and has strong focus 
on obtaining competitive frame conditions.

OUTLOOK 2019
Fjord Line has strong and committed long-term owners 
which implies that the Management team has good  
conditions to implement the strategy set by the Board 
of Directors. Through increased customer insights, 
strategic investments and continued optimization of 
operations, the Group expects to have a positive financial 
development in the next coming years.
 The Board of Directors concurs with the Management 
team view and expects the financial results for the Group 
to improve further in 2019 and are optimistic about the 
future of the Group.
 The group is not involved in any litigations.

GOING CONCERN
In accordance with the Accounting Act § 3-3a it is con-
firmed that the financial statements for 2018 have been 
prepared under the assumption of going concern.

GENDER EQUALITY
In 2018 the Group had on average 768 man-labour years, 
including 459 men and 309 women. In Fjord Line the 
number of man-labour years was 154 on average,  
including 69 men and 85 women. Number of employees 
in Fjord Line was 180, including 83 men and 97 women.
 The company is continuously working to avoid dis-
crimination based on gender, age, ethnicity etc. both  
in regard to existing and new employments.
 Of the Group’s top management comprising ten 
employees, three employees are women. The Board of 

«In 2017, Fjord Line implemented a policy for systematic  
follow-up and reduction of sick-leave given to all leaders.» 
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«We move people» 
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Directors in Fjord Line are composed of five men. Based 
on an assessment of number of employees and job cat-
egory the Board of Directors have not found it necessary 
to implement special measures with regard to gender 
equality, the Group will, however, continuously focus on 
this issue.

EMPLOYEES AND HSEQ
The working environment in the Group is considered 
to be good, but we have still implemented initiatives to 
reduce the level of sick leave. The absence due to illness 
in the Group was 3.25 per cent in 2018 split on 4.5 per 
cent for seagoing employees and 2.0 per cent for shore 
employees. This firms
an increase of 0.15 per cent compared with 2017. Fjord 
Line implemented in 2017 a guidance for systematic 
follow-up and reduction of sick leave given to all lead-
ers. We have in 2018 experienced good effect with this 
initiative which has contributed to keep the sick leave on 
a low level.
 In 2018, 31 (34 in 2017) work accidents were registered 
where of none was classified as serious accidents.10 
accidents involved more than 24 hours of absence. Of 
these accidents 10 accidents caused absence more 
than 24 hours. We continuously work to reduce the level 
of work accidents through several initiatives. In 2018 in 
general, there has been few and minor incidents. MS 
Bergensfjord was hit by another ship in Hirtshals harbor 
“Kimberly C” - with limited damage to MS Bergensfjord. 
All incidents, including deviation from the company’s 
safety system, are being reported based on «No blame 

culture». This is the reason why all, also minor incidents, 
are reported.
 Sea- and land-based employees regularly conduct 
safety and emergency drills including lifeboat drills and 
evacuation exercises, and functional tests of rescue 
equipment are regularly carried out onboard the ships.

FJORD LINE ACADEMY
Fjord Line Academy was established in 2016. The  
purpose of the Academy is competence development 
and systematic planning of mandatory courses for 
employees. In 2018, the Group among others educated 
20 managers in our internal course for management 
development Leading Fjord Line.

EXTERNAL ENVIRONMENT
Fjord Line is focusing attention on and endeavors that 
the Group at any time shall be operated in accordance 
with applicable national and international regulations.
 The company operates a business which basically 
causes pollution of the external environment. There have 
been no uncontrolled emissions to air or sea in 2018. The 
company complies with applicable laws and regulations 
in the area and wishes to minimalize the pollution for 
instance through measures that reduce the emission of 
NOx. Pollutant emissions to air and water are minimal 
from the two newest cruise ferries and considerably  
lower than allowed by current regulations. The two  
newest cruise ferries stand out as the most environmen-
tally friendly of their kind and the ships have received 
several international environmental awards.

Egersund, 26 April 2019

Peter Frølich
Chairman of the Board

Kristian Falnes
Board Member

Kristian Eikre
Board Member

Frode Teigen
Board Member

Kaj Fredriksen
Board Member

Rickard Ternblom
CEO
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Fjord Line AS - Group

Consolidated income statment 
(1,000 NOK)

Note Group Group
2018 2017

Simplified IFRS Simplified IFRS
Income/net gains
Sales revenues 14, 17 1 505 870 1 328 524
Other operating income 14 25 427 23 508
Other gains/losses (net) 14, 19 -1 975 6 995
Total 14 1 529 322 1 359 027

Operating expenses:
Cost of goods 357 284 276 066
Wage costs 15 370 051 352 005
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 1, 2, 18 211 571 184 679
Other operating expenses 3, 6, 7, 15 466 474 423 544
Total operating expenses 1 405 380 1 236 294

Operating result 123 942 122 733

Financial items:
Interest income 3 737 1 370
Other financial income 4 118 086 138 519
Income from investment in associated company 5 -507 -713
Interest expenses 13 -104 743 -85 666
Other financial expenses 4 -126 281 -171 749
Net financial items -109 708 -118 239

Ordinary result before tax 14 233 4 495

Tax expense on ordinary result 12 -53 647 -73 718

Ordinary result after tax 67 881 78 213

Result for the year 67 881 78 213

Distribution of result group:
Majority's share of result 67 881 78 213
Non-controlling interests' share of result 0 0
Total 67 881 78 213

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
(1,000 NOK)

Result for the year, cf. above 67 881 78 213

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Change in value of financial instruments used as hedges -64 027
Currency translation differences 18 424 109 186
Total -45 603 109 186

Comprehensive income for the year, net of tax -45 603 109 186

Total comprehensive income for the year 22 278 187 399

Fjord Line AS - Group

Consolidated income statment 
(1,000 NOK)

Note Group Group
2018 2017

Simplified IFRS Simplified IFRS
Income/net gains
Sales revenues 14, 17 1 505 870 1 328 524
Other operating income 14 25 427 23 508
Other gains/losses (net) 14, 19 -1 975 6 995
Total 14 1 529 322 1 359 027

Operating expenses:
Cost of goods 357 284 276 066
Wage costs 15 370 051 352 005
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 1, 2, 18 211 571 184 679
Other operating expenses 3, 6, 7, 15 466 474 423 544
Total operating expenses 1 405 380 1 236 294

Operating result 123 942 122 733

Financial items:
Interest income 3 737 1 370
Other financial income 4 118 086 138 519
Income from investment in associated company 5 -507 -713
Interest expenses 13 -104 743 -85 666
Other financial expenses 4 -126 281 -171 749
Net financial items -109 708 -118 239

Ordinary result before tax 14 233 4 495

Tax expense on ordinary result 12 -53 647 -73 718

Ordinary result after tax 67 881 78 213

Result for the year 67 881 78 213

Distribution of result group:
Majority's share of result 67 881 78 213
Non-controlling interests' share of result 0 0
Total 67 881 78 213

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
(1,000 NOK)

Result for the year, cf. above 67 881 78 213

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Change in value of financial instruments used as hedges -64 027
Currency translation differences 18 424 109 186
Total -45 603 109 186

Comprehensive income for the year, net of tax -45 603 109 186

Total comprehensive income for the year 22 278 187 399

Group 2017
Simplified IFRS

Group 2018
Simplified IFRSNote

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOM

FJORD LINE AS – GROUP
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
(1,000 NOK)

Annual accounts



24

 Annual accounts ⁄⁄ Fjord Line Annual Report 2018

                Fjord Line AS - Group

Consolidated balance sheet
(1,000 NOK)

ASSETS Note Group Group
31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Simplified IFRS Simplified IFRS
Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Deferred tax asset 12 195 473 143 125
Other intangible assets 1 70 557 18 900
Total intangible assets 266 030 162 025

Property, plant and equipment
Ships 2, 18 3 066 789 3 089 256
Prepayment ships 2 183 636
Buildings, plants etc. 2 51 857 130 952
Other property, plant and equipment 2 247 23 395
Total property, plant and equipment 2 3 302 529 3 243 603

Financial fixed assets
Derivatives 19 9 133 7 516
Investment in associated company 5 10 886 12 245
Other investments 5 80 80
Total financial fixed assets 20 099 19 841

Total fixed assets 3 588 659 3 425 468

Current assets
Inventories 6 22 833 26 016

Receivables and derivatives
Trade receivables 7 43 676 39 788
Other current receivables 8, 17 60 808 31 371
Derivatives 19 12 582 10 400
Total receivables and derivatives 117 066 81 559

Bank deposit, cash etc. 9 84 725 150 212

Total current assets 224 625 257 788

Total assets 3 813 283 3 683 256

Group 2017
Simplified IFRS

Group 2018
Simplified IFRSNote

Assets

FJORD LINE AS – GROUP
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
(1,000 NOK)
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Consolidated balance sheet
(1,000 NOK)

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Note Group Group
31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Simplified IFRS Simplified IFRS
EQUITY
Paid-in equity
Share capital 10, 11 519 107 519 107
Own shares 10 -9 -10
Share premium account 10 178 227 178 227
Total paid-in equity 10 697 325 697 324

Other equity controlling interests
Other equity 10 362 078 339 800
Total 362 078 339 800

Total equity controlling interests 1 059 403 1 037 125

Non-controlling interests 10 0 0

Total equity 10 1 059 403 1 037 125

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities/non-current provisions
Leasing debt 2, 13 1 015 1 577
Bond debt 13 0 0
Non-current debt to credit institutions etc. 13 2 204 939 2 123 612
Refund previous advance payment 17 0 0
Pension liability (net) 15 3 486 3 048
Derivatives 19 63 526 0
Total non-current liabilities/non-current provisions 2 272 966 2 128 237

Current liabilities
Current portion of non-current liabilities to credit institutions 13 223 253 238 947
Current portion of leasing debt 2, 13 0 964
Derivatives 19 4 316 0
Trade payables 93 221 115 819
Refund previous advance payment 17 6 296
Tax payable 12 1 579 412
Public duties owing 7 173 8 119
Other current liabilities 16 151 373 147 337
Total current liabilities 480 915 517 894

Total liabilities 2 753 881 2 646 131

Total equity and liabilities 3 813 283 3 683 256

Group 2017
Simplified IFRS

Group 2018
Simplified IFRSNote

Equity and Liabilities

FJORD LINE AS – GROUP
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET 
(1,000 NOK)

Egersund, 26 April 2019

Peter Frølich
Chairman of the Board

Frode Teigen
Board Member

Kaj Frederiksen
Board Member

Kristian Eikre
Board Member

Kristian Falnes
Board Member

Rickard Ternblom
CEO
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Cash flow statement - group
(TNOK)

2018 2017
Cash flows from operational activities
Operating result 123 942 122 733
Taxes paid in the period -412 -4 121
Depreciation 211 533 184 979
Write-down 0 0
Gain/loss from sale of property, plant and equipment/intangible assets 0 0
Change in inventories 3 183 1 644
Change in trade receivables -33 426 -11 954
Change in trade payables -38 582 34 716
Change in financial assets at fair value over profit or loss 0 -6 995
Change in other accruals 2 686 -1 679
Net cash flows from operational activities 268 924 319 323
  
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and received grants 0 0
Purchase/manufacturing of property, plant and equipment/intangible assets -130 066 -341 055
Prepayment assets -183 636
Interest received 1 138 1 370
Sale of subsidiary (less cash in subsidiary) 0 0
Net cash flows from investing activities -312 564 -339 685
  
Cash flows from financing activities
Raising of interest bearing debt 138 621 279 689
Repayment of non-current interest bearing debt -74 000 -145 753
Interest paid -85 721 -85 666
Cash contribution share issue (net) 0 0
Net cash flows from financing activities -21 100 48 270
  
Net change in cash and cash equivalents -64 740 27 908

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 150 212 121 921

Currency translation cash and cash equivalents 383

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 85 472 150 212

Specification of cash reserves at the end of the period
Bank deposit and cash 85 472 150 212

Cash flow statement - group
(TNOK)

2018 2017
Cash flows from operational activities
Operating result 123 942 122 733
Taxes paid in the period -412 -4 121
Depreciation 211 533 184 979
Write-down 0 0
Gain/loss from sale of property, plant and equipment/intangible assets 0 0
Change in inventories 3 183 1 644
Change in trade receivables -33 426 -11 954
Change in trade payables -38 582 34 716
Change in financial assets at fair value over profit or loss 0 -6 995
Change in other accruals 2 686 -1 679
Net cash flows from operational activities 268 924 319 323
  
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and received grants 0 0
Purchase/manufacturing of property, plant and equipment/intangible assets -130 066 -341 055
Prepayment assets -183 636
Interest received 1 138 1 370
Sale of subsidiary (less cash in subsidiary) 0 0
Net cash flows from investing activities -312 564 -339 685
  
Cash flows from financing activities
Raising of interest bearing debt 138 621 279 689
Repayment of non-current interest bearing debt -74 000 -145 753
Interest paid -85 721 -85 666
Cash contribution share issue (net) 0 0
Net cash flows from financing activities -21 100 48 270
  
Net change in cash and cash equivalents -64 740 27 908

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 150 212 121 921

Currency translation cash and cash equivalents 383

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 85 472 150 212

Specification of cash reserves at the end of the period
Bank deposit and cash 85 472 150 212

Cash flow statement - group
(TNOK)

2018 2017
Cash flows from operational activities
Operating result 123 942 122 733
Taxes paid in the period -412 -4 121
Depreciation 211 533 184 979
Write-down 0 0
Gain/loss from sale of property, plant and equipment/intangible assets 0 0
Change in inventories 3 183 1 644
Change in trade receivables -33 426 -11 954
Change in trade payables -38 582 34 716
Change in financial assets at fair value over profit or loss 0 -6 995
Change in other accruals 2 686 -1 679
Net cash flows from operational activities 268 924 319 323
  
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and received grants 0 0
Purchase/manufacturing of property, plant and equipment/intangible assets -130 066 -341 055
Prepayment assets -183 636
Interest received 1 138 1 370
Sale of subsidiary (less cash in subsidiary) 0 0
Net cash flows from investing activities -312 564 -339 685
  
Cash flows from financing activities
Raising of interest bearing debt 138 621 279 689
Repayment of non-current interest bearing debt -74 000 -145 753
Interest paid -85 721 -85 666
Cash contribution share issue (net) 0 0
Net cash flows from financing activities -21 100 48 270
  
Net change in cash and cash equivalents -64 740 27 908

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 150 212 121 921

Currency translation cash and cash equivalents 383

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 85 472 150 212

Specification of cash reserves at the end of the period
Bank deposit and cash 85 472 150 212

FJORD LINE AS – GROUP
CASH FLOW STATEMENT
(1,000 NOK)
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Below are stated significant Accounting Policies used 
in the preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments. The consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with simplified IFRS 
(International Financial Reporting Standards). From 
the accounting year 2015 the group has prepared the 
financial statements in accordance with simplified 
IFRS.

CONSOLIDATION AND INVESTMENT  
IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

The consolidated financial statements comprise the 
parent company Fjord Line AS and the subsidiaries, 
Fjord Line GmbH (Germany),Fjord Line Danmark A/S, 
Fjord Skibsholding I A/S, Fjord Skibsholding II A/S, 
Fjord Skibsholding III A/S,Fjord Skibsholding IV A/Sand 
Fjord Skibsholding V A/S. The fivelast mentioned com-
panies aredomiciled in Denmark and are 100% owned 
subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities where the group 
has the power to govern the entity’s financial andoper-
ational policies (control).
 When the group disposes of a subsidiary/ceases 
to have control, any retained interest in the entity is 
remeasured to its fair value at the date when control 
is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised 
in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying 
amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting 
for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture 
or financial asset.
 Hirtshals LNG is a partially owned subsidiary 50% 
owned by Fjord Line Danmark A/S. This is considered 
as an associated company in the consolidated finan-
cial statements and treated in accordance with the 
equity method.
 Intercompany transactions, balances etc. have 
been eliminated in the consolidated financial state-
ments.
 For consolidation purposes the Danish companies 
are estimated to have functional currency in DKK
and German EUR.

ESTIMATES 

The preparation of financial statements requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also 
requires management to exercise its judgment in the 

process of applying the group’s accounting policies. 
Areas involving a higher degree of judgment or com-
plexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the consolidated financial statements 
are deferred tax assets, residual value of ships, useful 
life of ships, capitalization and depreciation of periodic 
maintenance and provision for incurred costs.

SALES REVENUES

IFRS 15 income replaces IAS 18 operating revenues 
from the financial year 2018. IFRS 15 has established 
a new framework for recognition and measurement of 
income in which to carry out a five-step assessment 
of whether revenue must be recognized at a given time 
or over time. The 5 steps include identifying a contract, 
identifying delivery obligations, determine the trans-
action price, distribute the transaction price on the 
various deliveryobligations and accruing income as 
you meet the delivery obligations. For Fjord Line, reve-
nue is all in all mainly related to ticket sales, on-board 
services and cargo revenues, which are mainly earned 
during the crossing, so that there are no significan-
tchanges in recognition under IFRS 15 compared with 
IAS 18.

CLASSIFICATION AND VALUATION  
OF BALANCE SHEET ITEMS

Assets intended for long term ownership or use have 
been classified as fixed assets. Assets relating to the 
trading cycle have been classifiedas current assets. 
Receivables are classified as current assets if they are 
to be repaid within one year after the transaction date. 
Similar criteria apply to liabilities. First year’s install-
ment has been classified as current liabilities.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Expenses for intangible assets are reflected in the  
balance sheet when it is considered likely that the 
future financial benefits relating to the asset will be 
received by the company and the acquisition cost of 
the asset can be reliably measured.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are reflected in the  
balance sheet and depreciated over the assets’ 

Accounting policies
FJORD LINE AS GROUP
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expected useful life on a straight-line basis. Direct 
maintenance of an asset is expensed under operat-
ing expenses as and when it is incurred. Additions or 
improvements are added to the asset’s cost price and 
depreciated together with the asset.
 The group’s ships with associated additions etc. 
are owned by the Danish subsidiaries. The book value 
of ships is calculated based on acquisition cost, less 
depreciation and impairment, if any. Facilities under 
construction are capitalized in line with assumed  
progress.
 Investments/expenses that are not included in the 
contract, as inspection costs, costs connected to  
project organisation,legal costs, financing costs and 
other related costs are considered as part of the  
acquisition cost and recorded in the balance sheet.
Grants from the NOx-fund related to investments are 
recorded/accrued in line with the depreciation profile 
of the assets that the grants relate to. The accrual 
is classified as reduction of depreciation cost in the 
income statement. NOx-grants not recognised over 
profit or loss are classified as reduction of ship values 
in the balance sheet.
 The book values of the group’s ships and other 
operating assets areindividually tested for impairment 
when events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the book value is no longer present. If such in-
dications occur and book value exceeds recoverable 
amount, then the asset is impaired to recoverable 
amount.

PERIODICAL MAINTENANCE OF SHIPS

The ships are decomposed into ship/ship furnishing 
and periodical maintenance for depreciation purpos-
es They are depreciated straight-line over a defined 
useful life.An assumed residual value of the ships at 
the expiry of the useful life is taken into consideration. 
The ships must continuously be presented for control, 
which implies regular docking and classification. Peri-
odical maintenance is recognised in the balance sheet 
in connection with docking and depreciated till next 
assumed docking.

LEASING

A leasing agreement is classified as financial or 
operational lease in accordance with the contents of 
the individual agreement. The agreement is classified 
as financial lease if the major part offinancial risk and 
control connected to the underlying lease object has 
been transferred to the lessee. Other leasing agree-
ments are classified as operational. Operational assets 
in leasing agreements assessed as financial lease 
are activated in the balance sheet at the value of the 
compensation in the leasing agreement and depreci-
ated as property, plant and equipment. The principal 
portion of the leasing liability is recorded as non-cur-

rent liabilitiesexcept for the part due in less than 12 
months, it is shown as current liabilities. The liability is 
reduced with lease paid less deduction for calculated 
interest expense. The lease payments are treated as 
an operating expense which is distributed over the 
total leasing period for agreements that are classified 
as operational.

INVENTORIES

Inventories of purchasedgoods are valued at the lower 
of acquisition cost according to the FIFO- 
principleand netrealisablevalue. Netrealisable value  
is the estimatedselling price in ordinary activities  
deducted estimated sales expenses. 

CAPITALIZED INTEREST

Interest relating to facilitiesunder construction or oth-
erqualifyingassetsarecapitalizedas part of the cost- 
ofthe assetin accordance with IAS23 Borrowing Cost.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces IAS39 Financial 
Instruments-Recognition and Measurement.
The standard is implemented in2018. Amendments 
toIFRS 9 mainly apply to three separateareas:
classification andmeasurement, impairmentand- 
hedging. Under IFRS 9, financial assets aremeasured
using three differentmethods: fair value over profit, fair 
value through comprehensive incomeand at amortized 
cost. The assetsare classifiedin the different the cate-
gories based on the company’s businessmodel andthe 
terms of the cash flows fromthe contracts. IFRS 9 has 
not had any significant impacton the measurement 
andrecognition of financial assets.
 Essentially, the rules coincide withIAS 39 regarding-
financial liabilities.
 The standardintroduces a newmodel for impair-
mentassessmentbased onexpected creditloss  
(compared to accruedcredit losses underIAS 39). 
Theimpairmentmodel in IFRS 9 entails a new
model based onchanges in these financial assets’ 
credit risk. Eitherthe company will record a
provisionfor expected creditlosses for the next  
12 months over the assets that have fixed or
determinable paymentsand which arenot traded  
inanactivemarket.
 Alternatively, the company will allocate for the  
expected credit loss over the asset’s life. Thiswill be 
done once there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk, in other words, where credit risk on the
balance sheet date is higher thanthe credit risk at 
initial recognition.
 If a loss event has occurred, the fall in value will 
bemeasured int he same way as in the above
paragraph, that is, on an amount corresponding to 
expected credit loss for the life of the claim. Since the 
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company has historically had limited credit losses, 
it has not led to significantchanges in the financial 
statement.
 Hedge accountingunder IFRS9 entails a number 
of changes. Hedge accountingmust be in accordance 
withthe group’s risk management model. The security 
efficiency requirement for a hedge being 80–125%  
effective is replaced by anoverall assessment of 
whether the security relationship is effective.
 The company has from 1. January 2018 began to 
apply hedge accounting for hedging of bunkers and
interest rate for long-term debt that is made using 
derivatives so that value adjustments on the hedging 
instruments are entered inthe comprehensive income.
Loans and receivables are financial assets that are 
not derivatives and current assets, unless they mature 
more than 12 months after the balance sheet date. 
Accounts receivable and other receivables are recog-
nized at fair value when they are received occurs. 
 Receivables aremeasured at amortized cost
and assessedfor impairmenton an ongoing basis.
Dividend receivedandother contributions are  
recognisedas other financial income.
 Financial assets at fair value over lossare financial 
assetsheld for trading purposes.
 Financialassets areclassified in this category if  
they primarilyhavebeen acquired with the purpose 
of providinggainsfrom short term price fluctuations. 
Derivatives are classified as held for trading purposes 
unless theyare part of a hedging. Assets in this cate-
gory are classifiedas current assets if they are expect-
ed to be realized within 12 months, otherwise they are 
classified as non-current assets.
 Gains or losses from change in fair value of deri- 
vatives that are not part of hedge accounting are
included in the income statement under «Other gains/
losses(net)» in the period that they occur.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

Items included in the financial statements of each of 
the group’s entities are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the 
entityoperates («the functional currency»). The  
consolidated financial statements arepresented in 
NOK, which is the functional currency of the parent 
company and the group’s presentation currency.
 The results and financial position of all the group 
entities (none of which has the currency of a hyper-
inflationary economy) that have a functional currency 
different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:
 (i) Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet  
presented are translated at the closing rate at the date 
of that balance sheet.
 (ii) The income statement shall be converted at the 
exchange rate at the time of thetransaction. As an

approach to this,average ratesare usedfor the  
accounting period unless it is large single transactions
or the exchange rate have varied so much that the 
approach does not give a true picture.
 (iii) All resulting exchange differences are  
recognised in other comprehensive income and  
specified separately.
 Transactions in foreign currency are translated  
to the functional currency at the current exchange rate 
at the transaction date. 

TAXES

The tax expense in the income statement comp- 
rises both payable taxes for the period and changes  
in deferred tax/deferred tax asset. Deferred tax/
deferred tax asset is calculated at relevant tax rate. 
Deferred tax asset is calculated based on the  
temporary differences existing between accounting 
and tax values at the end of the accounting year and 
carry forward losses for tax purposes at year-end 
which based on best estimate are expected to be  
used against future earnings. The Danish ship  
owning companies are subject to the Danish tonnage 
tax regime.

OPTIONS FOR EMPLOYEES

When granting options to the employees a valuation 
of the options is performed at grant date. Calculated 
amount is expensed as wages over the term, set off 
against equity.

PENSIONS

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under 
which the group pays fixed contributions to an insur-
ance company. The group has no legal or constructive 
obligations once the contributions have been paid.  
The contributions are recognised as wage costs.  
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not  
a defined contribution plan. Typically defined benefit 
plans define an amount of pension benefit that an  
employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent 
on one or more factors such as age, years of service 
and compensation. The liability recognised in the 
balance sheet in respect of defined benefit plans is the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the 
balance sheet date.

NEW STANDARDS IFRS 16

IFRS 16Lease Agreements, effective January1, 2019
 IFRS 16 willcause some leases to end upin the  
balance sheet. Fjord Line is stillundergoing an
assessment of which assetsthis will apply and how 
significantit will be for thebalancesheetand this
process is not completed, but Fjord Linedoes not  
expect anymaterialeffects of this standard.
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«By sea to Denmark  
– the best altenative for the whole family!»

During late summer of 2018, we invited the Bækkevold family from Vestfold, Norway onboard and set sail  
for Denmark. The mission was to collect travel stories and content from Denmark to be used during  

autumn 2018 but not the least for next years peak-season marketing.  
The trips went to Skallerup Seaside Resort, to Aalborg, Legoland and Lalandia. 

The result was heaps of good raw material that we, soon one year later, still are utilizing on our marketing.  
We are of that opinion that the use of «real» people and not mannequins, lends an extra dimension  

of quality and genuine to our different travel offers. 

Therefore, in 2019 we are continuing this effort of producing heartfelt travel stories with a genuine family playing 
the leading role – the family that was so happy to buy our Fjord Line vehicle «MS Sommerlykke».

B
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Note 1 Intangible assets - group

(Figures in the table in TNOK)

Intangible assets 
in progress WEB-project

Concept 
development and 

market projects

Other 
intangible 

assets

TOTAL 
(exclusive of 
deferred tax 

asset)

Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 0 39 472 902 1 903 42 276
Completed projects 2018 0 0 0 0 0
Addition 2018 33 810 6 472 0 0 40 282
Disposal 2018 0 0 0 0 0
Acquisition cost 31.12.2018 33 810 45 944 902 1 903 82 559

Accumulated write-down  31.12.2017 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2017 0 4 498 792 1 196 6 486
Book value 31.12.2017 0 34 974 109 707 35 791
Accumulated write-down 31.12.2018 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2018 0 9 703 889 1 408 12 000
Book value 31.12.2018 33 810 36 241 12 495 70 557

Depreciation intangible assets in the year 0 5 206 97 211 5 514
Write-down intangible assets in the year 0 0 0 0 0
Total depreciation and write-down 2018 0 5 206 97 211 5 514

Intangible assets cost relates mainly to the development of our new ERP systemt Dynanmics 365, phase two. Termination 31.03.2019.

The new WEB-projects in 2018 are New front-end booking system. The system is developed to give our customers a simplified and user friendly digital
bookingsolution. The system was launched in 2018. Another new Web project is the new ERP system Dynamics 365. The system was put in to use in 2018
and includes phase 1 in the project. Phase 2 of the ERP system was in 2018 under development and is included as a intangible asset. The deprecation period 
here is 10 years. The remaining WEB projects refer to development costs related to development of WEB-pages and WEB-platform including new graphic
profile and link to the booking system. The deprecation period here is 3-5 years.

Other intangible assets comprise among other things development of keycard system that is installed onboard the ships MS Bergensfjord and MS Stavangerfjord. 
Depreciation period is 5-10 years.

Note 1 Intangible assets - group

(Figures in the table in TNOK)

Intangible assets 
in progress WEB-project

Concept 
development and 

market projects

Other 
intangible 

assets

TOTAL 
(exclusive of 
deferred tax 

asset)

Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 0 39 472 902 1 903 42 276
Completed projects 2018 0 0 0 0 0
Addition 2018 33 810 6 472 0 0 40 282
Disposal 2018 0 0 0 0 0
Acquisition cost 31.12.2018 33 810 45 944 902 1 903 82 559

Accumulated write-down  31.12.2017 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2017 0 4 498 792 1 196 6 486
Book value 31.12.2017 0 34 974 109 707 35 791
Accumulated write-down 31.12.2018 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2018 0 9 703 889 1 408 12 000
Book value 31.12.2018 33 810 36 241 12 495 70 557

Depreciation intangible assets in the year 0 5 206 97 211 5 514
Write-down intangible assets in the year 0 0 0 0 0
Total depreciation and write-down 2018 0 5 206 97 211 5 514

Intangible assets cost relates mainly to the development of our new ERP systemt Dynanmics 365, phase two. Termination 31.03.2019.

The new WEB-projects in 2018 are New front-end booking system. The system is developed to give our customers a simplified and user friendly digital
bookingsolution. The system was launched in 2018. Another new Web project is the new ERP system Dynamics 365. The system was put in to use in 2018
and includes phase 1 in the project. Phase 2 of the ERP system was in 2018 under development and is included as a intangible asset. The deprecation period 
here is 10 years. The remaining WEB projects refer to development costs related to development of WEB-pages and WEB-platform including new graphic
profile and link to the booking system. The deprecation period here is 3-5 years.

Other intangible assets comprise among other things development of keycard system that is installed onboard the ships MS Bergensfjord and MS Stavangerfjord. 
Depreciation period is 5-10 years.

Notes
FJORD LINE AS GROUP

Note 1 ⁄⁄ Intangible assets – Group
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Note 2  Property, plant and equipment - group

(Figures in the table in TNOK)

Figures for 2018 below

Property, plant and equipment (figures in TNOK) Prepaid ships
Buildings, plant 

etc.

Spare parts, 
operating 
movables, 

reconstruction 
premises etc.

Ships in 
progress

Ships, incl. 
periodical 

maintenance, 
furnishing etc. 

Total 
property, 
plant and 

equipment

Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 0 79 763 0 80 158 3 708 205 3 868 126
Addition 2018 183 636 1 967 337 137 022 123 102 446 064
Disposal 2018 0 0 0 0 -30 651 -30 651
Translation differences 0 -318 0 0 18 870 18 552
Acquisition cost 31.12.2018 183 636 81 412 337 217 180 3 819 525 4 302 090

Accumulated write-down  31.12.2017 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2017 0 33 846 0 0 878 831 912 677
Book value 31.12.2017 0 45 917 0 80 158 2 829 374 2 955 449
Accumulated write-down 31.12.2018 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2018 0 29 555 90 0 969 916 999 561
Book value 31.12.2018 183 636 51 857 247 217 180 2 849 609 3 302 529

Depreciation property, plant and equipment in the year 0 5 806 90 0 200 161 206 057
Write-down property, plant and equipent in the year 0 0 0 0 0 0

Depreciation period (completed operating assets) 5 - 10 years 3 - 5 years
 See description 

below 
Depreciation plan Linear Linear Linear

Grant not recognised through profit or loss per 31.12.2018 is TNOK 139 290 (TNOK 147 757 per 31.12.2017). 
The grants are mainly connected to the ships MS Stavangerfjord and MS Bergensfjord.
Grant not recognised through profit or loss is recognised as a reduction of the acquisition cost per 31.12.
The grant is accrued/recognised in line with the deprectiation profiles of the related ships and classified as reduction of depreciations.

Note 2  Property, plant and equipment - group

(Figures in the table in TNOK)

Figures for 2018 below

Property, plant and equipment (figures in TNOK) Prepaid ships
Buildings, plant 

etc.

Spare parts, 
operating 
movables, 

reconstruction 
premises etc.

Ships in 
progress

Ships, incl. 
periodical 

maintenance, 
furnishing etc. 

Total 
property, 
plant and 

equipment

Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 0 79 763 0 80 158 3 708 205 3 868 126
Addition 2018 183 636 1 967 337 137 022 123 102 446 064
Disposal 2018 0 0 0 0 -30 651 -30 651
Translation differences 0 -318 0 0 18 870 18 552
Acquisition cost 31.12.2018 183 636 81 412 337 217 180 3 819 525 4 302 090

Accumulated write-down  31.12.2017 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2017 0 33 846 0 0 878 831 912 677
Book value 31.12.2017 0 45 917 0 80 158 2 829 374 2 955 449
Accumulated write-down 31.12.2018 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2018 0 29 555 90 0 969 916 999 561
Book value 31.12.2018 183 636 51 857 247 217 180 2 849 609 3 302 529

Depreciation property, plant and equipment in the year 0 5 806 90 0 200 161 206 057
Write-down property, plant and equipent in the year 0 0 0 0 0 0

Depreciation period (completed operating assets) 5 - 10 years 3 - 5 years
 See description 

below 
Depreciation plan Linear Linear Linear

Grant not recognised through profit or loss per 31.12.2018 is TNOK 139 290 (TNOK 147 757 per 31.12.2017). 
The grants are mainly connected to the ships MS Stavangerfjord and MS Bergensfjord.
Grant not recognised through profit or loss is recognised as a reduction of the acquisition cost per 31.12.
The grant is accrued/recognised in line with the deprectiation profiles of the related ships and classified as reduction of depreciations.

Depreciation and book value of the ships per 31.12.2018
The Fjord Line group has 4 ships in the business at the reporting date; 
 1) "MS Oslofjord" (formerly MS Bergensfjord). This ship was under reconstruction in 2014 and has sailed in the route Sandefjord-Strømstad since 20 June 2014 .
 2) "HSC Fjord Cat" 
 3) "MS Stavangerfjord". This ship was delivered in July 2013.
 4) "MS Bergensfjord". This ship was delivered in February 2014.

MS Oslofjord:
In connection with Fjord Line starting up the sailing of a new route between Sandefjord and Strømstad in June 2014 MS Oslofjord was subject to a 
comprehensive reconstruction at the yard STX Raumo (Finland) in 2013/2014.  Approx. 300 mill NOK was invested in the reconstruction of the ship. 
Carrying value for the ship including periodical maintenance is TNOK 454 541.

Both the ship and ship furnishing are depreciated linearly over 15 years, with estimated salvage value 20 MNOK per June 2029. 
Ship furnishing is depreciated over 1 - 5 years. Periodical maintenance /docking is depreciated over 1 - 10 years.

HSC Fjord Cat:
The ship itself is depreciated linearly over 15 years. Remaining depreciation period per 31.12.2018 is 4 years. 
Carrying value for the ship including periodical maintenance is TNOK 92 097 pr 31.12.2018.

Ship furnishing is depreciated over 3 years. Periodical maintenance/docking is depreciated linearly over 1 - 20 years.

MS Stavangerfjord
MS Stavangerfjord is depreciated linearly over 35 years, with salvage value 50 MNOK. Remaining depreciation period per 31.12.2018 is 29,5 years. 
Carrying value for the ship including periodical maintenance is TNOK 1 142 484 pr 31.12.2018.

Ship furnishing is depreciated over 5 - 20 years. Periodical maintenance/docking is depreciated linearly over 1 - 10 years. 

MS Bergensfjord
The ship itself is depreciated linearly over 35 years, with salvage value 50 MNOK. Remaining depreciation period per 31.12.2018 is approx. 30 years. 
Carrying value for the ship including periodical maintenance is TNOK 1 222 489 pr 31.12.2018.

Periodical maintenance/docking and furnishing are depreciated linearly over 5 - 15 years.

Impairment test related to ships
In the case of the 4 ships stated above, impairment tests have been carried out, and the conclusion was that it was not necessary to write down any of the ships.
This is further substantiated by collected tariffs, which also show that there is no need for any write-downs. 

Note 3 Leasing expenses and transactions with related parties - group

Expensed lease of operating assets not recognised in the balance sheet (operational lease)

(Figures in TNOK)

Operating assets/lease
Expensed lease 

2018
Expensed lease 

2017
Lease machinery and operating movables 21 030 19 077
lease premises and similar *) 17 268 17 103

*) Leasing cost premises etc.: For 2018 leasing cost of TNOK 1.661 has been expensed to company controlled by owners (TNOK 2.008 in 2017). 
The leasing conditions are market conditions.

Note 4 Financial items  - group

(Figures in TNOK)

Other financial income and other financial expenses comprise the following:

Other financial income 2017 2017
Foreign exchange gains, intergroup receivables 108 245 131 768
Other foreign exchange  gains 9 776 6 673
Other financial income 65 78
Total 118 086 138 519

Other financial expenses 2017 2017
Foreign exchange loss, including loan in Euro/DKK 108 767 171 545
Other financial expenses 17 514 204
Total 126 281 171 749

Foreign exchange gains/foreigh exchange loss intergroup receivables
Fjord Line AS has non-current interest bearing receivables on the Danish subsidiaries amounting to a total of TNOK 1.976.823 per 31.12.2018 (TNOK 1.788.977 per 31.12.2017)
This has been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.
The receivables are denominated in DKK. Foreign exchange gain on these receivables was TNOK 108 245 in 2018 (Foreign exchange loss TNOK 131.768 in 2017).
A specific installment plan for the loans the subsidiaries have to their parent company has not been established, however, the subsidiaries will use free liquidity for repayment.  
Installment payments have been made both in 2017 and 2018.

Note 2  Property, plant and equipment - group

(Figures in the table in TNOK)

Figures for 2018 below

Property, plant and equipment (figures in TNOK) Prepaid ships
Buildings, plant 

etc.

Spare parts, 
operating 
movables, 

reconstruction 
premises etc.

Ships in 
progress

Ships, incl. 
periodical 

maintenance, 
furnishing etc. 

Total 
property, 
plant and 

equipment

Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 0 79 763 0 80 158 3 708 205 3 868 126
Addition 2018 183 636 1 967 337 137 022 123 102 446 064
Disposal 2018 0 0 0 0 -30 651 -30 651
Translation differences 0 -318 0 0 18 870 18 552
Acquisition cost 31.12.2018 183 636 81 412 337 217 180 3 819 525 4 302 090

Accumulated write-down  31.12.2017 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2017 0 33 846 0 0 878 831 912 677
Book value 31.12.2017 0 45 917 0 80 158 2 829 374 2 955 449
Accumulated write-down 31.12.2018 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2018 0 29 555 90 0 969 916 999 561
Book value 31.12.2018 183 636 51 857 247 217 180 2 849 609 3 302 529

Depreciation property, plant and equipment in the year 0 5 806 90 0 200 161 206 057
Write-down property, plant and equipent in the year 0 0 0 0 0 0

Depreciation period (completed operating assets) 5 - 10 years 3 - 5 years
 See description 

below 
Depreciation plan Linear Linear Linear

Grant not recognised through profit or loss per 31.12.2018 is TNOK 139 290 (TNOK 147 757 per 31.12.2017). 
The grants are mainly connected to the ships MS Stavangerfjord and MS Bergensfjord.
Grant not recognised through profit or loss is recognised as a reduction of the acquisition cost per 31.12.
The grant is accrued/recognised in line with the deprectiation profiles of the related ships and classified as reduction of depreciations.

Note 2  Property, plant and equipment - group

(Figures in the table in TNOK)

Figures for 2018 below

Property, plant and equipment (figures in TNOK) Prepaid ships
Buildings, plant 

etc.

Spare parts, 
operating 
movables, 

reconstruction 
premises etc.

Ships in 
progress

Ships, incl. 
periodical 

maintenance, 
furnishing etc. 

Total 
property, 
plant and 

equipment

Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 0 79 763 0 80 158 3 708 205 3 868 126
Addition 2018 183 636 1 967 337 137 022 123 102 446 064
Disposal 2018 0 0 0 0 -30 651 -30 651
Translation differences 0 -318 0 0 18 870 18 552
Acquisition cost 31.12.2018 183 636 81 412 337 217 180 3 819 525 4 302 090

Accumulated write-down  31.12.2017 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2017 0 33 846 0 0 878 831 912 677
Book value 31.12.2017 0 45 917 0 80 158 2 829 374 2 955 449
Accumulated write-down 31.12.2018 0 0 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2018 0 29 555 90 0 969 916 999 561
Book value 31.12.2018 183 636 51 857 247 217 180 2 849 609 3 302 529

Depreciation property, plant and equipment in the year 0 5 806 90 0 200 161 206 057
Write-down property, plant and equipent in the year 0 0 0 0 0 0

Depreciation period (completed operating assets) 5 - 10 years 3 - 5 years
 See description 

below 
Depreciation plan Linear Linear Linear

Grant not recognised through profit or loss per 31.12.2018 is TNOK 139 290 (TNOK 147 757 per 31.12.2017). 
The grants are mainly connected to the ships MS Stavangerfjord and MS Bergensfjord.
Grant not recognised through profit or loss is recognised as a reduction of the acquisition cost per 31.12.
The grant is accrued/recognised in line with the deprectiation profiles of the related ships and classified as reduction of depreciations.

Note 2 ⁄⁄ Property, plant and equipment  – Group 
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Depreciation and book value of the ships per 31.12.2018
The Fjord Line group has 4 ships in the business at the reporting date; 
 1) "MS Oslofjord" (formerly MS Bergensfjord). This ship was under reconstruction in 2014 and has sailed in the route Sandefjord-Strømstad since 20 June 2014 .
 2) "HSC Fjord Cat" 
 3) "MS Stavangerfjord". This ship was delivered in July 2013.
 4) "MS Bergensfjord". This ship was delivered in February 2014.

MS Oslofjord:
In connection with Fjord Line starting up the sailing of a new route between Sandefjord and Strømstad in June 2014 MS Oslofjord was subject to a 
comprehensive reconstruction at the yard STX Raumo (Finland) in 2013/2014.  Approx. 300 mill NOK was invested in the reconstruction of the ship. 
Carrying value for the ship including periodical maintenance is TNOK 454 541.

Both the ship and ship furnishing are depreciated linearly over 15 years, with estimated salvage value 20 MNOK per June 2029. 
Ship furnishing is depreciated over 1 - 5 years. Periodical maintenance /docking is depreciated over 1 - 10 years.

HSC Fjord Cat:
The ship itself is depreciated linearly over 15 years. Remaining depreciation period per 31.12.2018 is 4 years. 
Carrying value for the ship including periodical maintenance is TNOK 92 097 pr 31.12.2018.

Ship furnishing is depreciated over 3 years. Periodical maintenance/docking is depreciated linearly over 1 - 20 years.

MS Stavangerfjord
MS Stavangerfjord is depreciated linearly over 35 years, with salvage value 50 MNOK. Remaining depreciation period per 31.12.2018 is 29,5 years. 
Carrying value for the ship including periodical maintenance is TNOK 1 142 484 pr 31.12.2018.

Ship furnishing is depreciated over 5 - 20 years. Periodical maintenance/docking is depreciated linearly over 1 - 10 years. 

MS Bergensfjord
The ship itself is depreciated linearly over 35 years, with salvage value 50 MNOK. Remaining depreciation period per 31.12.2018 is approx. 30 years. 
Carrying value for the ship including periodical maintenance is TNOK 1 222 489 pr 31.12.2018.

Periodical maintenance/docking and furnishing are depreciated linearly over 5 - 15 years.

Impairment test related to ships
In the case of the 4 ships stated above, impairment tests have been carried out, and the conclusion was that it was not necessary to write down any of the ships.
This is further substantiated by collected tariffs, which also show that there is no need for any write-downs. 

Note 3 Leasing expenses and transactions with related parties - group

Expensed lease of operating assets not recognised in the balance sheet (operational lease)

(Figures in TNOK)

Operating assets/lease
Expensed lease 

2018
Expensed lease 

2017
Lease machinery and operating movables 21 030 19 077
lease premises and similar *) 17 268 17 103

*) Leasing cost premises etc.: For 2018 leasing cost of TNOK 1.661 has been expensed to company controlled by owners (TNOK 2.008 in 2017). 
The leasing conditions are market conditions.

Note 4 Financial items  - group

(Figures in TNOK)

Other financial income and other financial expenses comprise the following:

Other financial income 2017 2017
Foreign exchange gains, intergroup receivables 108 245 131 768
Other foreign exchange  gains 9 776 6 673
Other financial income 65 78
Total 118 086 138 519

Other financial expenses 2017 2017
Foreign exchange loss, including loan in Euro/DKK 108 767 171 545
Other financial expenses 17 514 204
Total 126 281 171 749

Foreign exchange gains/foreigh exchange loss intergroup receivables
Fjord Line AS has non-current interest bearing receivables on the Danish subsidiaries amounting to a total of TNOK 1.976.823 per 31.12.2018 (TNOK 1.788.977 per 31.12.2017)
This has been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.
The receivables are denominated in DKK. Foreign exchange gain on these receivables was TNOK 108 245 in 2018 (Foreign exchange loss TNOK 131.768 in 2017).
A specific installment plan for the loans the subsidiaries have to their parent company has not been established, however, the subsidiaries will use free liquidity for repayment.  
Installment payments have been made both in 2017 and 2018.

Depreciation and book value of the ships per 31.12.2018
The Fjord Line group has 4 ships in the business at the reporting date; 
 1) "MS Oslofjord" (formerly MS Bergensfjord). This ship was under reconstruction in 2014 and has sailed in the route Sandefjord-Strømstad since 20 June 2014 .
 2) "HSC Fjord Cat" 
 3) "MS Stavangerfjord". This ship was delivered in July 2013.
 4) "MS Bergensfjord". This ship was delivered in February 2014.

MS Oslofjord:
In connection with Fjord Line starting up the sailing of a new route between Sandefjord and Strømstad in June 2014 MS Oslofjord was subject to a 
comprehensive reconstruction at the yard STX Raumo (Finland) in 2013/2014.  Approx. 300 mill NOK was invested in the reconstruction of the ship. 
Carrying value for the ship including periodical maintenance is TNOK 454 541.

Both the ship and ship furnishing are depreciated linearly over 15 years, with estimated salvage value 20 MNOK per June 2029. 
Ship furnishing is depreciated over 1 - 5 years. Periodical maintenance /docking is depreciated over 1 - 10 years.

HSC Fjord Cat:
The ship itself is depreciated linearly over 15 years. Remaining depreciation period per 31.12.2018 is 4 years. 
Carrying value for the ship including periodical maintenance is TNOK 92 097 pr 31.12.2018.

Ship furnishing is depreciated over 3 years. Periodical maintenance/docking is depreciated linearly over 1 - 20 years.

MS Stavangerfjord
MS Stavangerfjord is depreciated linearly over 35 years, with salvage value 50 MNOK. Remaining depreciation period per 31.12.2018 is 29,5 years. 
Carrying value for the ship including periodical maintenance is TNOK 1 142 484 pr 31.12.2018.

Ship furnishing is depreciated over 5 - 20 years. Periodical maintenance/docking is depreciated linearly over 1 - 10 years. 

MS Bergensfjord
The ship itself is depreciated linearly over 35 years, with salvage value 50 MNOK. Remaining depreciation period per 31.12.2018 is approx. 30 years. 
Carrying value for the ship including periodical maintenance is TNOK 1 222 489 pr 31.12.2018.

Periodical maintenance/docking and furnishing are depreciated linearly over 5 - 15 years.

Impairment test related to ships
In the case of the 4 ships stated above, impairment tests have been carried out, and the conclusion was that it was not necessary to write down any of the ships.
This is further substantiated by collected tariffs, which also show that there is no need for any write-downs. 

Note 3 Leasing expenses and transactions with related parties - group

Expensed lease of operating assets not recognised in the balance sheet (operational lease)

(Figures in TNOK)

Operating assets/lease
Expensed lease 

2018
Expensed lease 

2017
Lease machinery and operating movables 21 030 19 077
lease premises and similar *) 17 268 17 103

*) Leasing cost premises etc.: For 2018 leasing cost of TNOK 1.661 has been expensed to company controlled by owners (TNOK 2.008 in 2017). 
The leasing conditions are market conditions.

Note 4 Financial items  - group

(Figures in TNOK)

Other financial income and other financial expenses comprise the following:

Other financial income 2017 2017
Foreign exchange gains, intergroup receivables 108 245 131 768
Other foreign exchange  gains 9 776 6 673
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This has been eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.
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A specific installment plan for the loans the subsidiaries have to their parent company has not been established, however, the subsidiaries will use free liquidity for repayment.  
Installment payments have been made both in 2017 and 2018.

Depreciation and book value of the ships per 31.12.2018
The Fjord Line group has 4 ships in the business at the reporting date; 
 1) "MS Oslofjord" (formerly MS Bergensfjord). This ship was under reconstruction in 2014 and has sailed in the route Sandefjord-Strømstad since 20 June 2014 .
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 3) "MS Stavangerfjord". This ship was delivered in July 2013.
 4) "MS Bergensfjord". This ship was delivered in February 2014.

MS Oslofjord:
In connection with Fjord Line starting up the sailing of a new route between Sandefjord and Strømstad in June 2014 MS Oslofjord was subject to a 
comprehensive reconstruction at the yard STX Raumo (Finland) in 2013/2014.  Approx. 300 mill NOK was invested in the reconstruction of the ship. 
Carrying value for the ship including periodical maintenance is TNOK 454 541.

Both the ship and ship furnishing are depreciated linearly over 15 years, with estimated salvage value 20 MNOK per June 2029. 
Ship furnishing is depreciated over 1 - 5 years. Periodical maintenance /docking is depreciated over 1 - 10 years.
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Periodical maintenance/docking and furnishing are depreciated linearly over 5 - 15 years.

Impairment test related to ships
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Note 5 Investments in associated companies and other investments - group

Visit Sørlandet AS
In 2010 Fjord Line AS acquired shares amounting to TNOK 50 in Visit Sørlandet AS. After 2010 there has been neither additions nor disposals.
The investment is recognised in accordance with the cost method. There has not been any write-down of the holding of shares neither in 2018 nor in 2017.

Visit Telemark AS
Fjord Line AS invested TNOK 30 in Visit Telemark AS in 2016. The investment is recognised in accordance with the cost method. No write-down has been made.

Green LNG A/S - associated company
In 2017 Fjord Line AS invested in Green LNG A/S, total amount invested was TNOK 250.
The investment is recognised in accordance with the cost method. No write-down has been made.

Hirtshals LNG A/S - associated company
In 2015  Fjord Line group sold 50% of the shares in Hirtshals LNG A/S to Skangass AS.
Prior to this sale Hirtshals LNG A/S was a 100% owned subsidiary of Fjord Line Danmark A/S.
At the date of sale the balance sheet of Hirtshals LNG A/S consisted mainly of an LNG-tank. The compensation was determined based on a 
value of the plant of 25 MNOK. 

For 2018 the income statement and the balance sheet figures are related to the investment
in Hirtshals LNG A/S (assocoated company) as follows: 

Book value 31.12.2017: 12 245 TNOK
Share of result 2018 (50%) -507 TNOK
Foreign exchange translation differences -772 TNOK
Book value 31.12.2018 10 966 TNOK

The share of result stated above is classified as income from investment associated company in the income statement for 2018.

50% share of booked equity in Hirtshals LNG A/S per 31.12.2018: 11 394 TNOK
Added values assigned to the investment -428 TNOK
Book value of investment in associated company 31.12.2018 10 966 TNOK

Note 6 Inventories and fuel expenses - group

(Figures in TNOK)

2018 2017
Fuel 3 384 3 214
Goods for resale *) 16 263 19 423
Other items, including key-cards etc. 3 186 3 380
Total inventories at acquisition cost 31.12. 22 833 26 017
Write-down 31.12. 0 0
Total book value of inventories 31.12. 22 833 26 017

No write-down has been made of the inventory per year-end.

Expenses related to fuel are classified as other operating expenses in the income statement.
This amounts to TNOK 165.314 in 2018 (TNOK 153.199 for 2017).

Note 7 Trade receivables - group

(Figures in TNOK)

2018 2017
Trade receivables at nominal value 31.12. 45 873 41 986
Provisions for bad debts 31.12. -2 197 -2 198
Trade receivables 31.12. 43 676 39 788

Change provisions for bad debts in the year 0 1 497
Actual bad debts in the year 639 211
Received on receivables previously written off 0 0
Loss on bad debts 639 1 708

Bad debts are included in the item  "other operating expenses" in the income statement.

Note 5 Investments in associated companies and other investments - group

Visit Sørlandet AS
In 2010 Fjord Line AS acquired shares amounting to TNOK 50 in Visit Sørlandet AS. After 2010 there has been neither additions nor disposals.
The investment is recognised in accordance with the cost method. There has not been any write-down of the holding of shares neither in 2018 nor in 2017.
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Bad debts are included in the item  "other operating expenses" in the income statement.

Note 5 ⁄⁄Investments in associated companies and other investments – Group 

Note 6 ⁄⁄ Inventories and fuel expenses – Group 
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Note 8 Other current receivables - group

(Figures in TNOK)

Other receivables 2018 2017
Refund from  public authorities, including vat receivable 8 699 4 144
Prepaid expenses, incl. insurance ships 20 984 11 998
Grants, not received (Danish subsidiary) 0 0
Other receivables 31 125 15 229
Other current receivables 31.12. 60 808 31 371

VAT balance due to the company
Per 31.12.2018 the company has recognised TNOK 8.699 in the balance sheet which relates to VAT due to the company (TNOK 3.708 per 31.12.2017).

Note 9 Restricted funds - group

(Figures in TNOK)
2018 2017

Restricted tax deduction funds per 31.12.: 3 451 4 287
The tax deduction funds are deposited on separate bank accounts. 

Note 10 Changes in equity - group 

(Figures in TNOK)

Share capital Own Shares
Share premium 

account
Retained 
earnings Total equity

Equity 01.01.2017 519 107 -10 178 227 126 930 25 473 0 849 727

Net income 2017 0 0 0 0 78 213 0 78 213
Other comprehensive income 2017 0 0 0 109 186 0 0 109 186

Equity 31.12.2017 519 107 -10 178 227 236 116 103 686 0 1 037 125

Net income 2018 0 0 0 0 67 881 0 67 881
Other comprehensive income 2018 0 0 0 -45 603 0 0 -45 603
Sale of own shares 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Equity 31.12.2018 519 107 -9 178 227 190 513 171 567 0 1 059 403

Note 11 Share capital and shareholders' information - group

The share capital is NOK 519.107.350 per 31.12.2018, and consists of 207.642.940 shares each NOK 2,50. All shares have equal rights. 

The major shareholders per 31.12.2018.
Owner share

Ferd AS 44.6%
Kontrari AS 34.8%
Kontrazi AS 17.4%
Arne Teigen 1.1%
Moly AS 0.8%
Others, including own shares *) 1.3%
Total 100.0%

*) Fjord Line AS has a total of 664 own shares per 31.12.2018.

The major shareholders per 31.12.2017.
Owner share

Ferd AS 44.6%
Kontrari AS 34.8%
Kontrazi AS 17.4%
Arne Teigen 1.1%
Moly AS 0.8%
Other, including own shares *) 1.3%
Total 100.0%

*) Per 31.12.2017 Fjord Line AS had a total of 764 own shares.

 Other equity, not 
recognised in 

income statement
Non-controlling 

interests

Note 7 ⁄⁄ Trade receivables – Group 

Note 8 ⁄⁄ Other current receivables – Group 

Note 5 Investments in associated companies and other investments - group

Visit Sørlandet AS
In 2010 Fjord Line AS acquired shares amounting to TNOK 50 in Visit Sørlandet AS. After 2010 there has been neither additions nor disposals.
The investment is recognised in accordance with the cost method. There has not been any write-down of the holding of shares neither in 2018 nor in 2017.

Visit Telemark AS
Fjord Line AS invested TNOK 30 in Visit Telemark AS in 2016. The investment is recognised in accordance with the cost method. No write-down has been made.

Green LNG A/S - associated company
In 2017 Fjord Line AS invested in Green LNG A/S, total amount invested was TNOK 250.
The investment is recognised in accordance with the cost method. No write-down has been made.

Hirtshals LNG A/S - associated company
In 2015  Fjord Line group sold 50% of the shares in Hirtshals LNG A/S to Skangass AS.
Prior to this sale Hirtshals LNG A/S was a 100% owned subsidiary of Fjord Line Danmark A/S.
At the date of sale the balance sheet of Hirtshals LNG A/S consisted mainly of an LNG-tank. The compensation was determined based on a 
value of the plant of 25 MNOK. 

For 2018 the income statement and the balance sheet figures are related to the investment
in Hirtshals LNG A/S (assocoated company) as follows: 

Book value 31.12.2017: 12 245 TNOK
Share of result 2018 (50%) -507 TNOK
Foreign exchange translation differences -772 TNOK
Book value 31.12.2018 10 966 TNOK

The share of result stated above is classified as income from investment associated company in the income statement for 2018.

50% share of booked equity in Hirtshals LNG A/S per 31.12.2018: 11 394 TNOK
Added values assigned to the investment -428 TNOK
Book value of investment in associated company 31.12.2018 10 966 TNOK

Note 6 Inventories and fuel expenses - group

(Figures in TNOK)

2018 2017
Fuel 3 384 3 214
Goods for resale *) 16 263 19 423
Other items, including key-cards etc. 3 186 3 380
Total inventories at acquisition cost 31.12. 22 833 26 017
Write-down 31.12. 0 0
Total book value of inventories 31.12. 22 833 26 017

No write-down has been made of the inventory per year-end.

Expenses related to fuel are classified as other operating expenses in the income statement.
This amounts to TNOK 165.314 in 2018 (TNOK 153.199 for 2017).

Note 7 Trade receivables - group

(Figures in TNOK)

2018 2017
Trade receivables at nominal value 31.12. 45 873 41 986
Provisions for bad debts 31.12. -2 197 -2 198
Trade receivables 31.12. 43 676 39 788

Change provisions for bad debts in the year 0 1 497
Actual bad debts in the year 639 211
Received on receivables previously written off 0 0
Loss on bad debts 639 1 708

Bad debts are included in the item  "other operating expenses" in the income statement.

Note 5 Investments in associated companies and other investments - group

Visit Sørlandet AS
In 2010 Fjord Line AS acquired shares amounting to TNOK 50 in Visit Sørlandet AS. After 2010 there has been neither additions nor disposals.
The investment is recognised in accordance with the cost method. There has not been any write-down of the holding of shares neither in 2018 nor in 2017.

Visit Telemark AS
Fjord Line AS invested TNOK 30 in Visit Telemark AS in 2016. The investment is recognised in accordance with the cost method. No write-down has been made.

Green LNG A/S - associated company
In 2017 Fjord Line AS invested in Green LNG A/S, total amount invested was TNOK 250.
The investment is recognised in accordance with the cost method. No write-down has been made.

Hirtshals LNG A/S - associated company
In 2015  Fjord Line group sold 50% of the shares in Hirtshals LNG A/S to Skangass AS.
Prior to this sale Hirtshals LNG A/S was a 100% owned subsidiary of Fjord Line Danmark A/S.
At the date of sale the balance sheet of Hirtshals LNG A/S consisted mainly of an LNG-tank. The compensation was determined based on a 
value of the plant of 25 MNOK. 

For 2018 the income statement and the balance sheet figures are related to the investment
in Hirtshals LNG A/S (assocoated company) as follows: 

Book value 31.12.2017: 12 245 TNOK
Share of result 2018 (50%) -507 TNOK
Foreign exchange translation differences -772 TNOK
Book value 31.12.2018 10 966 TNOK

The share of result stated above is classified as income from investment associated company in the income statement for 2018.

50% share of booked equity in Hirtshals LNG A/S per 31.12.2018: 11 394 TNOK
Added values assigned to the investment -428 TNOK
Book value of investment in associated company 31.12.2018 10 966 TNOK

Note 6 Inventories and fuel expenses - group

(Figures in TNOK)

2018 2017
Fuel 3 384 3 214
Goods for resale *) 16 263 19 423
Other items, including key-cards etc. 3 186 3 380
Total inventories at acquisition cost 31.12. 22 833 26 017
Write-down 31.12. 0 0
Total book value of inventories 31.12. 22 833 26 017

No write-down has been made of the inventory per year-end.

Expenses related to fuel are classified as other operating expenses in the income statement.
This amounts to TNOK 165.314 in 2018 (TNOK 153.199 for 2017).

Note 7 Trade receivables - group

(Figures in TNOK)

2018 2017
Trade receivables at nominal value 31.12. 45 873 41 986
Provisions for bad debts 31.12. -2 197 -2 198
Trade receivables 31.12. 43 676 39 788

Change provisions for bad debts in the year 0 1 497
Actual bad debts in the year 639 211
Received on receivables previously written off 0 0
Loss on bad debts 639 1 708

Bad debts are included in the item  "other operating expenses" in the income statement.
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Note 8 Other current receivables - group

(Figures in TNOK)

Other receivables 2018 2017
Refund from  public authorities, including vat receivable 8 699 4 144
Prepaid expenses, incl. insurance ships 20 984 11 998
Grants, not received (Danish subsidiary) 0 0
Other receivables 31 125 15 229
Other current receivables 31.12. 60 808 31 371

VAT balance due to the company
Per 31.12.2018 the company has recognised TNOK 8.699 in the balance sheet which relates to VAT due to the company (TNOK 3.708 per 31.12.2017).

Note 9 Restricted funds - group

(Figures in TNOK)
2018 2017

Restricted tax deduction funds per 31.12.: 3 451 4 287
The tax deduction funds are deposited on separate bank accounts. 

Note 10 Changes in equity - group 

(Figures in TNOK)

Share capital Own Shares
Share premium 

account
Retained 
earnings Total equity

Equity 01.01.2017 519 107 -10 178 227 126 930 25 473 0 849 727

Net income 2017 0 0 0 0 78 213 0 78 213
Other comprehensive income 2017 0 0 0 109 186 0 0 109 186

Equity 31.12.2017 519 107 -10 178 227 236 116 103 686 0 1 037 125

Net income 2018 0 0 0 0 67 881 0 67 881
Other comprehensive income 2018 0 0 0 -45 603 0 0 -45 603
Sale of own shares 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Equity 31.12.2018 519 107 -9 178 227 190 513 171 567 0 1 059 403

Note 11 Share capital and shareholders' information - group

The share capital is NOK 519.107.350 per 31.12.2018, and consists of 207.642.940 shares each NOK 2,50. All shares have equal rights. 

The major shareholders per 31.12.2018.
Owner share

Ferd AS 44.6%
Kontrari AS 34.8%
Kontrazi AS 17.4%
Arne Teigen 1.1%
Moly AS 0.8%
Others, including own shares *) 1.3%
Total 100.0%

*) Fjord Line AS has a total of 664 own shares per 31.12.2018.

The major shareholders per 31.12.2017.
Owner share

Ferd AS 44.6%
Kontrari AS 34.8%
Kontrazi AS 17.4%
Arne Teigen 1.1%
Moly AS 0.8%
Other, including own shares *) 1.3%
Total 100.0%

*) Per 31.12.2017 Fjord Line AS had a total of 764 own shares.

 Other equity, not 
recognised in 

income statement
Non-controlling 

interests

Note 8 Other current receivables - group

(Figures in TNOK)

Other receivables 2018 2017
Refund from  public authorities, including vat receivable 8 699 4 144
Prepaid expenses, incl. insurance ships 20 984 11 998
Grants, not received (Danish subsidiary) 0 0
Other receivables 31 125 15 229
Other current receivables 31.12. 60 808 31 371

VAT balance due to the company
Per 31.12.2018 the company has recognised TNOK 8.699 in the balance sheet which relates to VAT due to the company (TNOK 3.708 per 31.12.2017).

Note 9 Restricted funds - group

(Figures in TNOK)
2018 2017

Restricted tax deduction funds per 31.12.: 3 451 4 287
The tax deduction funds are deposited on separate bank accounts. 

Note 10 Changes in equity - group 

(Figures in TNOK)

Share capital Own Shares
Share premium 

account
Retained 
earnings Total equity

Equity 01.01.2017 519 107 -10 178 227 126 930 25 473 0 849 727

Net income 2017 0 0 0 0 78 213 0 78 213
Other comprehensive income 2017 0 0 0 109 186 0 0 109 186

Equity 31.12.2017 519 107 -10 178 227 236 116 103 686 0 1 037 125

Net income 2018 0 0 0 0 67 881 0 67 881
Other comprehensive income 2018 0 0 0 -45 603 0 0 -45 603
Sale of own shares 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Equity 31.12.2018 519 107 -9 178 227 190 513 171 567 0 1 059 403

Note 11 Share capital and shareholders' information - group

The share capital is NOK 519.107.350 per 31.12.2018, and consists of 207.642.940 shares each NOK 2,50. All shares have equal rights. 

The major shareholders per 31.12.2018.
Owner share

Ferd AS 44.6%
Kontrari AS 34.8%
Kontrazi AS 17.4%
Arne Teigen 1.1%
Moly AS 0.8%
Others, including own shares *) 1.3%
Total 100.0%

*) Fjord Line AS has a total of 664 own shares per 31.12.2018.

The major shareholders per 31.12.2017.
Owner share

Ferd AS 44.6%
Kontrari AS 34.8%
Kontrazi AS 17.4%
Arne Teigen 1.1%
Moly AS 0.8%
Other, including own shares *) 1.3%
Total 100.0%

*) Per 31.12.2017 Fjord Line AS had a total of 764 own shares.

 Other equity, not 
recognised in 

income statement
Non-controlling 

interests

Note 8 Other current receivables - group

(Figures in TNOK)

Other receivables 2018 2017
Refund from  public authorities, including vat receivable 8 699 4 144
Prepaid expenses, incl. insurance ships 20 984 11 998
Grants, not received (Danish subsidiary) 0 0
Other receivables 31 125 15 229
Other current receivables 31.12. 60 808 31 371

VAT balance due to the company
Per 31.12.2018 the company has recognised TNOK 8.699 in the balance sheet which relates to VAT due to the company (TNOK 3.708 per 31.12.2017).

Note 9 Restricted funds - group

(Figures in TNOK)
2018 2017

Restricted tax deduction funds per 31.12.: 3 451 4 287
The tax deduction funds are deposited on separate bank accounts. 

Note 10 Changes in equity - group 

(Figures in TNOK)

Share capital Own Shares
Share premium 

account
Retained 
earnings Total equity

Equity 01.01.2017 519 107 -10 178 227 126 930 25 473 0 849 727

Net income 2017 0 0 0 0 78 213 0 78 213
Other comprehensive income 2017 0 0 0 109 186 0 0 109 186

Equity 31.12.2017 519 107 -10 178 227 236 116 103 686 0 1 037 125

Net income 2018 0 0 0 0 67 881 0 67 881
Other comprehensive income 2018 0 0 0 -45 603 0 0 -45 603
Sale of own shares 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Equity 31.12.2018 519 107 -9 178 227 190 513 171 567 0 1 059 403

Note 11 Share capital and shareholders' information - group

The share capital is NOK 519.107.350 per 31.12.2018, and consists of 207.642.940 shares each NOK 2,50. All shares have equal rights. 

The major shareholders per 31.12.2018.
Owner share

Ferd AS 44.6%
Kontrari AS 34.8%
Kontrazi AS 17.4%
Arne Teigen 1.1%
Moly AS 0.8%
Others, including own shares *) 1.3%
Total 100.0%

*) Fjord Line AS has a total of 664 own shares per 31.12.2018.

The major shareholders per 31.12.2017.
Owner share

Ferd AS 44.6%
Kontrari AS 34.8%
Kontrazi AS 17.4%
Arne Teigen 1.1%
Moly AS 0.8%
Other, including own shares *) 1.3%
Total 100.0%

*) Per 31.12.2017 Fjord Line AS had a total of 764 own shares.

 Other equity, not 
recognised in 

income statement
Non-controlling 

interests

Note 9 ⁄⁄ Restricted funds – Group 

Note 10 ⁄⁄ Changes in equity – Group 

Note 11 ⁄⁄ Share capital and shareholders’ information – Group 

Note 8 Other current receivables - group

(Figures in TNOK)

Other receivables 2018 2017
Refund from  public authorities, including vat receivable 8 699 4 144
Prepaid expenses, incl. insurance ships 20 984 11 998
Grants, not received (Danish subsidiary) 0 0
Other receivables 31 125 15 229
Other current receivables 31.12. 60 808 31 371

VAT balance due to the company
Per 31.12.2018 the company has recognised TNOK 8.699 in the balance sheet which relates to VAT due to the company (TNOK 3.708 per 31.12.2017).

Note 9 Restricted funds - group

(Figures in TNOK)
2018 2017

Restricted tax deduction funds per 31.12.: 3 451 4 287
The tax deduction funds are deposited on separate bank accounts. 

Note 10 Changes in equity - group 

(Figures in TNOK)

Share capital Own Shares
Share premium 

account
Retained 
earnings Total equity

Equity 01.01.2017 519 107 -10 178 227 126 930 25 473 0 849 727

Net income 2017 0 0 0 0 78 213 0 78 213
Other comprehensive income 2017 0 0 0 109 186 0 0 109 186

Equity 31.12.2017 519 107 -10 178 227 236 116 103 686 0 1 037 125

Net income 2018 0 0 0 0 67 881 0 67 881
Other comprehensive income 2018 0 0 0 -45 603 0 0 -45 603
Sale of own shares 0 1 0 0 0 0 1

Equity 31.12.2018 519 107 -9 178 227 190 513 171 567 0 1 059 403

Note 11 Share capital and shareholders' information - group

The share capital is NOK 519.107.350 per 31.12.2018, and consists of 207.642.940 shares each NOK 2,50. All shares have equal rights. 

The major shareholders per 31.12.2018.
Owner share

Ferd AS 44.6%
Kontrari AS 34.8%
Kontrazi AS 17.4%
Arne Teigen 1.1%
Moly AS 0.8%
Others, including own shares *) 1.3%
Total 100.0%

*) Fjord Line AS has a total of 664 own shares per 31.12.2018.

The major shareholders per 31.12.2017.
Owner share

Ferd AS 44.6%
Kontrari AS 34.8%
Kontrazi AS 17.4%
Arne Teigen 1.1%
Moly AS 0.8%
Other, including own shares *) 1.3%
Total 100.0%
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 Other equity, not 
recognised in 

income statement
Non-controlling 

interests
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Note 12 ⁄⁄ Taxes – Group 
Note 12 Taxes - group 

(Figures in TNOK)

Calculation of deferred tax/deferred tax asset allocated to the Norwegian activity

Temporary differences 31.12.2017 31.12.2018 Change
Fixed assets -8 990 1 751 -10 741
Receivables -2 197 -2 197 0
Derivatives 17 916 12 582 5 334
Gain/loss account 13 477 10 782 2 695
Other differences, including accounting accruals -90 964 -88 973 -1 991
Total -70 758 -66 055 -4 703
Carry forward loss -1 194 370 -1 150 467 -43 903
Basis for deferred tax (-deferred tax asset) -1 265 128 -1 216 522 -48 606
23% (24%) of the basis -290 979 -267 635 23 345
Deferred tax (-deferred tax asset) recognised in the balance sheet -125 000 -178 000 -53 000
Deferred tax asset not recognised in the balance sheet -165 979 -89 635 76 346

Payable tax recognised in the balace sheet per 31.12.2018 connected to the Norwegian activity makes TNOK 0 (TNOK 0 per 31.12.2017).

Foreign subsidiaries
The Danish shipowning companies are under Danish law connected to tonnage tax system and have calculated taxable income based on these conditions.
Further on, the Danish subsidiaries are jointly taxed. Tax 2018 for the Danish subsidiaries is TNOK 2.058 (TNOK 1.239 in 2017)
The Danish subsidiaries received taxable grants in 2015. This was  reflected in payable tax recognised in the balance sheet, TNOK 17.480 per 31.12.2015
which was allocated to the Danish subsidiaries. 
As the grants are recognised as reduction of the ships' acquisition cost, the grant is recognised through gains/losses in line with the depreciation of the ships.
The grant is considered not to be comprised by IAS 12.  Therefore a deferred tax asset corresponding to payable tax connected to the grant was recognised 
in the balance sheet upon receipt of the grant in 2015. This deferred tax asset is being reversed over the depreciation period of the ships.  
Net book value of deferred tax asset per 31.12.2018 and 31.12.2017 relating to foreign subsidiary is listed below. 
The main element of this net amount (TNOK 17.673 per 31.12.2018) is thus connected to the mentioned grants. 

Specification of tax expense 2018 2017
Change in deferred tax asset connected to the Norwegian activity -53 000 -75 000
Payable tax connected to the Norwegian activity (partially owned subsidiary) 0 0
Payable tax connected to foreign subsidiaries -1 251 1 153
Change in deferred tax asset connected to foreign subsidiaries 594 129
Other adjustments, including foreign exchange translation differences 0 0
Tax expense -53 647 -73 718

Specification of payable tax 2018 2017
Payable tax connected to the parent company 0 0
Payable tax connected to partially owned Norwegian subsidiary 0 0
Payable tax connected to foreign subsidiaries 1 579 412
Payable tax recognised in the balance sheet  31.12. 1 579 412

Specification of deferred tax asset 2018 2017
Deferred tax asset connected to parent company*) 178 000 125 000
Deferred tax asset connected to partly owned Norwegian subsidiary 0 0
Deferred tax asset connected to foreign subsidiaries (net) 17 473 18 124
Deferred tax asset recognised in the balance sheet 31.12. 195 473 143 124

Reconciliation of tax expense for the group 2018 2017
23% (24%) of result before tax -3 274 -3 554
Change of deferred tax asset not recognised in the balance sheet connected to the Norwegian activity -76 345 -85 851
25% (27%) of not taxable income foreign subsidiaries etc. -3 003 -18 247
Impact of changed tax rate in Norway 12 165 12 651
Other permanent differences (net) including different tax rate between the countries 16 808 21 211
Tax expense -53 647 -73 718

*) Fjord Line AS has accumulated basis for deferred tax asset of TNOK 1.216.522 per 31.12.2018
This implies a deferred tax asset (22 %) of TNOK 267.635 at full capitalisation. 

The Board of Directiors following a concrete assessment of the future prospects of Fjord Line AS,                                                                                                        
under the basis of the net income from the last two years, found that it has convincing evidence                                                                                                      
that future earnings will justify a recognition of a further 53 MNOK                                                                                                     
in addition to the 125 MNOK that have already been recognized, thus the calculated deferred tax asset will be 178 MNOK.                                                                                               
                                                                                                              
We believe that this argument is sustained by the positive operating result in recent years, combined with the over budget earnings                                                                                                            
so far this year and that we see a positive development in the booking reserves before the high season.                                                                                                     
This combined with the expansion of capacity on MS Stavangerfjord and MS Bergensfjord to increase the earnings in the high season                                                                                                           
indicates that we have convincing evidence that we can at least have equivalent earnings in the years to come as shown in                                                                                                           
2018 and this has been taken into account in the assessment.                                                                                                

Note 12 Taxes - group 

(Figures in TNOK)

Calculation of deferred tax/deferred tax asset allocated to the Norwegian activity

Temporary differences 31.12.2017 31.12.2018 Change
Fixed assets -8 990 1 751 -10 741
Receivables -2 197 -2 197 0
Derivatives 17 916 12 582 5 334
Gain/loss account 13 477 10 782 2 695
Other differences, including accounting accruals -90 964 -88 973 -1 991
Total -70 758 -66 055 -4 703
Carry forward loss -1 194 370 -1 150 467 -43 903
Basis for deferred tax (-deferred tax asset) -1 265 128 -1 216 522 -48 606
23% (24%) of the basis -290 979 -267 635 23 345
Deferred tax (-deferred tax asset) recognised in the balance sheet -125 000 -178 000 -53 000
Deferred tax asset not recognised in the balance sheet -165 979 -89 635 76 346

Payable tax recognised in the balace sheet per 31.12.2018 connected to the Norwegian activity makes TNOK 0 (TNOK 0 per 31.12.2017).

Foreign subsidiaries
The Danish shipowning companies are under Danish law connected to tonnage tax system and have calculated taxable income based on these conditions.
Further on, the Danish subsidiaries are jointly taxed. Tax 2018 for the Danish subsidiaries is TNOK 2.058 (TNOK 1.239 in 2017)
The Danish subsidiaries received taxable grants in 2015. This was  reflected in payable tax recognised in the balance sheet, TNOK 17.480 per 31.12.2015
which was allocated to the Danish subsidiaries. 
As the grants are recognised as reduction of the ships' acquisition cost, the grant is recognised through gains/losses in line with the depreciation of the ships.
The grant is considered not to be comprised by IAS 12.  Therefore a deferred tax asset corresponding to payable tax connected to the grant was recognised 
in the balance sheet upon receipt of the grant in 2015. This deferred tax asset is being reversed over the depreciation period of the ships.  
Net book value of deferred tax asset per 31.12.2018 and 31.12.2017 relating to foreign subsidiary is listed below. 
The main element of this net amount (TNOK 17.673 per 31.12.2018) is thus connected to the mentioned grants. 

Specification of tax expense 2018 2017
Change in deferred tax asset connected to the Norwegian activity -53 000 -75 000
Payable tax connected to the Norwegian activity (partially owned subsidiary) 0 0
Payable tax connected to foreign subsidiaries -1 251 1 153
Change in deferred tax asset connected to foreign subsidiaries 594 129
Other adjustments, including foreign exchange translation differences 0 0
Tax expense -53 647 -73 718

Specification of payable tax 2018 2017
Payable tax connected to the parent company 0 0
Payable tax connected to partially owned Norwegian subsidiary 0 0
Payable tax connected to foreign subsidiaries 1 579 412
Payable tax recognised in the balance sheet  31.12. 1 579 412

Specification of deferred tax asset 2018 2017
Deferred tax asset connected to parent company*) 178 000 125 000
Deferred tax asset connected to partly owned Norwegian subsidiary 0 0
Deferred tax asset connected to foreign subsidiaries (net) 17 473 18 124
Deferred tax asset recognised in the balance sheet 31.12. 195 473 143 124

Reconciliation of tax expense for the group 2018 2017
23% (24%) of result before tax -3 274 -3 554
Change of deferred tax asset not recognised in the balance sheet connected to the Norwegian activity -76 345 -85 851
25% (27%) of not taxable income foreign subsidiaries etc. -3 003 -18 247
Impact of changed tax rate in Norway 12 165 12 651
Other permanent differences (net) including different tax rate between the countries 16 808 21 211
Tax expense -53 647 -73 718

*) Fjord Line AS has accumulated basis for deferred tax asset of TNOK 1.216.522 per 31.12.2018
This implies a deferred tax asset (22 %) of TNOK 267.635 at full capitalisation. 

The Board of Directiors following a concrete assessment of the future prospects of Fjord Line AS,                                                                                                        
under the basis of the net income from the last two years, found that it has convincing evidence                                                                                                      
that future earnings will justify a recognition of a further 53 MNOK                                                                                                     
in addition to the 125 MNOK that have already been recognized, thus the calculated deferred tax asset will be 178 MNOK.                                                                                               
                                                                                                              
We believe that this argument is sustained by the positive operating result in recent years, combined with the over budget earnings                                                                                                            
so far this year and that we see a positive development in the booking reserves before the high season.                                                                                                     
This combined with the expansion of capacity on MS Stavangerfjord and MS Bergensfjord to increase the earnings in the high season                                                                                                           
indicates that we have convincing evidence that we can at least have equivalent earnings in the years to come as shown in                                                                                                           
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Payable tax recognised in the balace sheet per 31.12.2018 connected to the Norwegian activity makes TNOK 0 (TNOK 0 per 31.12.2017).

Foreign subsidiaries
The Danish shipowning companies are under Danish law connected to tonnage tax system and have calculated taxable income based on these conditions.
Further on, the Danish subsidiaries are jointly taxed. Tax 2018 for the Danish subsidiaries is TNOK 2.058 (TNOK 1.239 in 2017)
The Danish subsidiaries received taxable grants in 2015. This was  reflected in payable tax recognised in the balance sheet, TNOK 17.480 per 31.12.2015
which was allocated to the Danish subsidiaries. 
As the grants are recognised as reduction of the ships' acquisition cost, the grant is recognised through gains/losses in line with the depreciation of the ships.
The grant is considered not to be comprised by IAS 12.  Therefore a deferred tax asset corresponding to payable tax connected to the grant was recognised 
in the balance sheet upon receipt of the grant in 2015. This deferred tax asset is being reversed over the depreciation period of the ships.  
Net book value of deferred tax asset per 31.12.2018 and 31.12.2017 relating to foreign subsidiary is listed below. 
The main element of this net amount (TNOK 17.673 per 31.12.2018) is thus connected to the mentioned grants. 

Specification of tax expense 2018 2017
Change in deferred tax asset connected to the Norwegian activity -53 000 -75 000
Payable tax connected to the Norwegian activity (partially owned subsidiary) 0 0
Payable tax connected to foreign subsidiaries -1 251 1 153
Change in deferred tax asset connected to foreign subsidiaries 594 129
Other adjustments, including foreign exchange translation differences 0 0
Tax expense -53 647 -73 718

Specification of payable tax 2018 2017
Payable tax connected to the parent company 0 0
Payable tax connected to partially owned Norwegian subsidiary 0 0
Payable tax connected to foreign subsidiaries 1 579 412
Payable tax recognised in the balance sheet  31.12. 1 579 412

Specification of deferred tax asset 2018 2017
Deferred tax asset connected to parent company*) 178 000 125 000
Deferred tax asset connected to partly owned Norwegian subsidiary 0 0
Deferred tax asset connected to foreign subsidiaries (net) 17 473 18 124
Deferred tax asset recognised in the balance sheet 31.12. 195 473 143 124

Reconciliation of tax expense for the group 2018 2017
23% (24%) of result before tax -3 274 -3 554
Change of deferred tax asset not recognised in the balance sheet connected to the Norwegian activity -76 345 -85 851
25% (27%) of not taxable income foreign subsidiaries etc. -3 003 -18 247
Impact of changed tax rate in Norway 12 165 12 651
Other permanent differences (net) including different tax rate between the countries 16 808 21 211
Tax expense -53 647 -73 718

*) Fjord Line AS has accumulated basis for deferred tax asset of TNOK 1.216.522 per 31.12.2018
This implies a deferred tax asset (22 %) of TNOK 267.635 at full capitalisation. 

The Board of Directiors following a concrete assessment of the future prospects of Fjord Line AS,                                                                                                        
under the basis of the net income from the last two years, found that it has convincing evidence                                                                                                      
that future earnings will justify a recognition of a further 53 MNOK                                                                                                     
in addition to the 125 MNOK that have already been recognized, thus the calculated deferred tax asset will be 178 MNOK.                                                                                               
                                                                                                              
We believe that this argument is sustained by the positive operating result in recent years, combined with the over budget earnings                                                                                                            
so far this year and that we see a positive development in the booking reserves before the high season.                                                                                                     
This combined with the expansion of capacity on MS Stavangerfjord and MS Bergensfjord to increase the earnings in the high season                                                                                                           
indicates that we have convincing evidence that we can at least have equivalent earnings in the years to come as shown in                                                                                                           
2018 and this has been taken into account in the assessment.                                                                                                
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Note 12 Taxes - group 

(Figures in TNOK)
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Other differences, including accounting accruals -90 964 -88 973 -1 991
Total -70 758 -66 055 -4 703
Carry forward loss -1 194 370 -1 150 467 -43 903
Basis for deferred tax (-deferred tax asset) -1 265 128 -1 216 522 -48 606
23% (24%) of the basis -290 979 -267 635 23 345
Deferred tax (-deferred tax asset) recognised in the balance sheet -125 000 -178 000 -53 000
Deferred tax asset not recognised in the balance sheet -165 979 -89 635 76 346
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which was allocated to the Danish subsidiaries. 
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Other adjustments, including foreign exchange translation differences 0 0
Tax expense -53 647 -73 718

Specification of payable tax 2018 2017
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25% (27%) of not taxable income foreign subsidiaries etc. -3 003 -18 247
Impact of changed tax rate in Norway 12 165 12 651
Other permanent differences (net) including different tax rate between the countries 16 808 21 211
Tax expense -53 647 -73 718

*) Fjord Line AS has accumulated basis for deferred tax asset of TNOK 1.216.522 per 31.12.2018
This implies a deferred tax asset (22 %) of TNOK 267.635 at full capitalisation. 
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that future earnings will justify a recognition of a further 53 MNOK                                                                                                     
in addition to the 125 MNOK that have already been recognized, thus the calculated deferred tax asset will be 178 MNOK.                                                                                               
                                                                                                              
We believe that this argument is sustained by the positive operating result in recent years, combined with the over budget earnings                                                                                                            
so far this year and that we see a positive development in the booking reserves before the high season.                                                                                                     
This combined with the expansion of capacity on MS Stavangerfjord and MS Bergensfjord to increase the earnings in the high season                                                                                                           
indicates that we have convincing evidence that we can at least have equivalent earnings in the years to come as shown in                                                                                                           
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Other adjustments, including foreign exchange translation differences 0 0
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Payable tax connected to the parent company 0 0
Payable tax connected to partially owned Norwegian subsidiary 0 0
Payable tax connected to foreign subsidiaries 1 579 412
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Specification of deferred tax asset 2018 2017
Deferred tax asset connected to parent company*) 178 000 125 000
Deferred tax asset connected to partly owned Norwegian subsidiary 0 0
Deferred tax asset connected to foreign subsidiaries (net) 17 473 18 124
Deferred tax asset recognised in the balance sheet 31.12. 195 473 143 124

Reconciliation of tax expense for the group 2018 2017
23% (24%) of result before tax -3 274 -3 554
Change of deferred tax asset not recognised in the balance sheet connected to the Norwegian activity -76 345 -85 851
25% (27%) of not taxable income foreign subsidiaries etc. -3 003 -18 247
Impact of changed tax rate in Norway 12 165 12 651
Other permanent differences (net) including different tax rate between the countries 16 808 21 211
Tax expense -53 647 -73 718

*) Fjord Line AS has accumulated basis for deferred tax asset of TNOK 1.216.522 per 31.12.2018
This implies a deferred tax asset (22 %) of TNOK 267.635 at full capitalisation. 

The Board of Directiors following a concrete assessment of the future prospects of Fjord Line AS,                                                                                                        
under the basis of the net income from the last two years, found that it has convincing evidence                                                                                                      
that future earnings will justify a recognition of a further 53 MNOK                                                                                                     
in addition to the 125 MNOK that have already been recognized, thus the calculated deferred tax asset will be 178 MNOK.                                                                                               
                                                                                                              
We believe that this argument is sustained by the positive operating result in recent years, combined with the over budget earnings                                                                                                            
so far this year and that we see a positive development in the booking reserves before the high season.                                                                                                     
This combined with the expansion of capacity on MS Stavangerfjord and MS Bergensfjord to increase the earnings in the high season                                                                                                           
indicates that we have convincing evidence that we can at least have equivalent earnings in the years to come as shown in                                                                                                           
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Note 13 Liabilities - group

(Figures in table in TNOK)

Non-current interest bearing debt per 31.12. 2018 2017
Debt to credit institutions etc. 2 204 939 2 123 612
Bond loan 0 0
Debt connected to leasing contracts recognised in the balance sheet 1 015 1 577
Total non-current interest bearing debt 31.12. excl. of first year's installment 2 205 954 2 125 189

Current interest bearing debt per 31.12. 2018 2017
Debt to credit institutions (overdraft facilities) 0 0
Current portion of debt to credit institutions 223 253 164 946
Current portion of bond debt 0 74 000
Current portion of leasing debt 0 964
Total current interest bearing debt  31.12. 223 253 239 910

Total book value of interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 429 207 2 365 099

Fjord Line AS had an unused overdraft facility of MNOK 35 per 31.12.2018 (15 MNOK per 31.12.2017).
Per 31.12.2018 the company has a positive balance on the overdraft facility account of 128,1 MNOK (23,6 MNOK per 31.12.2017).
The subsidiary Fjord Line DK A/S has an unused overdraft facility of 3 MDKK (3 MDKK per 31.12.2017)

Interest bearing debt to credit institutions (incl. leasing) - distributed on currency  per 31.12.2018 (figures in NOK 1,000)

Currency Nominal currency Exchange rate Book value in NOK 31.12.2017
NOK 112 329 1,000 112 329
DKK 415 202 1,332 553 132
Euro 177 291 9,948 1 763 744
TOTAL 2 429 206 incl. first year's installment

Interest bearing debt to credit institutions (incl. leasing) - distributed on currency per 31.12.2017 (figures in 1,000)

Currency Nominal currency Exchange rate Book value in NOK 31.12.2017
NOK 132 727 1,000 132 727
DKK 256 710 1,322 344 832
Euro 192 762 9,840 1 887 540
TOTAL 2 365 099 incl. first year's installment

Borrowing in Euro and DKK
Borrowing in Euro and DKK is recognised in the balance sheet at current exchange rate per 31.12.2018 and 31.12.2017, cf. the table above. 
Foreign exchange loss in 2018 related to non-current borrowing in Euro and DKK is 108,7 MNOK.
Foreign exchange gain in 2017 related to non-current borrowing in Euro was 159,3 MNOK.

Book value per 31.12. for the Euro-borrowings and DKK is as follows in NOK (figures in TNOK): 2018 2017
Principal amount: 2 331 576 2 227 288
Amortization effect of the borrowings, incl. guarantee commission -14 700 -15 682
Book value per 31.12. 2 316 876 2 211 606

Borrowing in NOK, incl. bond loan
Non-current debt in NOK 31.12.2017 comprise of new non-current loan regarding the rebulding of MS Stavangerfjord.
The bond loan was settled in its entirety in 2018 and was in 2016 reclassified as current debt.

2018 2017
Total amount of bonds: 0 74 000
Own holding 0 0
Amortization effect of the loan (expenses etc.) *) 0 0
Book value bond loan  31.12. 0 74 000

Borrowing in DKK
Borrowing in DKK 31.12.2017 consists of a new non-current loan to Danica Pension of TNOK 333.450. Total available loan facility is MDKK 400. 
The loan facility is issued in its entirity in 2018 and the debt in DKK to Danica Pension amount to MDKK 400.

Derecognition of financial obligations
Fjord line group has entered into a loan agreement with the australian export finance body EFIC about financing the purchase of a new catamaran 
to operate the route Kristiansand Hirtshals. Fjord Line group stands as the formal borrower also during the construction period, but as a result of the entered 
agreement with EFIC and the contractor of the catamaran Austal-group will Fjord Line not be required to pay interest or instalments in the construction 
period together with a additional agreement that in the event of a default of debt, will EFIC seek full coverage from Austal before they kan seek 
coverage of the debt from Fjord Line group. This results in Fjord Line not considering itself as the primary responsible of the debt during the construction period and thus 
derecognise the debt in accordance with IFRS 9. 

Loan agreement and financial covenants
The Group's loan agreements include a demand for booked equity per 31.12.2018 of minimum 500 MNOK, 
and free liquidity of 50 MNOK. Measurement takes place at the end of each quarter. The group as a whole is subject to measurement.
There is also a demand for a level of 12 month EBITDA related to non-current debt. The first measurement date is 31.12.2018.
The company's Board of Directors and management are continuously monitoring the financial debt covenants, and per 31.12.18 the company had
satisfactory positive margin. The group had also satisfactory positive margin into first quarter of 2019.  The margin is subject to fluctuations related 
to a number of financial circumstances, in particular the development of underlying operations, and foreign exchange rates for translation of the company's 
assets and liabilities.  If the conditions make it necessary, the Board of Directors will take action to strengthen the group's ability to meet the financial covenants.

Installment plan non-current interest-bearing debt to credit institutions/mortgage loan, leasing debt and bond loan

Note 13 Liabilities - group

(Figures in table in TNOK)

Non-current interest bearing debt per 31.12. 2018 2017
Debt to credit institutions etc. 2 204 939 2 123 612
Bond loan 0 0
Debt connected to leasing contracts recognised in the balance sheet 1 015 1 577
Total non-current interest bearing debt 31.12. excl. of first year's installment 2 205 954 2 125 189

Current interest bearing debt per 31.12. 2018 2017
Debt to credit institutions (overdraft facilities) 0 0
Current portion of debt to credit institutions 223 253 164 946
Current portion of bond debt 0 74 000
Current portion of leasing debt 0 964
Total current interest bearing debt  31.12. 223 253 239 910

Total book value of interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 429 207 2 365 099

Fjord Line AS had an unused overdraft facility of MNOK 35 per 31.12.2018 (15 MNOK per 31.12.2017).
Per 31.12.2018 the company has a positive balance on the overdraft facility account of 128,1 MNOK (23,6 MNOK per 31.12.2017).
The subsidiary Fjord Line DK A/S has an unused overdraft facility of 3 MDKK (3 MDKK per 31.12.2017)

Interest bearing debt to credit institutions (incl. leasing) - distributed on currency  per 31.12.2018 (figures in NOK 1,000)

Currency Nominal currency Exchange rate Book value in NOK 31.12.2017
NOK 112 329 1,000 112 329
DKK 415 202 1,332 553 132
Euro 177 291 9,948 1 763 744
TOTAL 2 429 206 incl. first year's installment

Interest bearing debt to credit institutions (incl. leasing) - distributed on currency per 31.12.2017 (figures in 1,000)

Currency Nominal currency Exchange rate Book value in NOK 31.12.2017
NOK 132 727 1,000 132 727
DKK 256 710 1,322 344 832
Euro 192 762 9,840 1 887 540
TOTAL 2 365 099 incl. first year's installment

Borrowing in Euro and DKK
Borrowing in Euro and DKK is recognised in the balance sheet at current exchange rate per 31.12.2018 and 31.12.2017, cf. the table above. 
Foreign exchange loss in 2018 related to non-current borrowing in Euro and DKK is 108,7 MNOK.
Foreign exchange gain in 2017 related to non-current borrowing in Euro was 159,3 MNOK.

Book value per 31.12. for the Euro-borrowings and DKK is as follows in NOK (figures in TNOK): 2018 2017
Principal amount: 2 331 576 2 227 288
Amortization effect of the borrowings, incl. guarantee commission -14 700 -15 682
Book value per 31.12. 2 316 876 2 211 606

Borrowing in NOK, incl. bond loan
Non-current debt in NOK 31.12.2017 comprise of new non-current loan regarding the rebulding of MS Stavangerfjord.
The bond loan was settled in its entirety in 2018 and was in 2016 reclassified as current debt.

2018 2017
Total amount of bonds: 0 74 000
Own holding 0 0
Amortization effect of the loan (expenses etc.) *) 0 0
Book value bond loan  31.12. 0 74 000

Borrowing in DKK
Borrowing in DKK 31.12.2017 consists of a new non-current loan to Danica Pension of TNOK 333.450. Total available loan facility is MDKK 400. 
The loan facility is issued in its entirity in 2018 and the debt in DKK to Danica Pension amount to MDKK 400.

Derecognition of financial obligations
Fjord line group has entered into a loan agreement with the australian export finance body EFIC about financing the purchase of a new catamaran 
to operate the route Kristiansand Hirtshals. Fjord Line group stands as the formal borrower also during the construction period, but as a result of the entered 
agreement with EFIC and the contractor of the catamaran Austal-group will Fjord Line not be required to pay interest or instalments in the construction 
period together with a additional agreement that in the event of a default of debt, will EFIC seek full coverage from Austal before they kan seek 
coverage of the debt from Fjord Line group. This results in Fjord Line not considering itself as the primary responsible of the debt during the construction period and thus 
derecognise the debt in accordance with IFRS 9. 

Loan agreement and financial covenants
The Group's loan agreements include a demand for booked equity per 31.12.2018 of minimum 500 MNOK, 
and free liquidity of 50 MNOK. Measurement takes place at the end of each quarter. The group as a whole is subject to measurement.
There is also a demand for a level of 12 month EBITDA related to non-current debt. The first measurement date is 31.12.2018.
The company's Board of Directors and management are continuously monitoring the financial debt covenants, and per 31.12.18 the company had
satisfactory positive margin. The group had also satisfactory positive margin into first quarter of 2019.  The margin is subject to fluctuations related 
to a number of financial circumstances, in particular the development of underlying operations, and foreign exchange rates for translation of the company's 
assets and liabilities.  If the conditions make it necessary, the Board of Directors will take action to strengthen the group's ability to meet the financial covenants.

Installment plan non-current interest-bearing debt to credit institutions/mortgage loan, leasing debt and bond loan

Note 13 Liabilities - group

(Figures in table in TNOK)

Non-current interest bearing debt per 31.12. 2018 2017
Debt to credit institutions etc. 2 204 939 2 123 612
Bond loan 0 0
Debt connected to leasing contracts recognised in the balance sheet 1 015 1 577
Total non-current interest bearing debt 31.12. excl. of first year's installment 2 205 954 2 125 189

Current interest bearing debt per 31.12. 2018 2017
Debt to credit institutions (overdraft facilities) 0 0
Current portion of debt to credit institutions 223 253 164 946
Current portion of bond debt 0 74 000
Current portion of leasing debt 0 964
Total current interest bearing debt  31.12. 223 253 239 910

Total book value of interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 429 207 2 365 099

Fjord Line AS had an unused overdraft facility of MNOK 35 per 31.12.2018 (15 MNOK per 31.12.2017).
Per 31.12.2018 the company has a positive balance on the overdraft facility account of 128,1 MNOK (23,6 MNOK per 31.12.2017).
The subsidiary Fjord Line DK A/S has an unused overdraft facility of 3 MDKK (3 MDKK per 31.12.2017)

Interest bearing debt to credit institutions (incl. leasing) - distributed on currency  per 31.12.2018 (figures in NOK 1,000)

Currency Nominal currency Exchange rate Book value in NOK 31.12.2017
NOK 112 329 1,000 112 329
DKK 415 202 1,332 553 132
Euro 177 291 9,948 1 763 744
TOTAL 2 429 206 incl. first year's installment

Interest bearing debt to credit institutions (incl. leasing) - distributed on currency per 31.12.2017 (figures in 1,000)

Currency Nominal currency Exchange rate Book value in NOK 31.12.2017
NOK 132 727 1,000 132 727
DKK 256 710 1,322 344 832
Euro 192 762 9,840 1 887 540
TOTAL 2 365 099 incl. first year's installment

Borrowing in Euro and DKK
Borrowing in Euro and DKK is recognised in the balance sheet at current exchange rate per 31.12.2018 and 31.12.2017, cf. the table above. 
Foreign exchange loss in 2018 related to non-current borrowing in Euro and DKK is 108,7 MNOK.
Foreign exchange gain in 2017 related to non-current borrowing in Euro was 159,3 MNOK.

Book value per 31.12. for the Euro-borrowings and DKK is as follows in NOK (figures in TNOK): 2018 2017
Principal amount: 2 331 576 2 227 288
Amortization effect of the borrowings, incl. guarantee commission -14 700 -15 682
Book value per 31.12. 2 316 876 2 211 606

Borrowing in NOK, incl. bond loan
Non-current debt in NOK 31.12.2017 comprise of new non-current loan regarding the rebulding of MS Stavangerfjord.
The bond loan was settled in its entirety in 2018 and was in 2016 reclassified as current debt.

2018 2017
Total amount of bonds: 0 74 000
Own holding 0 0
Amortization effect of the loan (expenses etc.) *) 0 0
Book value bond loan  31.12. 0 74 000

Borrowing in DKK
Borrowing in DKK 31.12.2017 consists of a new non-current loan to Danica Pension of TNOK 333.450. Total available loan facility is MDKK 400. 
The loan facility is issued in its entirity in 2018 and the debt in DKK to Danica Pension amount to MDKK 400.

Derecognition of financial obligations
Fjord line group has entered into a loan agreement with the australian export finance body EFIC about financing the purchase of a new catamaran 
to operate the route Kristiansand Hirtshals. Fjord Line group stands as the formal borrower also during the construction period, but as a result of the entered 
agreement with EFIC and the contractor of the catamaran Austal-group will Fjord Line not be required to pay interest or instalments in the construction 
period together with a additional agreement that in the event of a default of debt, will EFIC seek full coverage from Austal before they kan seek 
coverage of the debt from Fjord Line group. This results in Fjord Line not considering itself as the primary responsible of the debt during the construction period and thus 
derecognise the debt in accordance with IFRS 9. 

Loan agreement and financial covenants
The Group's loan agreements include a demand for booked equity per 31.12.2018 of minimum 500 MNOK, 
and free liquidity of 50 MNOK. Measurement takes place at the end of each quarter. The group as a whole is subject to measurement.
There is also a demand for a level of 12 month EBITDA related to non-current debt. The first measurement date is 31.12.2018.
The company's Board of Directors and management are continuously monitoring the financial debt covenants, and per 31.12.18 the company had
satisfactory positive margin. The group had also satisfactory positive margin into first quarter of 2019.  The margin is subject to fluctuations related 
to a number of financial circumstances, in particular the development of underlying operations, and foreign exchange rates for translation of the company's 
assets and liabilities.  If the conditions make it necessary, the Board of Directors will take action to strengthen the group's ability to meet the financial covenants.

Installment plan non-current interest-bearing debt to credit institutions/mortgage loan, leasing debt and bond loan

Note 13 ⁄⁄ Liabilities – Group 

incl. first year’s installment

incl. first year’s installment
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«In 2020 we launch a high-speed catamaran that will service the route 
between Kristiansand, Norway and Hirtshals, Denmark.  

The vessel emits 32 percent less CO2 compared to present vessel 
measured per passenger kilometre. That’s a lot!»

Note 13 Liabilities - group

(Figures in table in TNOK)

Non-current interest bearing debt per 31.12. 2018 2017
Debt to credit institutions etc. 2 204 939 2 123 612
Bond loan 0 0
Debt connected to leasing contracts recognised in the balance sheet 1 015 1 577
Total non-current interest bearing debt 31.12. excl. of first year's installment 2 205 954 2 125 189

Current interest bearing debt per 31.12. 2018 2017
Debt to credit institutions (overdraft facilities) 0 0
Current portion of debt to credit institutions 223 253 164 946
Current portion of bond debt 0 74 000
Current portion of leasing debt 0 964
Total current interest bearing debt  31.12. 223 253 239 910

Total book value of interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 429 207 2 365 099

Fjord Line AS had an unused overdraft facility of MNOK 35 per 31.12.2018 (15 MNOK per 31.12.2017).
Per 31.12.2018 the company has a positive balance on the overdraft facility account of 128,1 MNOK (23,6 MNOK per 31.12.2017).
The subsidiary Fjord Line DK A/S has an unused overdraft facility of 3 MDKK (3 MDKK per 31.12.2017)

Interest bearing debt to credit institutions (incl. leasing) - distributed on currency  per 31.12.2018 (figures in NOK 1,000)

Currency Nominal currency Exchange rate Book value in NOK 31.12.2017
NOK 112 329 1,000 112 329
DKK 415 202 1,332 553 132
Euro 177 291 9,948 1 763 744
TOTAL 2 429 206 incl. first year's installment

Interest bearing debt to credit institutions (incl. leasing) - distributed on currency per 31.12.2017 (figures in 1,000)

Currency Nominal currency Exchange rate Book value in NOK 31.12.2017
NOK 132 727 1,000 132 727
DKK 256 710 1,322 344 832
Euro 192 762 9,840 1 887 540
TOTAL 2 365 099 incl. first year's installment

Borrowing in Euro and DKK
Borrowing in Euro and DKK is recognised in the balance sheet at current exchange rate per 31.12.2018 and 31.12.2017, cf. the table above. 
Foreign exchange loss in 2018 related to non-current borrowing in Euro and DKK is 108,7 MNOK.
Foreign exchange gain in 2017 related to non-current borrowing in Euro was 159,3 MNOK.

Book value per 31.12. for the Euro-borrowings and DKK is as follows in NOK (figures in TNOK): 2018 2017
Principal amount: 2 331 576 2 227 288
Amortization effect of the borrowings, incl. guarantee commission -14 700 -15 682
Book value per 31.12. 2 316 876 2 211 606

Borrowing in NOK, incl. bond loan
Non-current debt in NOK 31.12.2017 comprise of new non-current loan regarding the rebulding of MS Stavangerfjord.
The bond loan was settled in its entirety in 2018 and was in 2016 reclassified as current debt.

2018 2017
Total amount of bonds: 0 74 000
Own holding 0 0
Amortization effect of the loan (expenses etc.) *) 0 0
Book value bond loan  31.12. 0 74 000

Borrowing in DKK
Borrowing in DKK 31.12.2017 consists of a new non-current loan to Danica Pension of TNOK 333.450. Total available loan facility is MDKK 400. 
The loan facility is issued in its entirity in 2018 and the debt in DKK to Danica Pension amount to MDKK 400.

Derecognition of financial obligations
Fjord line group has entered into a loan agreement with the australian export finance body EFIC about financing the purchase of a new catamaran 
to operate the route Kristiansand Hirtshals. Fjord Line group stands as the formal borrower also during the construction period, but as a result of the entered 
agreement with EFIC and the contractor of the catamaran Austal-group will Fjord Line not be required to pay interest or instalments in the construction 
period together with a additional agreement that in the event of a default of debt, will EFIC seek full coverage from Austal before they kan seek 
coverage of the debt from Fjord Line group. This results in Fjord Line not considering itself as the primary responsible of the debt during the construction period and thus 
derecognise the debt in accordance with IFRS 9. 

Loan agreement and financial covenants
The Group's loan agreements include a demand for booked equity per 31.12.2018 of minimum 500 MNOK, 
and free liquidity of 50 MNOK. Measurement takes place at the end of each quarter. The group as a whole is subject to measurement.
There is also a demand for a level of 12 month EBITDA related to non-current debt. The first measurement date is 31.12.2018.
The company's Board of Directors and management are continuously monitoring the financial debt covenants, and per 31.12.18 the company had
satisfactory positive margin. The group had also satisfactory positive margin into first quarter of 2019.  The margin is subject to fluctuations related 
to a number of financial circumstances, in particular the development of underlying operations, and foreign exchange rates for translation of the company's 
assets and liabilities.  If the conditions make it necessary, the Board of Directors will take action to strengthen the group's ability to meet the financial covenants.

Installment plan non-current interest-bearing debt to credit institutions/mortgage loan, leasing debt and bond loan

(Figures in TNOK) 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Annual installments* -221 544 -244 242 -266 941 -337 511 -228 797
Remaining loan per 31.12. 1 988 499 1 744 257 1 477 316 1 139 804 911 007

Book value of mortgaged assets 31.12.2018:
Ships 3 078 012
Prepaid ships 183 636
Receivables 102 587
Inventories 22 833
Total 3 387 068

Note 14 Operating income ands other gains/losses - group

(Figures in TNOK)
2018 2017

Sales revenues
Ticket income 522 949 471 878
Sales income etc. onboard 742 400 652 281
Cargo income 218 990 190 037
Other 21 531 14 328
Total sales revenues 1 505 870 1 328 524 A

Other operating income 25 427 23 508 B

Other gains/losses (net)
Gain by  transfer of subsidiary to associated company 0 0
Loss from exit subsidiary 0 0
Unrealized gain derivatives (value change recognised in income statement), cf. note 20 -1 975 6 995
Total other gains/losses (net) -1 975 6 995 C

Total  operating income and other gains/losses (net) 1 529 322 1 359 027 A+B+C

Note 15 Wage costs, number of employees, remunerations, loans to employees etc. - group

(Figures in table below in TNOK)

Wage costs 2018 2017
Wages, incl. feeding crew, social costs  etc. 306 858 298 069
Payroll tax and other public duties related to wages 24 319 19 461
Pension costs etc. 15 629 15 417
Other remunerations 23 244 19 057
Total 370 051 352 004

Average number of man-labour years in the group during the accounting year 2018 has been 677 (716 in 2017) 

Remunerations for CEO and the Board of Directors (figures in TNOK) 2018 2017
Wages CEO 2 050 2 050
Bonus CEO 513 129
Other remuneration  CEO 239 12
Board of Directors' fee 91 450
The figures above do not include the option program. See below for further information.
No loan or gurarantee has been provided for CEO or any of the members of the Board of Directors.
The CEO is included in the company's pension agreement, cf mentioned below.
According to the agreement, 20% of gross salary is allocated annually and the liability amounts to per 31.12.2018 TNOK 1.417 (TNOK 1.007 per 31.12.2017)

Pensions
The company has taken on a pension savings agreement on behalf of the former and the present CEO and another two individuals.
The market value of the contributions/assets was var TNOK 4.047 per 31.12.2018 (TNOK 4.127 per 31.12.2017).
Gross liability per 31.12.2018 is calculated to TNOK 6 587 related to these four persons (TNOK 6 149 per 31.12.2017).
Net liability is thus TNOK 3.486 per 31.12.2018 (TNOK 3.048 per 31.12.2017), and is classified as pension liability in the balance sheet.

In addition the company has established a defined contribution pension scheme for its employees.
The company pays fixed contributions to an insurance company. The company has no further obligations to pay once the contributions have been paid.
The contribution constitutes from 2% to 4% of the employees' salary.

Auditor
Auditor's fee relates to the following services (exclusive of vat):
(Figures in TNOK)

2018 2017
Audit services - group auditor 1 388 1 582
Audit services other auditors 0 0
Accounting and tax related consultancy other auditors 0 0
Certification services/agreed-upon control procedures group auditor 11 26
Certification services/agreed-upon control procedures other auditors 0 0
Total auditor's fee 2 024 2 323
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Loss from exit subsidiary 0 0
Unrealized gain derivatives (value change recognised in income statement), cf. note 20 -1 975 6 995
Total other gains/losses (net) -1 975 6 995 C

Total  operating income and other gains/losses (net) 1 529 322 1 359 027 A+B+C

Note 15 Wage costs, number of employees, remunerations, loans to employees etc. - group

(Figures in table below in TNOK)

Wage costs 2018 2017
Wages, incl. feeding crew, social costs  etc. 306 858 298 069
Payroll tax and other public duties related to wages 24 319 19 461
Pension costs etc. 15 629 15 417
Other remunerations 23 244 19 057
Total 370 051 352 004

Average number of man-labour years in the group during the accounting year 2018 has been 677 (716 in 2017) 

Remunerations for CEO and the Board of Directors (figures in TNOK) 2018 2017
Wages CEO 2 050 2 050
Bonus CEO 513 129
Other remuneration  CEO 239 12
Board of Directors' fee 91 450
The figures above do not include the option program. See below for further information.
No loan or gurarantee has been provided for CEO or any of the members of the Board of Directors.
The CEO is included in the company's pension agreement, cf mentioned below.
According to the agreement, 20% of gross salary is allocated annually and the liability amounts to per 31.12.2018 TNOK 1.417 (TNOK 1.007 per 31.12.2017)

Pensions
The company has taken on a pension savings agreement on behalf of the former and the present CEO and another two individuals.
The market value of the contributions/assets was var TNOK 4.047 per 31.12.2018 (TNOK 4.127 per 31.12.2017).
Gross liability per 31.12.2018 is calculated to TNOK 6 587 related to these four persons (TNOK 6 149 per 31.12.2017).
Net liability is thus TNOK 3.486 per 31.12.2018 (TNOK 3.048 per 31.12.2017), and is classified as pension liability in the balance sheet.

In addition the company has established a defined contribution pension scheme for its employees.
The company pays fixed contributions to an insurance company. The company has no further obligations to pay once the contributions have been paid.
The contribution constitutes from 2% to 4% of the employees' salary.

Auditor
Auditor's fee relates to the following services (exclusive of vat):
(Figures in TNOK)

2018 2017
Audit services - group auditor 1 388 1 582
Audit services other auditors 0 0
Accounting and tax related consultancy other auditors 0 0
Certification services/agreed-upon control procedures group auditor 11 26
Certification services/agreed-upon control procedures other auditors 0 0
Total auditor's fee 2 024 2 323
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Note 14 ⁄⁄ Operating income ands other gains/losses – Group 

Note 15 ⁄⁄ Wage costs, number of employees, remunerations, loans to employees etc. – Group 

(Figures in TNOK) 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Annual installments* -221 544 -244 242 -266 941 -337 511 -228 797
Remaining loan per 31.12. 1 988 499 1 744 257 1 477 316 1 139 804 911 007

Book value of mortgaged assets 31.12.2018:
Ships 3 078 012
Prepaid ships 183 636
Receivables 102 587
Inventories 22 833
Total 3 387 068

Note 14 Operating income ands other gains/losses - group

(Figures in TNOK)
2018 2017

Sales revenues
Ticket income 522 949 471 878
Sales income etc. onboard 742 400 652 281
Cargo income 218 990 190 037
Other 21 531 14 328
Total sales revenues 1 505 870 1 328 524 A

Other operating income 25 427 23 508 B

Other gains/losses (net)
Gain by  transfer of subsidiary to associated company 0 0
Loss from exit subsidiary 0 0
Unrealized gain derivatives (value change recognised in income statement), cf. note 20 -1 975 6 995
Total other gains/losses (net) -1 975 6 995 C

Total  operating income and other gains/losses (net) 1 529 322 1 359 027 A+B+C

Note 15 Wage costs, number of employees, remunerations, loans to employees etc. - group

(Figures in table below in TNOK)

Wage costs 2018 2017
Wages, incl. feeding crew, social costs  etc. 306 858 298 069
Payroll tax and other public duties related to wages 24 319 19 461
Pension costs etc. 15 629 15 417
Other remunerations 23 244 19 057
Total 370 051 352 004

Average number of man-labour years in the group during the accounting year 2018 has been 677 (716 in 2017) 

Remunerations for CEO and the Board of Directors (figures in TNOK) 2018 2017
Wages CEO 2 050 2 050
Bonus CEO 513 129
Other remuneration  CEO 239 12
Board of Directors' fee 91 450
The figures above do not include the option program. See below for further information.
No loan or gurarantee has been provided for CEO or any of the members of the Board of Directors.
The CEO is included in the company's pension agreement, cf mentioned below.
According to the agreement, 20% of gross salary is allocated annually and the liability amounts to per 31.12.2018 TNOK 1.417 (TNOK 1.007 per 31.12.2017)

Pensions
The company has taken on a pension savings agreement on behalf of the former and the present CEO and another two individuals.
The market value of the contributions/assets was var TNOK 4.047 per 31.12.2018 (TNOK 4.127 per 31.12.2017).
Gross liability per 31.12.2018 is calculated to TNOK 6 587 related to these four persons (TNOK 6 149 per 31.12.2017).
Net liability is thus TNOK 3.486 per 31.12.2018 (TNOK 3.048 per 31.12.2017), and is classified as pension liability in the balance sheet.

In addition the company has established a defined contribution pension scheme for its employees.
The company pays fixed contributions to an insurance company. The company has no further obligations to pay once the contributions have been paid.
The contribution constitutes from 2% to 4% of the employees' salary.

Auditor
Auditor's fee relates to the following services (exclusive of vat):
(Figures in TNOK)

2018 2017
Audit services - group auditor 1 388 1 582
Audit services other auditors 0 0
Accounting and tax related consultancy other auditors 0 0
Certification services/agreed-upon control procedures group auditor 11 26
Certification services/agreed-upon control procedures other auditors 0 0
Total auditor's fee 2 024 2 323
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Other gains/losses (net)
Gain by  transfer of subsidiary to associated company 0 0
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Unrealized gain derivatives (value change recognised in income statement), cf. note 20 -1 975 6 995
Total other gains/losses (net) -1 975 6 995 C

Total  operating income and other gains/losses (net) 1 529 322 1 359 027 A+B+C

Note 15 Wage costs, number of employees, remunerations, loans to employees etc. - group

(Figures in table below in TNOK)

Wage costs 2018 2017
Wages, incl. feeding crew, social costs  etc. 306 858 298 069
Payroll tax and other public duties related to wages 24 319 19 461
Pension costs etc. 15 629 15 417
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Wages CEO 2 050 2 050
Bonus CEO 513 129
Other remuneration  CEO 239 12
Board of Directors' fee 91 450
The figures above do not include the option program. See below for further information.
No loan or gurarantee has been provided for CEO or any of the members of the Board of Directors.
The CEO is included in the company's pension agreement, cf mentioned below.
According to the agreement, 20% of gross salary is allocated annually and the liability amounts to per 31.12.2018 TNOK 1.417 (TNOK 1.007 per 31.12.2017)

Pensions
The company has taken on a pension savings agreement on behalf of the former and the present CEO and another two individuals.
The market value of the contributions/assets was var TNOK 4.047 per 31.12.2018 (TNOK 4.127 per 31.12.2017).
Gross liability per 31.12.2018 is calculated to TNOK 6 587 related to these four persons (TNOK 6 149 per 31.12.2017).
Net liability is thus TNOK 3.486 per 31.12.2018 (TNOK 3.048 per 31.12.2017), and is classified as pension liability in the balance sheet.

In addition the company has established a defined contribution pension scheme for its employees.
The company pays fixed contributions to an insurance company. The company has no further obligations to pay once the contributions have been paid.
The contribution constitutes from 2% to 4% of the employees' salary.

Auditor
Auditor's fee relates to the following services (exclusive of vat):
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The figures above do not include the option program. See below for further information.
No loan or gurarantee has been provided for CEO or any of the members of the Board of Directors.
The CEO is included in the company's pension agreement, cf mentioned below.
According to the agreement, 20% of gross salary is allocated annually and the liability amounts to per 31.12.2018 TNOK 1.417 (TNOK 1.007 per 31.12.2017)
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The market value of the contributions/assets was var TNOK 4.047 per 31.12.2018 (TNOK 4.127 per 31.12.2017).
Gross liability per 31.12.2018 is calculated to TNOK 6 587 related to these four persons (TNOK 6 149 per 31.12.2017).
Net liability is thus TNOK 3.486 per 31.12.2018 (TNOK 3.048 per 31.12.2017), and is classified as pension liability in the balance sheet.

In addition the company has established a defined contribution pension scheme for its employees.
The company pays fixed contributions to an insurance company. The company has no further obligations to pay once the contributions have been paid.
The contribution constitutes from 2% to 4% of the employees' salary.
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Auditor's fee relates to the following services (exclusive of vat):
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Note 15 ⁄⁄ Wage costs, number of employees, remunerations, loans to employees etc. – Group 

Note 16 Other current liabilities - group

(Figures in TNOK)

Other current liabilities per 31.12: 2018 2017
Incurred costs regarding wages/pay etc. (Denmark) 43 645 41 027
Prepayment from customers 63 112 59 804
Incurred interests and guarantee commission 17 854 22 315
Provision for other incurred costs 26 764 24 191
Other current liabilities 31.12. 151 373 147 337

Note 17 Refund of advance payment - group

On 31 August 2011  Fjord Line AS entered into a contract where the operation of the tax free activity
onboard the two ships "MS Bergensfjord" and "MS Stavangerfjord" was outsourced to the contracting party. 
The two ships were delivered in July 2013 and in January 2014.

According to the original contract Fjord Line AS should receive a commission based on turnover among other things after the operation of the tax-free activity had started.
The contract period was  5 years from delivery of the last ship, that is till January 2019.
In addition Fjord Line AS received a consideration of  MNOK 50 according to the contract on 9 January 2012.

The income related to the mentioned payment of MNOK 50 was basically recognised by Fjord Line AS as earned, i.e. over the maturity of the contract.
Thus a liability/unearned income of MNOK 50 was recognised in the balance sheet per 31.12.2012.
In 2015 Fjord Line group recognised as income MNOK 10 related to this payment. It was classified as sales revenues in the income statement for 2015.
Book value 31.12.2015 of unearned income was MNOK 28.3 - partly classified as current debt and partly as non-current debt.

According to the contract the pricipal amount should be repaid pro rata in case the contract was terminated before expiry of the five year period
Fjord Line has a strategy involving to insource the core activity.  On this background an agreement was negotiated in March 2016 implying that Fjord Line
takes over the tax-free activity on these ships with effect from 31 August 2016.  
Remaining unearned income per 31 August 2016 has been agreed to be repaid through four installments within eighteen months.
The installments that are to be paid after 31.12.2017 are classified as current liabilities per 31.12.2017 (TNOK 6.295)

Change in carrying value of the items "refund advance payment" for 2017 (current and non-current) appears as follow:
Carrying value 31.12.2017 of the items "Refund advance payment": 18 884 TNOK (non-current and current item)
Refund and reversal allocation in 2018 -18 884 TNOK
Carrying value 31.12.2018 of the items "Refund advance payment": 0 TNOK (current item)

Note 16 Other current liabilities - group

(Figures in TNOK)

Other current liabilities per 31.12: 2018 2017
Incurred costs regarding wages/pay etc. (Denmark) 43 645 41 027
Prepayment from customers 63 112 59 804
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Remaining unearned income per 31 August 2016 has been agreed to be repaid through four installments within eighteen months.
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Note 17 ⁄⁄ Refund of advance payment – Group 

Note 16 ⁄⁄ Other current liabilities – Group 
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Note 18 ⁄⁄ NOx-grants – Group Note 18 NOx-grants - group

The ship "MS Stavangerfjord" was delivered in July 2013, and the ship "MS Bergensfjord" was delivered in January 2014.
Because the ships are gas powered (LNG), with related low emission, Fjord Line AS was granted a contribution from the NOx-fund.
Per 31.12.2014 contributions of MNOK 147,2 in total were paid to Fjord Line AS connected to these projects. 
As a condition for the grant Fjord Line AS has been obliged to use "MS Stavangerfjord" and "MS Bergensfjord" in NOx-liable waters for at least 2 years
from time of delivery.

Fjord Line AS received 0 MNOK in NOx-grants in 2018 (0 MNOK in 2017).

In the 2018-accounts MNOK 5,4 of the grants have been recorded (5,4 MNOK in 2017). The amount is classified as reduction of depreciation in the income statement.
The recording of the NOx-grants through profit or loss is accrued in line with the depreciation profile of the operating assets that the grants relate to.

Below is a list of accounting values (figures in TNOK)

Total received grants 01.01.2014 38 200 A
Received grants 2014 112 945 B
Total received grants 31.12.2014 151 145 C (A+B)
Grants recognised through profit and loss 2013 -857 D
Grants recognised through profit and loss 2014 -4 318 E
Grants received, not recognised through profit and loss 31.12.2014 145 970 F (C + D + E)
Grants received 2015 3 914 G
Total received grants 31.12.2015 155 059 H (C + G)
Grants recognised through profit and loss 2015 -5 278 I
Accumulated grants recognised through profit and loss 31.12.2015 -10 453 J (D + E + I)
Grants received, not recognised through profit and loss 31.12.2015 144 606 K (H + J)
Grants received 2016 11 750 L
Total received grant 31.12.2016 166 809 M (H + L)
Grants recognised through profit and loss 2016 -6 128 N
Accumulated grants recognised through profit and loss 31.12.2016 -16 581 O (J + N)
Grants received, not recognised through profit and loss 31.12.2016 150 228 P (M + O)
Grants received 2017 0 Q
Total received grant 31.12.2017 166 809 R (M + Q)
Grants recognised through profit and loss 2017 -5 469 T
Accumulated grants recognised through profit and loss 31.12.2017 -22 050 U (O + T)
Grants received, not recognised through profit and loss 31.12.2017 144 759 V (R + U)
Grants received 2018 0 W
Total received grant 31.12.2018 166 809 X (R + W)
Grants recognised through profit and loss 2018 -5 469 Y
Accumulated grants recognised through profit and loss 31.12.2018 -27 519 Z (U + Y)
Grants received, not recognised through profit and loss 31.12.2018 139 290 V (R + U)

Note 20 Derivatives  - group

Fjord Line has the following financial contracts connected to fuel:
i)  MGO (Marine Gas Oil), delivery in 2019 - 2021 
ii) LNG (the ships Bergensfjord and Stavangerfjord), delivery in 2019 - 2021

The derivatives are recognised in the balance sheet at fair value at the time of entering into the contracts and then continuously at fair value.  
Derivatives entered prior to 2018 are not included as part of the recognised hedge and the value change is recognised through gains/losses as "other gains/losses (net").

Items not included in the company's recognised hedge have the following values at the balance sheet date:
Derivatives related to MGO has delivery in the period 2019.
Fair value of these derivatives per 31.12.2018 is TNOK -148 (TNOK 9.600 per 31.12.2017).
The contracts are classified as current liabilities.

The derivatives related to LNG has delivery in the period 2019-2021. 
Fair value of these derivatives per 31.12.2018 is TNOK 16.073 (TNOK 8.300 per 31.12.2017).
From this amount TNOK 12.200 delivers in 2019 and are classified as current assets, and TNOK 3.873 are classified as fixed assets. 

The contract entered during 2018 are entirely considered as hedges and are recognised as follows.

The derivatives related to MGO has delivery in the period 2019-2021.
Fair value of these derivatives per 31.12.2018 is TNOK 23.824.
From this amount TNOK 4.169 delivers in 2019 and are classified as current assets, and TNOK 19.656 are classified as fixed assets. 

The derivatives related to LNG has delivery in the period 2019-2021.
Fair value of these derivatives per 31.12.2018 is TNOK 5.642.
From this amount TNOK 382 delivers in 2019 and are classified as current assets, and TNOK 5.260 are classified as fixed assets. 

The group has also entered into a interest rate hedge agreement related to its external financing. As described in the accounting principle note, the group follows 
hegde accounting linked to these contracts. At the balance sheet date, the net value of future contracts amounts to TNOK -43.870 and is classified as long-term debt.
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Note 19 ⁄⁄ Derivatives – Group 

Note 18 NOx-grants - group

The ship "MS Stavangerfjord" was delivered in July 2013, and the ship "MS Bergensfjord" was delivered in January 2014.
Because the ships are gas powered (LNG), with related low emission, Fjord Line AS was granted a contribution from the NOx-fund.
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from time of delivery.
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In the 2018-accounts MNOK 5,4 of the grants have been recorded (5,4 MNOK in 2017). The amount is classified as reduction of depreciation in the income statement.
The recording of the NOx-grants through profit or loss is accrued in line with the depreciation profile of the operating assets that the grants relate to.

Below is a list of accounting values (figures in TNOK)

Total received grants 01.01.2014 38 200 A
Received grants 2014 112 945 B
Total received grants 31.12.2014 151 145 C (A+B)
Grants recognised through profit and loss 2013 -857 D
Grants recognised through profit and loss 2014 -4 318 E
Grants received, not recognised through profit and loss 31.12.2014 145 970 F (C + D + E)
Grants received 2015 3 914 G
Total received grants 31.12.2015 155 059 H (C + G)
Grants recognised through profit and loss 2015 -5 278 I
Accumulated grants recognised through profit and loss 31.12.2015 -10 453 J (D + E + I)
Grants received, not recognised through profit and loss 31.12.2015 144 606 K (H + J)
Grants received 2016 11 750 L
Total received grant 31.12.2016 166 809 M (H + L)
Grants recognised through profit and loss 2016 -6 128 N
Accumulated grants recognised through profit and loss 31.12.2016 -16 581 O (J + N)
Grants received, not recognised through profit and loss 31.12.2016 150 228 P (M + O)
Grants received 2017 0 Q
Total received grant 31.12.2017 166 809 R (M + Q)
Grants recognised through profit and loss 2017 -5 469 T
Accumulated grants recognised through profit and loss 31.12.2017 -22 050 U (O + T)
Grants received, not recognised through profit and loss 31.12.2017 144 759 V (R + U)
Grants received 2018 0 W
Total received grant 31.12.2018 166 809 X (R + W)
Grants recognised through profit and loss 2018 -5 469 Y
Accumulated grants recognised through profit and loss 31.12.2018 -27 519 Z (U + Y)
Grants received, not recognised through profit and loss 31.12.2018 139 290 V (R + U)

Note 20 Derivatives  - group

Fjord Line has the following financial contracts connected to fuel:
i)  MGO (Marine Gas Oil), delivery in 2019 - 2021 
ii) LNG (the ships Bergensfjord and Stavangerfjord), delivery in 2019 - 2021

The derivatives are recognised in the balance sheet at fair value at the time of entering into the contracts and then continuously at fair value.  
Derivatives entered prior to 2018 are not included as part of the recognised hedge and the value change is recognised through gains/losses as "other gains/losses (net").

Items not included in the company's recognised hedge have the following values at the balance sheet date:
Derivatives related to MGO has delivery in the period 2019.
Fair value of these derivatives per 31.12.2018 is TNOK -148 (TNOK 9.600 per 31.12.2017).
The contracts are classified as current liabilities.

The derivatives related to LNG has delivery in the period 2019-2021. 
Fair value of these derivatives per 31.12.2018 is TNOK 16.073 (TNOK 8.300 per 31.12.2017).
From this amount TNOK 12.200 delivers in 2019 and are classified as current assets, and TNOK 3.873 are classified as fixed assets. 

The contract entered during 2018 are entirely considered as hedges and are recognised as follows.

The derivatives related to MGO has delivery in the period 2019-2021.
Fair value of these derivatives per 31.12.2018 is TNOK 23.824.
From this amount TNOK 4.169 delivers in 2019 and are classified as current assets, and TNOK 19.656 are classified as fixed assets. 

The derivatives related to LNG has delivery in the period 2019-2021.
Fair value of these derivatives per 31.12.2018 is TNOK 5.642.
From this amount TNOK 382 delivers in 2019 and are classified as current assets, and TNOK 5.260 are classified as fixed assets. 

The group has also entered into a interest rate hedge agreement related to its external financing. As described in the accounting principle note, the group follows 
hegde accounting linked to these contracts. At the balance sheet date, the net value of future contracts amounts to TNOK -43.870 and is classified as long-term debt.
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Fjord Line AS - Income statement
(1,000 NOK)

Note Parent company Parent company
2018 2017

NGAAP NGAAP
Operating income:
Sales revenues 14 1 505 870 1 328 524
Other operating income 14, 19 30 657 22 383
Total operating income 14 1 536 527 1 350 907

Operating expenses:
Cost of goods 357 284 276 066
Wage costs 17 100 729 91 951
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 1, 2 9 466 5 306
Other operating expenses 3, 6, 7, 17 975 917 929 037
Total operating expenses 1 443 396 1 302 360

Operating result 93 131 48 547

Financial items:
Interest income 11, 18 100 810 83 586
Income from investment in subsidiaries 4, 11 0 38 483
Other financial income 9 114 239 138 169
Intergroup guarantee expense 18 -24 471 -22 592
Interest expenses 16, 18 -102 724 -88 071
Other financial expenses 9, 16 -127 222 -174 197
Net financial items -39 368 -24 622

Ordinary result before tax 53 763 23 925

Tax expense on ordinary result 15 -53 000 -75 000

Ordinary result after tax 106 763 98 925

Result for the year 106 763 98 925

Allocation of the result
Transferred to other equity/uncovered loss 106 763 98 925
Total 106 763 98 925

INCOME STATEMENT – FJORD LINE AS (PARENT COMPANY)
(1,000 NOK)

Parent company
2017

NGAAP

Parent company
2018

NGAAPNote
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Balanse Fjord Line AS (morselskap), 
per 31. desember 2018 – alle tall i TNOK Fjord Line AS - Balance sheet per 31 December

(1,000 NOK)

ASSETS Note Parent company Parent company
31.12.2018 31.12.2017

NGAAP NGAAP
Fixed assets
Intangible assets
WEB-project, concept development etc. 1 70 557 38 729
Deferred tax asset 15 178 000 125 000
Total intangible assets 248 557 163 729

Property, plant and equipment
Buildings and plants 2 7 035 6 600
Movables, equipment, improvements ships etc. 2 247 0
Total property, plant and equipment 2 7 282 6 600

Financial fixed assets
Investment in subsidiary 4 992 642 992 642
Financial receivables 11, 18 1 987 706 1 788 977
Other investments, incl. shares in associate 5 80 80
Total financial fixed assets 2 980 428 2 781 699

Total fixed assets 3 236 267 2 952 028

Current assests
Inventory 6 21 976 25 195

Receivables
Trade receivables 7 43 579 39 719
Intergroup balances 11 0 61 465
Other current receivables 8 32 277 14 990
Total receivables 75 856 116 174

Bank deposit, cash etc. 10 70 640 146 829

Total current assets 168 472 288 198

Total assets 3 404 739 3 240 226

BALANCE SHEET– FJORD LINE AS (PARENT COMPANY)
per 31 Desember 2018 – (1,000 NOK)

Assets
Parent company

31.12.2017
NGAAP

Parent company
31.12.2018

NGAAPNote
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Peter Frølich
Chairman of the Board

Frode Teigen
Board Member

Kaj Frediksen
Board Member

Kristian Eikre
Board Member

Kristian Falnes
Board Member

Rickard Ternblom
CEO

Fjord Line - Balance sheet per 31 December
(1,000 NOK)

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Note Parent company Parent company
31.12.2018 31.12.2017

NGAAP NGAAP
EQUITY
Paid-in equity
Share capital 12, 13 519 107 519 107
Own shares 12 -9 -9
Share premium account 12 178 227 178 227
Total paid-in equity 12 697 325 697 325

Retained earnings
Other equity/Uncovered loss 12 -12 768 -119 488
Total retained earnings -12 768 -119 488

Total equity 12 684 557 577 837

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities/non-current provisions
Bond debt 16 0 74 000
Non-current debt to credit institutions etc. 16 2 408 955 2 270 334
Received, not recognised contribution 19 92 829 98 298
Pension liability 17 3 486 3 048
Total non-current liabilities/non-current provisions 2 505 270 2 445 680

Current liabilities
Debt to credit institutions 0 0
Trade payables 82 137 78 312
Refund previous advance payment 19 0 6 295
Tax payable 15 0 0
Public duties owing 7 173 8 121
Intergroup balances 11 0 18 571
Other current liabilities 16 125 602 105 410
Total current liabilities 214 912 216 709

Total liabilities 2 720 182 2 662 389

Total equity and liabilities 3 404 739 3 240 226

Egersund, 26 April 2019

BALANCE SHEET– FJORD LINE AS (PARENT COMPANY)
per 31 Desember 2018 – (1,000 NOK)

Equity and Liabilities
Parent company

31.12.2017
NGAAP

Parent company
31.12.2018

NGAAPNote
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Cash flow statement - parent company
(TNOK)

2018 2017
Cash flows from operational activities
Result before tax expense 53 763 23 925
Taxes paid in the period 0 0
Depreciation 9 466 5 306
Write-downs 0 0
Change in inventories 3 219 1 827
Change in trade receivables -75 428 -5 591
Change in trade payables 5 715 28 618
Gain/loss from sale of operating assets/intangible assets 0 0
Change in other accurals, incl. net agio and non-current balances 103 687 4 519
Net cash flows from operational activities 100 422 58 604
  
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 0 0
Purchase/manufacturing of property, plant and equipment/intangible assets -42 503 -27 610
Loan to subsidiary -198 729 -139 371
Investment in subsidiary 0 -641
Net cash flows from investing activities -241 232 -167 622
  
Cash flows from financing activities
Raising of interest bearing debt (net) 138 621 279 689
Payment of interest bearing debt -74 000 -136 386
Cash contribution share issue (net) 0 0
Net cash flows from financing activities 64 621 143 303
  
Net change in cash and cash equivalents -76 189 34 285

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 146 829 112 544
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 70 640 146 829

Specification of cash reserves at the end of the period
Bank deposit and cash 70 640 146 829

Cash flow statement - parent company
(TNOK)

2018 2017
Cash flows from operational activities
Result before tax expense 53 763 23 925
Taxes paid in the period 0 0
Depreciation 9 466 5 306
Write-downs 0 0
Change in inventories 3 219 1 827
Change in trade receivables -75 428 -5 591
Change in trade payables 5 715 28 618
Gain/loss from sale of operating assets/intangible assets 0 0
Change in other accurals, incl. net agio and non-current balances 103 687 4 519
Net cash flows from operational activities 100 422 58 604
  
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 0 0
Purchase/manufacturing of property, plant and equipment/intangible assets -42 503 -27 610
Loan to subsidiary -198 729 -139 371
Investment in subsidiary 0 -641
Net cash flows from investing activities -241 232 -167 622
  
Cash flows from financing activities
Raising of interest bearing debt (net) 138 621 279 689
Payment of interest bearing debt -74 000 -136 386
Cash contribution share issue (net) 0 0
Net cash flows from financing activities 64 621 143 303
  
Net change in cash and cash equivalents -76 189 34 285

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 146 829 112 544
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 70 640 146 829

Specification of cash reserves at the end of the period
Bank deposit and cash 70 640 146 829

CASH FLOW STATEMENT – FJORD LINE AS (PARENT COMPANY)
per 31 Desember 2018 – (1,000 NOK)
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Accounting policies
FJORD LINE AS (PARENT COMPANY)

The financial statements have been prepared in accor-
dance with the Accounting Act and generally accepted 
accounting principles in Norway. 

SALES REVENUES 
Sale of goods is recognisedin the income statement at 
the time of delivery. Time of delivery means the time of 
transfer of risk and control connected to the delivered 
goods. Services, including sale of travels and freight, are 
recognised as executed. The portion of the sales income, 
which relates to future service work is reflected in the bal-
ance sheet as unearned income from the sale and is then 
recognised in line with the service work performed.

CLASSIFICATION AND VALUATION  
OF BALANCE SHEET ITEMS 

Assets intended for long term ownership or use have 
been classified as fixed assets. Assets relating to the 
trading cycle have been classified as current assets.  
Receivables are classified as current assets if they are 
to be repaid within one year after the transaction date. 
Similar criteria apply to liabilities.
 Current assets are valued at the lower of acquisition 
cost and net realizable value. Current liabilities are  
reflected in the balance sheet at nominal value on the 
establishment date.
 Fixed assets are valued at acquisition cost.Property, 
plant and equipment whose value will deteriorate are 
depreciated on a straight line basis over the asset’s  
estimated useful life. The fixed assets are subject to 
impairment to net realizable value if a value reduction 
occurs which is not believed to be temporary. The im-
pairment is reversed to the extent that the reason for the 
impairment is no longer present. Non-current liabilities 
are reflected in the balance sheet at nominal value at the 
establishment date. 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
Expenses for intangible assets are reflected in the  
balance sheet when it is considered likely that the future 
financial benefits relating to the asset will be received by 
the company and the acquisition cost of the asset can  
be reliably measured. 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
Property, plant and equipment are reflected in the  
balance sheet and depreciated over the assets’ expected 
useful life on a straight-line basis provided they have an 
expected useful life of more than 3 years and a cost price 
exceeding NOK 15,000.Direct maintenance of an asset is 
recognisedunder operating expenses as and when it  
is incurred. Additions or improvements are added to the 
asset’s cost price and depreciated together with the as-
set. The split between maintenance and additions/ 
improvements are determined based on the asset’s  
condition at the acquisition date. 

LEASING 
A leasing agreement is classified as financial or  
operational lease in accordance with the contents of the 
individual agreement. The agreement is classified as 
financial lease if the major part of financial risk and  
control connected to the underlying lease object has 
been transferred to the lessee. Other leasing agreements 
are classified as operational. Operational assets in leasing 
agreements assessed as financial lease are activated in 
the balance sheet at the value of the compensation in the 
leasing agreement and depreciated as property, plant and 
equipment. The principal portion of the leasing liability is 
recorded as non-current liabilities. The liability is reduced 
with lease paid less deduction for calculated interest 
expense. The lease payments are treated as an operating 
expense which is distributed over the total leasing period 
for agreements that are classified as operational. 

SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATED COMPANIES  
AND JOINT VENTURES 

Subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures 
are assessed inaccordancewith the cost method
in the company accounts.The investment is valued at  
acquisition cost for the shares,unless impairment has 
been necessary. Dividend from the subsidiaries is  
recognisedas income to the extent accumulated dividend 
exceeds accumulated result in the owner period.
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TRADE RECEIVABLES 
Trade receivables and other receivablesare reflectedin  
the balance sheet at nominal value after deduction of 
provision forbad debts. Provision for bad debtsis made 
based on individual assessment of each receivable. 

CURRENT INVESTMENTS 
Current investments (including shares and derivatives 
valued as current assets) are considered to be trading 
portfolio and are valued at fair value at the balance sheet 
date. Unrealizedgain/loss is recognised in the  
income statement under financial items. Dividend and 
other contributions are recognised as other financial 
income. 

HEDGING 
Derivatives valuedas hedging are recognised in the  
balance sheet at acquisition cost. This corresponds to fair 
value at the time of entering into the derivative contracts.
The derivatives are recognised through profitor loss when 
delivered and classified in the income statement on the 
same line as the underling hedging object. 

MONETARY ITEMS IN FOREIGN CURRENCY 
Monetaryitems in foreign exchange are valued at the 
exchange rate at the end of the accounting year.
Hedge accounting is not used. Transactions in foreign 
currency areconverted into the functionalcurrency (NOK) 
at the current exchange rate atthe transaction date.
 Further information is disclosed in notes to the finan-
cial statement.

TAX 
The tax expense in the income statement comprises both 
payable taxes for the period and changes in
deferred tax/deferred tax asset. Maximum deferred tax 
asset is calculated based on 23% of total basis
for the temporary differences existing between  
accounting and tax values at the end of the accounting
year and carry forward loss for tax purposes. Deferred  
tax asset is recognised in the balance sheet to
the extent that carry forward loss for tax purposes and 
other positions are expected to be used against
future earnings. Further information is disclosed in notes. 

OPTIONS FOR EMPLOYEES 
When granting options to the employees a valuation of 
the options is performedat grant date.
 Calculated amount is expensedas wages over the 
term, set off against equity. 

GRANTS 
Grants from the NOx-fund related to investments are 
recognised in the income statement/accrued in line with 
the depreciation profile of the operating assets that the 
grants relate to. Grants not recognised in the income 
statement have been recognised as non-current lia- 
bilities/allocation.Further information about accounting 
treatment and numerical effects is disclosed in notes  
to the financial statements.

PENSIONS 
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under  
which the group pays fixed contributions to an insurance 
company. The group has no legal or constructive obliga-
tions once the contributions have been paid. The contri-
butions are recognised as wage costs. A defined benefit 
plan is a pension plan that is not a defined contribution 
plan. Typically defined benefit plans define an amount  
of pension benefit that an employee will receive on  
retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors 
such as age, years of service and compensation. The 
liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of 
defined benefit plans is the present value of the defined 
benefit obligationat the balance sheet date.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
The cash flow statements are reported gross from in-
vesting and financing activities, whereas the accounting 
result is reconciled against net cash flow from operational 
activities. Cash and cash equivalents include cash and 
bank deposits.
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Note 1 Intangible assets - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

Intangible 
assets in 
progress

WEB-projects 
etc.

Concept 
development 
and market 

projects
Other intangible 

assets
Total intangible 

assets

Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 0 39 472 902 1 903 42 276
Completed projects 2018 0 0 0 0
Additons 2018 33 810 6 472 40 282
Disposal 2018 0 0 0
Acquisition cost 31.12.2018 33 810 45 944 902 1 903 82 558

Accumulated write-down 31.12.2017 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2017 0 4 498 792 1 196 6 486
Book value 31.12.2017 0 34 974 109 707 35 790
Accumulated write-down 31.12.2018 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2018 0 9 703 889 1 408 12 000
Book value 31.12.2018 33 810 36 241 12 495 70 558

Depreciation in the year 0 5 206 97 211 5 514
Write-down in the year 0 0 0 0
Total depreciation and write-down  2018 0 5 206 97 211 5 514

Intangible assets cost relates mainly to the development of our new ERP systemt Dynanmics 365, phase two.
Termination 31.03.2019

The new WEB-projects in 2018 are New front-end booking system. The system is developed to give our customers a simplified and user friendly digital
bookingsolution. The system was launched in 2018. Another new Web project is the new ERP system Dynamics 365. The system was put in to use in 2018
and includes phase 1 in the project. Phase 2 of the ERP system was in 2018 under development and is included as a intangible asset. The deprecation period 
here is 10 years. The remaining WEB projects refer to development costs related to development of WEB-pages and WEB-platform including new graphic
profile and link to the booking system. The deprecation period here is 3-5 years.

Other intangible assets comprise among other things development of keycard system that is installed onboard
the ships MS Bergensfjord and MS Stavangerfjord. Depreciation period is 5-10 years.

Note 2 Property, plant and equipment - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

Property, plant and equipment (figures in TNOK)
Terminal, 
buildings

Equipment,  
machinery 

onshore etc.
Means of 
transport

Total property, 
plant and 

equipment

Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 10 361 7 763 0 18 124
Addition 2018 748 1 137 337 2 221
Disposal 2018 0 0 0 0
Acquisition cost 31.12.2018 11 109 8 900 337 20 346

Accumulated write-down 31.12.2017 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2017 5 684 3 406 0 9 090
Book value 31.12.2017 4 677 4 357 0 9 034
Accumulated write-down 31.12.2018 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2018 8 280 4 694 90 13 064
Book value 31.12.2018 2 829 4 206 247 7 282

Depreciation in the year 2 596 1 288 90 3 974
Write-down in the year 0 0 0 0

Depreciation period (completed operating assets) 5 - 10 years 3 - 5 years 5 years
Depreciation plan Linear Linear Linear

In 2018 the book value TNOK 2,2 relates to reconstruction of terminals and other small projects associated to operations in Bergenfjord and Stavangerfjord.
This has been classified as buildings and plants in the balance sheet and depreciation period is 5 years.

Note 1 Intangible assets - parent company
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Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 0 39 472 902 1 903 42 276
Completed projects 2018 0 0 0 0
Additons 2018 33 810 6 472 40 282
Disposal 2018 0 0 0
Acquisition cost 31.12.2018 33 810 45 944 902 1 903 82 558

Accumulated write-down 31.12.2017 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2017 0 4 498 792 1 196 6 486
Book value 31.12.2017 0 34 974 109 707 35 790
Accumulated write-down 31.12.2018 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2018 0 9 703 889 1 408 12 000
Book value 31.12.2018 33 810 36 241 12 495 70 558

Depreciation in the year 0 5 206 97 211 5 514
Write-down in the year 0 0 0 0
Total depreciation and write-down  2018 0 5 206 97 211 5 514

Intangible assets cost relates mainly to the development of our new ERP systemt Dynanmics 365, phase two.
Termination 31.03.2019

The new WEB-projects in 2018 are New front-end booking system. The system is developed to give our customers a simplified and user friendly digital
bookingsolution. The system was launched in 2018. Another new Web project is the new ERP system Dynamics 365. The system was put in to use in 2018
and includes phase 1 in the project. Phase 2 of the ERP system was in 2018 under development and is included as a intangible asset. The deprecation period 
here is 10 years. The remaining WEB projects refer to development costs related to development of WEB-pages and WEB-platform including new graphic
profile and link to the booking system. The deprecation period here is 3-5 years.

Other intangible assets comprise among other things development of keycard system that is installed onboard
the ships MS Bergensfjord and MS Stavangerfjord. Depreciation period is 5-10 years.

Note 2 Property, plant and equipment - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

Property, plant and equipment (figures in TNOK)
Terminal, 
buildings

Equipment,  
machinery 

onshore etc.
Means of 
transport

Total property, 
plant and 

equipment

Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 10 361 7 763 0 18 124
Addition 2018 748 1 137 337 2 221
Disposal 2018 0 0 0 0
Acquisition cost 31.12.2018 11 109 8 900 337 20 346

Accumulated write-down 31.12.2017 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2017 5 684 3 406 0 9 090
Book value 31.12.2017 4 677 4 357 0 9 034
Accumulated write-down 31.12.2018 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2018 8 280 4 694 90 13 064
Book value 31.12.2018 2 829 4 206 247 7 282

Depreciation in the year 2 596 1 288 90 3 974
Write-down in the year 0 0 0 0

Depreciation period (completed operating assets) 5 - 10 years 3 - 5 years 5 years
Depreciation plan Linear Linear Linear

In 2018 the book value TNOK 2,2 relates to reconstruction of terminals and other small projects associated to operations in Bergenfjord and Stavangerfjord.
This has been classified as buildings and plants in the balance sheet and depreciation period is 5 years.

Notes
FJORD LINE AS – PARENT COMPANY

Note 1 ⁄⁄ Intangible assets – Parent company 



58

 Notes ⁄⁄ Fjord Line Annual Report 2018

Note 1 Intangible assets - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

Intangible 
assets in 
progress

WEB-projects 
etc.

Concept 
development 
and market 

projects
Other intangible 

assets
Total intangible 

assets

Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 0 39 472 902 1 903 42 276
Completed projects 2018 0 0 0 0
Additons 2018 33 810 6 472 40 282
Disposal 2018 0 0 0
Acquisition cost 31.12.2018 33 810 45 944 902 1 903 82 558

Accumulated write-down 31.12.2017 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2017 0 4 498 792 1 196 6 486
Book value 31.12.2017 0 34 974 109 707 35 790
Accumulated write-down 31.12.2018 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2018 0 9 703 889 1 408 12 000
Book value 31.12.2018 33 810 36 241 12 495 70 558

Depreciation in the year 0 5 206 97 211 5 514
Write-down in the year 0 0 0 0
Total depreciation and write-down  2018 0 5 206 97 211 5 514

Intangible assets cost relates mainly to the development of our new ERP systemt Dynanmics 365, phase two.
Termination 31.03.2019

The new WEB-projects in 2018 are New front-end booking system. The system is developed to give our customers a simplified and user friendly digital
bookingsolution. The system was launched in 2018. Another new Web project is the new ERP system Dynamics 365. The system was put in to use in 2018
and includes phase 1 in the project. Phase 2 of the ERP system was in 2018 under development and is included as a intangible asset. The deprecation period 
here is 10 years. The remaining WEB projects refer to development costs related to development of WEB-pages and WEB-platform including new graphic
profile and link to the booking system. The deprecation period here is 3-5 years.

Other intangible assets comprise among other things development of keycard system that is installed onboard
the ships MS Bergensfjord and MS Stavangerfjord. Depreciation period is 5-10 years.

Note 2 Property, plant and equipment - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

Property, plant and equipment (figures in TNOK)
Terminal, 
buildings

Equipment,  
machinery 

onshore etc.
Means of 
transport

Total property, 
plant and 

equipment

Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 10 361 7 763 0 18 124
Addition 2018 748 1 137 337 2 221
Disposal 2018 0 0 0 0
Acquisition cost 31.12.2018 11 109 8 900 337 20 346

Accumulated write-down 31.12.2017 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2017 5 684 3 406 0 9 090
Book value 31.12.2017 4 677 4 357 0 9 034
Accumulated write-down 31.12.2018 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2018 8 280 4 694 90 13 064
Book value 31.12.2018 2 829 4 206 247 7 282

Depreciation in the year 2 596 1 288 90 3 974
Write-down in the year 0 0 0 0

Depreciation period (completed operating assets) 5 - 10 years 3 - 5 years 5 years
Depreciation plan Linear Linear Linear

In 2018 the book value TNOK 2,2 relates to reconstruction of terminals and other small projects associated to operations in Bergenfjord and Stavangerfjord.
This has been classified as buildings and plants in the balance sheet and depreciation period is 5 years.

Note 1 Intangible assets - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

Intangible 
assets in 
progress

WEB-projects 
etc.

Concept 
development 
and market 

projects
Other intangible 

assets
Total intangible 

assets

Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 0 39 472 902 1 903 42 276
Completed projects 2018 0 0 0 0
Additons 2018 33 810 6 472 40 282
Disposal 2018 0 0 0
Acquisition cost 31.12.2018 33 810 45 944 902 1 903 82 558

Accumulated write-down 31.12.2017 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2017 0 4 498 792 1 196 6 486
Book value 31.12.2017 0 34 974 109 707 35 790
Accumulated write-down 31.12.2018 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2018 0 9 703 889 1 408 12 000
Book value 31.12.2018 33 810 36 241 12 495 70 558

Depreciation in the year 0 5 206 97 211 5 514
Write-down in the year 0 0 0 0
Total depreciation and write-down  2018 0 5 206 97 211 5 514

Intangible assets cost relates mainly to the development of our new ERP systemt Dynanmics 365, phase two.
Termination 31.03.2019

The new WEB-projects in 2018 are New front-end booking system. The system is developed to give our customers a simplified and user friendly digital
bookingsolution. The system was launched in 2018. Another new Web project is the new ERP system Dynamics 365. The system was put in to use in 2018
and includes phase 1 in the project. Phase 2 of the ERP system was in 2018 under development and is included as a intangible asset. The deprecation period 
here is 10 years. The remaining WEB projects refer to development costs related to development of WEB-pages and WEB-platform including new graphic
profile and link to the booking system. The deprecation period here is 3-5 years.

Other intangible assets comprise among other things development of keycard system that is installed onboard
the ships MS Bergensfjord and MS Stavangerfjord. Depreciation period is 5-10 years.

Note 2 Property, plant and equipment - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

Property, plant and equipment (figures in TNOK)
Terminal, 
buildings

Equipment,  
machinery 

onshore etc.
Means of 
transport

Total property, 
plant and 

equipment

Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 10 361 7 763 0 18 124
Addition 2018 748 1 137 337 2 221
Disposal 2018 0 0 0 0
Acquisition cost 31.12.2018 11 109 8 900 337 20 346

Accumulated write-down 31.12.2017 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2017 5 684 3 406 0 9 090
Book value 31.12.2017 4 677 4 357 0 9 034
Accumulated write-down 31.12.2018 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2018 8 280 4 694 90 13 064
Book value 31.12.2018 2 829 4 206 247 7 282

Depreciation in the year 2 596 1 288 90 3 974
Write-down in the year 0 0 0 0

Depreciation period (completed operating assets) 5 - 10 years 3 - 5 years 5 years
Depreciation plan Linear Linear Linear

In 2018 the book value TNOK 2,2 relates to reconstruction of terminals and other small projects associated to operations in Bergenfjord and Stavangerfjord.
This has been classified as buildings and plants in the balance sheet and depreciation period is 5 years.

Note 1 Intangible assets - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

Intangible 
assets in 
progress

WEB-projects 
etc.

Concept 
development 
and market 

projects
Other intangible 

assets
Total intangible 

assets

Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 0 39 472 902 1 903 42 276
Completed projects 2018 0 0 0 0
Additons 2018 33 810 6 472 40 282
Disposal 2018 0 0 0
Acquisition cost 31.12.2018 33 810 45 944 902 1 903 82 558

Accumulated write-down 31.12.2017 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2017 0 4 498 792 1 196 6 486
Book value 31.12.2017 0 34 974 109 707 35 790
Accumulated write-down 31.12.2018 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2018 0 9 703 889 1 408 12 000
Book value 31.12.2018 33 810 36 241 12 495 70 558

Depreciation in the year 0 5 206 97 211 5 514
Write-down in the year 0 0 0 0
Total depreciation and write-down  2018 0 5 206 97 211 5 514

Intangible assets cost relates mainly to the development of our new ERP systemt Dynanmics 365, phase two.
Termination 31.03.2019

The new WEB-projects in 2018 are New front-end booking system. The system is developed to give our customers a simplified and user friendly digital
bookingsolution. The system was launched in 2018. Another new Web project is the new ERP system Dynamics 365. The system was put in to use in 2018
and includes phase 1 in the project. Phase 2 of the ERP system was in 2018 under development and is included as a intangible asset. The deprecation period 
here is 10 years. The remaining WEB projects refer to development costs related to development of WEB-pages and WEB-platform including new graphic
profile and link to the booking system. The deprecation period here is 3-5 years.

Other intangible assets comprise among other things development of keycard system that is installed onboard
the ships MS Bergensfjord and MS Stavangerfjord. Depreciation period is 5-10 years.

Note 2 Property, plant and equipment - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

Property, plant and equipment (figures in TNOK)
Terminal, 
buildings

Equipment,  
machinery 

onshore etc.
Means of 
transport

Total property, 
plant and 

equipment

Acquisition cost 31.12.2017 10 361 7 763 0 18 124
Addition 2018 748 1 137 337 2 221
Disposal 2018 0 0 0 0
Acquisition cost 31.12.2018 11 109 8 900 337 20 346

Accumulated write-down 31.12.2017 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2017 5 684 3 406 0 9 090
Book value 31.12.2017 4 677 4 357 0 9 034
Accumulated write-down 31.12.2018 0 0 0 0
Accumulated depreciation 31.12.2018 8 280 4 694 90 13 064
Book value 31.12.2018 2 829 4 206 247 7 282

Depreciation in the year 2 596 1 288 90 3 974
Write-down in the year 0 0 0 0

Depreciation period (completed operating assets) 5 - 10 years 3 - 5 years 5 years
Depreciation plan Linear Linear Linear

In 2018 the book value TNOK 2,2 relates to reconstruction of terminals and other small projects associated to operations in Bergenfjord and Stavangerfjord.
This has been classified as buildings and plants in the balance sheet and depreciation period is 5 years.

Note 3 Leasing expenses and transactions with related parties - parent company

Expensed lease of operating assets not recognised in the balance sheet for 2018 and 2017 (operational lease)
(Figures in TNOK)

Operating assets Expensed lease 2018
Expensed lease 

2017
Lease of machines and operating movables 0 0
Lease of premises and similar *) 15 709 15 199
Lease of ships, including crew 514 191 491 474

*) Leasing expenses and similar: For 2018 leasing expenses of TNOK 1 661 to company controlled by owners.
(TNOK 2 008 in 2017).  The leasing conditions are market conditions.

Note 4 Investments in subsidiaries - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

The investments in subsidiaries are accounted for in accordance with the cost method. 
Accounting values are presented below (figures in TNOK).

Subsidiary Time of acquisition
Business 
address

Owner 
share/voting 

share
Cost price 
31.12.2018

Book value 
31.12.2018

Book value 
31.12.2017

Fjord Line Danmark A/S 2006 Danmark 100 % 13 753 13 753 13 753
Fjord Skibsholding I A/S 2007 Danmark 100 % 268 986 224 987 224 987
Fjord Skibsholding II A/S 2008 Danmark 100 % 150 362 109 849 109 849
Fjord Skibsholding III A/S 2010 Danmark 100 % 310 368 310 368 310 368
Fjord Skibsholding IV A/S 2010 Danmark 100 % 332 843 332 842 332 842
Fjord Skibsholding V A/S 2017 Danmark 100 % 642 642 642
Fjord Line GmbH 2008 Tyskland 100 % 201 201 201
TOTAL 1 077 155 992 642 992 642

Income from investment in subsidiaries and write-down 2018
No dividend has been approved from Fjord Line AS subsidiaries in 2018.

Income from investment in subsidiaries and write-down 2017
In 2017 Fjord Line AS has recognised dividend allocated in Fjord Skibsholding I A/S, Fjord Skibsholding III A/S 
and Fjord Skibsholding IV A/S as shown below (FSH I, FSH III and FSH IV). 
Dividend for 2017 is within the financial result in 2017 for the companies.

FSH I FSH III FSH IV TOTAL
Total dividend provision in 2017 10 422 2 535 25 526 38 483
Recognised as income in Fjord Line AS 2017 10 422 2 535 25 526 38 483
Reduction carried value investment due to dividend 0 0 0 0

Background for difference between cost price and carrying value of the shares in  FSH I and FSH II:
In 2008 the shares in FSH II were written down by TNOK 20 291. 
In 2009 the shares in FSH I were written down by TNOK 39 246 and the shares in FSH II were written down by TNOK 8 000
I 2009 also TNOK 4.754 in dividend from FSH I and TNOK 12 222 in dividend from fra FSH II were recognised as reduction of 
carrying value of shares.

Note 5 Investments in other shares/parts -parent company 

In 2010 Fjord Line AS acquired shares amounting to TNOK 50 in Visit Sørlandet AS. After 2010 there has been neither additions nor disposals.
The investment is recognised in accordance with the cost method. There has been no write-down in 2018 or 2017.

In addition Fjord Line AS invested TNOK 30 in Visit Telemark AS in 2016. The investment  is recognised in accordance with the cost method. Nor has
write-down been made on this investment. 

Note 3 Leasing expenses and transactions with related parties - parent company

Expensed lease of operating assets not recognised in the balance sheet for 2018 and 2017 (operational lease)
(Figures in TNOK)

Operating assets Expensed lease 2018
Expensed lease 

2017
Lease of machines and operating movables 0 0
Lease of premises and similar *) 15 709 15 199
Lease of ships, including crew 514 191 491 474

*) Leasing expenses and similar: For 2018 leasing expenses of TNOK 1 661 to company controlled by owners.
(TNOK 2 008 in 2017).  The leasing conditions are market conditions.

Note 4 Investments in subsidiaries - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

The investments in subsidiaries are accounted for in accordance with the cost method. 
Accounting values are presented below (figures in TNOK).

Subsidiary Time of acquisition
Business 
address

Owner 
share/voting 

share
Cost price 
31.12.2018

Book value 
31.12.2018

Book value 
31.12.2017

Fjord Line Danmark A/S 2006 Danmark 100 % 13 753 13 753 13 753
Fjord Skibsholding I A/S 2007 Danmark 100 % 268 986 224 987 224 987
Fjord Skibsholding II A/S 2008 Danmark 100 % 150 362 109 849 109 849
Fjord Skibsholding III A/S 2010 Danmark 100 % 310 368 310 368 310 368
Fjord Skibsholding IV A/S 2010 Danmark 100 % 332 843 332 842 332 842
Fjord Skibsholding V A/S 2017 Danmark 100 % 642 642 642
Fjord Line GmbH 2008 Tyskland 100 % 201 201 201
TOTAL 1 077 155 992 642 992 642

Income from investment in subsidiaries and write-down 2018
No dividend has been approved from Fjord Line AS subsidiaries in 2018.

Income from investment in subsidiaries and write-down 2017
In 2017 Fjord Line AS has recognised dividend allocated in Fjord Skibsholding I A/S, Fjord Skibsholding III A/S 
and Fjord Skibsholding IV A/S as shown below (FSH I, FSH III and FSH IV). 
Dividend for 2017 is within the financial result in 2017 for the companies.

FSH I FSH III FSH IV TOTAL
Total dividend provision in 2017 10 422 2 535 25 526 38 483
Recognised as income in Fjord Line AS 2017 10 422 2 535 25 526 38 483
Reduction carried value investment due to dividend 0 0 0 0

Background for difference between cost price and carrying value of the shares in  FSH I and FSH II:
In 2008 the shares in FSH II were written down by TNOK 20 291. 
In 2009 the shares in FSH I were written down by TNOK 39 246 and the shares in FSH II were written down by TNOK 8 000
I 2009 also TNOK 4.754 in dividend from FSH I and TNOK 12 222 in dividend from fra FSH II were recognised as reduction of 
carrying value of shares.

Note 5 Investments in other shares/parts -parent company 

In 2010 Fjord Line AS acquired shares amounting to TNOK 50 in Visit Sørlandet AS. After 2010 there has been neither additions nor disposals.
The investment is recognised in accordance with the cost method. There has been no write-down in 2018 or 2017.

In addition Fjord Line AS invested TNOK 30 in Visit Telemark AS in 2016. The investment  is recognised in accordance with the cost method. Nor has
write-down been made on this investment. 

Note 2⁄⁄Property, plant and equipment – Parent company  

Note 3⁄⁄Leasing expenses and transactions with related parties – Parent company  

Expensed 
lease 2018

Expensed 
lease 2017
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Note 3 Leasing expenses and transactions with related parties - parent company

Expensed lease of operating assets not recognised in the balance sheet for 2018 and 2017 (operational lease)
(Figures in TNOK)

Operating assets Expensed lease 2018
Expensed lease 

2017
Lease of machines and operating movables 0 0
Lease of premises and similar *) 15 709 15 199
Lease of ships, including crew 514 191 491 474

*) Leasing expenses and similar: For 2018 leasing expenses of TNOK 1 661 to company controlled by owners.
(TNOK 2 008 in 2017).  The leasing conditions are market conditions.

Note 4 Investments in subsidiaries - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

The investments in subsidiaries are accounted for in accordance with the cost method. 
Accounting values are presented below (figures in TNOK).

Subsidiary Time of acquisition
Business 
address

Owner 
share/voting 

share
Cost price 
31.12.2018

Book value 
31.12.2018

Book value 
31.12.2017

Fjord Line Danmark A/S 2006 Danmark 100 % 13 753 13 753 13 753
Fjord Skibsholding I A/S 2007 Danmark 100 % 268 986 224 987 224 987
Fjord Skibsholding II A/S 2008 Danmark 100 % 150 362 109 849 109 849
Fjord Skibsholding III A/S 2010 Danmark 100 % 310 368 310 368 310 368
Fjord Skibsholding IV A/S 2010 Danmark 100 % 332 843 332 842 332 842
Fjord Skibsholding V A/S 2017 Danmark 100 % 642 642 642
Fjord Line GmbH 2008 Tyskland 100 % 201 201 201
TOTAL 1 077 155 992 642 992 642

Income from investment in subsidiaries and write-down 2018
No dividend has been approved from Fjord Line AS subsidiaries in 2018.

Income from investment in subsidiaries and write-down 2017
In 2017 Fjord Line AS has recognised dividend allocated in Fjord Skibsholding I A/S, Fjord Skibsholding III A/S 
and Fjord Skibsholding IV A/S as shown below (FSH I, FSH III and FSH IV). 
Dividend for 2017 is within the financial result in 2017 for the companies.

FSH I FSH III FSH IV TOTAL
Total dividend provision in 2017 10 422 2 535 25 526 38 483
Recognised as income in Fjord Line AS 2017 10 422 2 535 25 526 38 483
Reduction carried value investment due to dividend 0 0 0 0

Background for difference between cost price and carrying value of the shares in  FSH I and FSH II:
In 2008 the shares in FSH II were written down by TNOK 20 291. 
In 2009 the shares in FSH I were written down by TNOK 39 246 and the shares in FSH II were written down by TNOK 8 000
I 2009 also TNOK 4.754 in dividend from FSH I and TNOK 12 222 in dividend from fra FSH II were recognised as reduction of 
carrying value of shares.

Note 5 Investments in other shares/parts -parent company 

In 2010 Fjord Line AS acquired shares amounting to TNOK 50 in Visit Sørlandet AS. After 2010 there has been neither additions nor disposals.
The investment is recognised in accordance with the cost method. There has been no write-down in 2018 or 2017.

In addition Fjord Line AS invested TNOK 30 in Visit Telemark AS in 2016. The investment  is recognised in accordance with the cost method. Nor has
write-down been made on this investment. 

Note 5⁄⁄Investments in other shares/parts – Parent company  

Note 3 Leasing expenses and transactions with related parties - parent company

Expensed lease of operating assets not recognised in the balance sheet for 2018 and 2017 (operational lease)
(Figures in TNOK)

Operating assets Expensed lease 2018
Expensed lease 

2017
Lease of machines and operating movables 0 0
Lease of premises and similar *) 15 709 15 199
Lease of ships, including crew 514 191 491 474

*) Leasing expenses and similar: For 2018 leasing expenses of TNOK 1 661 to company controlled by owners.
(TNOK 2 008 in 2017).  The leasing conditions are market conditions.

Note 4 Investments in subsidiaries - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

The investments in subsidiaries are accounted for in accordance with the cost method. 
Accounting values are presented below (figures in TNOK).

Subsidiary Time of acquisition
Business 
address

Owner 
share/voting 

share
Cost price 
31.12.2018

Book value 
31.12.2018

Book value 
31.12.2017

Fjord Line Danmark A/S 2006 Danmark 100 % 13 753 13 753 13 753
Fjord Skibsholding I A/S 2007 Danmark 100 % 268 986 224 987 224 987
Fjord Skibsholding II A/S 2008 Danmark 100 % 150 362 109 849 109 849
Fjord Skibsholding III A/S 2010 Danmark 100 % 310 368 310 368 310 368
Fjord Skibsholding IV A/S 2010 Danmark 100 % 332 843 332 842 332 842
Fjord Skibsholding V A/S 2017 Danmark 100 % 642 642 642
Fjord Line GmbH 2008 Tyskland 100 % 201 201 201
TOTAL 1 077 155 992 642 992 642

Income from investment in subsidiaries and write-down 2018
No dividend has been approved from Fjord Line AS subsidiaries in 2018.

Income from investment in subsidiaries and write-down 2017
In 2017 Fjord Line AS has recognised dividend allocated in Fjord Skibsholding I A/S, Fjord Skibsholding III A/S 
and Fjord Skibsholding IV A/S as shown below (FSH I, FSH III and FSH IV). 
Dividend for 2017 is within the financial result in 2017 for the companies.

FSH I FSH III FSH IV TOTAL
Total dividend provision in 2017 10 422 2 535 25 526 38 483
Recognised as income in Fjord Line AS 2017 10 422 2 535 25 526 38 483
Reduction carried value investment due to dividend 0 0 0 0

Background for difference between cost price and carrying value of the shares in  FSH I and FSH II:
In 2008 the shares in FSH II were written down by TNOK 20 291. 
In 2009 the shares in FSH I were written down by TNOK 39 246 and the shares in FSH II were written down by TNOK 8 000
I 2009 also TNOK 4.754 in dividend from FSH I and TNOK 12 222 in dividend from fra FSH II were recognised as reduction of 
carrying value of shares.

Note 5 Investments in other shares/parts -parent company 

In 2010 Fjord Line AS acquired shares amounting to TNOK 50 in Visit Sørlandet AS. After 2010 there has been neither additions nor disposals.
The investment is recognised in accordance with the cost method. There has been no write-down in 2018 or 2017.

In addition Fjord Line AS invested TNOK 30 in Visit Telemark AS in 2016. The investment  is recognised in accordance with the cost method. Nor has
write-down been made on this investment. 

Note 4 ⁄⁄Investments in subsidiaries – Parent company  
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Note 6 Inventories and fuel expenses - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

Inventories 2018 2017
Fuel 3 384 3 214
Goods for resale 16 263 19 423
Other items, including key-cards etc. 2 329 2 559
Total inventories at acquisition cost 31.12. 21 976 25 196
Write-down 31.12. 0 0
Total book value of inventories 31.12. 21 976 25 196

No write-down has been made of the inventory by year end.

Expenses related to fuel are classified as other operating expenses in the income statement.
For 2018 this amounts to TNOK 165.314 (TNOK 153.999 in 2017)

Fjord Line has the following financial contracts related to fuel:
i)  MGO (Marine Gas Oil), delivery in 2018 and 2019. 
ii) LNG (The ships Bergensfjord and Stavangerfjord), delivery in 2018, 2019 and 2020
The derivatives are  considered as hedging in the accounts, and unrealized gain/loss is not recognised in the balance sheet. 
Gain and/or loss related to the contracts are recognised over profit or loss at delivery/realization.

 

Note 7 Trade receivables and bad debts - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)
2018 2017

Trade receivables at nominal value 31.12. 45 776 41 917
Provisions for bad debts 31.12. -2 197 -2 197
Book value trade receivables 31.12. 43 579 39 719

Change in provisions for bad debts in the year 0 1 497
Actual bad debts in the year 639 211
Received on receivables previously written off 0 0
Expensed loss on bad debts 639 1 707

Bad debts are included in the item  "other operating expenses" in the income statement.

Note 8 Other receivables - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

Other receivables 2018 2017
Refund from  public authorities, including vat owing.* 8 699 4 143
Prepaid expenses etc. 23 578 10 847
Other receivables 31.12. 32 277 14 990

*) Per 31.12.2018 the company has recognised TNOK 6.218 in the balance sheet relating to VAT due to the company in Norway (TNOK 3.708
 per 31.12.2017).

Note 9 Other financial income and other financial expenses - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

Other financial income and other financial expenses comprise the following:

Other financial income 2018 2017
Foreign exchange gain, intergroup loan, cf. note 11 108 245 131 768
Foreign exchange gain related to non-current foreign exchange loan 0
Other foreign exchange gain 5 929 6 323
Other financial income 65 78
Total 114 239 138 170

Other financial expenses 2018 2017
Foreign exchange loss, intergroup receivables, cf. note 11
Foreign exchange loss, including non-current loan in Euro and DKK 127 222 173 927
Other financial expenses 0 270
Total 127 222 174 197

Note 6 Inventories and fuel expenses - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

Inventories 2018 2017
Fuel 3 384 3 214
Goods for resale 16 263 19 423
Other items, including key-cards etc. 2 329 2 559
Total inventories at acquisition cost 31.12. 21 976 25 196
Write-down 31.12. 0 0
Total book value of inventories 31.12. 21 976 25 196

No write-down has been made of the inventory by year end.

Expenses related to fuel are classified as other operating expenses in the income statement.
For 2018 this amounts to TNOK 165.314 (TNOK 153.999 in 2017)

Fjord Line has the following financial contracts related to fuel:
i)  MGO (Marine Gas Oil), delivery in 2018 and 2019. 
ii) LNG (The ships Bergensfjord and Stavangerfjord), delivery in 2018, 2019 and 2020
The derivatives are  considered as hedging in the accounts, and unrealized gain/loss is not recognised in the balance sheet. 
Gain and/or loss related to the contracts are recognised over profit or loss at delivery/realization.

 

Note 7 Trade receivables and bad debts - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)
2018 2017

Trade receivables at nominal value 31.12. 45 776 41 917
Provisions for bad debts 31.12. -2 197 -2 197
Book value trade receivables 31.12. 43 579 39 719

Change in provisions for bad debts in the year 0 1 497
Actual bad debts in the year 639 211
Received on receivables previously written off 0 0
Expensed loss on bad debts 639 1 707

Bad debts are included in the item  "other operating expenses" in the income statement.

Note 8 Other receivables - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

Other receivables 2018 2017
Refund from  public authorities, including vat owing.* 8 699 4 143
Prepaid expenses etc. 23 578 10 847
Other receivables 31.12. 32 277 14 990

*) Per 31.12.2018 the company has recognised TNOK 6.218 in the balance sheet relating to VAT due to the company in Norway (TNOK 3.708
 per 31.12.2017).

Note 9 Other financial income and other financial expenses - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

Other financial income and other financial expenses comprise the following:

Other financial income 2018 2017
Foreign exchange gain, intergroup loan, cf. note 11 108 245 131 768
Foreign exchange gain related to non-current foreign exchange loan 0
Other foreign exchange gain 5 929 6 323
Other financial income 65 78
Total 114 239 138 170

Other financial expenses 2018 2017
Foreign exchange loss, intergroup receivables, cf. note 11
Foreign exchange loss, including non-current loan in Euro and DKK 127 222 173 927
Other financial expenses 0 270
Total 127 222 174 197

Note 6 Inventories and fuel expenses - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

Inventories 2018 2017
Fuel 3 384 3 214
Goods for resale 16 263 19 423
Other items, including key-cards etc. 2 329 2 559
Total inventories at acquisition cost 31.12. 21 976 25 196
Write-down 31.12. 0 0
Total book value of inventories 31.12. 21 976 25 196
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The derivatives are  considered as hedging in the accounts, and unrealized gain/loss is not recognised in the balance sheet. 
Gain and/or loss related to the contracts are recognised over profit or loss at delivery/realization.
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Note 6⁄⁄Inventories and fuel expenses – Parent company  

Note 7⁄⁄Trade receivables and bad debts – Parent company  

Note 8⁄⁄Other receivables – Parent company  
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Note 10 Restricted funds  - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)
2018 2017

Restricted tax deduction funds per 31.12.: 3 451 4 287
The tax deduction funds are deposited on separate bank accounts. 

Note 11  Intercompany balance - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

Assets - current items: 2018 2017
Receivables on subsidiary related to operation etc.*) 0 61 465
Total 0 61 465

Liabilities - current items:
Net debt to subsidiary related to operation 0 18 571
Total 0 18 571

Net current intercompany balance per 31.12 for Fjord Line AS 0 42 894

Assets - non-current items
Fjord Line AS has non-current receivables on the Danish subsidiaries of in total TNOK 1.987.706 per 31.12.2018 (TNOK 1.788.977 per 31.12.2017).
The amount is classified as financial fixed assets. The loans are in DKK and are subject to interest calculation (cf. note 18).
Foreign exchange gain on these loans was TNOK 108.245 in 2018 (foreign exchange loss of TNOK 131.768 in 2017), cf. note 9.
No specific installment plan has been determined for the loans, but the subsidiaries will use free liquidity for repayment.
Installments have been paid in 2018 and 2017.

*) Allocation for dividends in the subsidiaries
The subsidiaries FSH I, FSH III and FSH IV had per 31.12.2017  allocated in total TNOK 38 483 in dividend for Fjord Line AS, cf note 4. 
This amount is included in receivables on subsidiary per 31.12.2017 and is recognised as income with Fjord Line AS in 2017, cf. note 4.
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Note 12 Equity - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

Changes in equity for 2018 Share capital Own shares
Share premium 

account

Other 
equity/uncovered 

loss Total

Equity 31.12.2017 519 107 -9 178 227 -119 488 577 837
Mistakes from previous year -43 -43
Net income 2018 0 0 0 106 763 106 763
Equity 31.12.2018 519 107 -9 178 227 -12 768 684 557

*) Net income 2018 contains a negativ tax expense of TNOK 53.000 as a result of the changes in deferred tax asset.

Change in equity for 2017 Share capital Own shares
Share premium 

account

Other 
equity/uncovered 

loss Total

Equity 31.12.2016 519 107 -9 178 227 -218 462 478 863
Net income 2017 0 0 0 98 974 98 974
Equity 31.12.2017 519 107 -9 178 227 -119 488 577 837

*) Net income 2017 contains a negativ tax expense of TNOK 75.000 as a result of the changes in deferred tax asset.

Note 13 Share capital and shareholders' information - parent company

The share capital is NOK 519.107.350 per 31.12.2018, and consists of 207.642.940 shares each NOK 2,50. All shares have equal rights. 

The major shareholders per 31.12.2018
Owner share

Ferd AS 44,6 %
Kontrari AS 34,8 %
Kontrazi AS 17,4 %
Arne Teigen 1,1 %
Moly AS 0,8 %
Others, including own shares*) 1,3 %
Total 100,0 %

*) Fjord Line AS has a total of  664 own shares per 31.12.2018.

The major shareholders per 31.12.2017
Eierandel

Ferd AS 44,6 %
Kontrari AS 34,8 %
Kontrazi AS 17,4 %
Arne Teigen 1,1 %
Moly AS 0,8 %
Others, including own shares*) 1,3 %
Sum 100,0 %

*) Fjord Line AS had a total of 704 own shares per 31.12.2017.
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Eierandel
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Note 14 Operating income  - parent company
(Figures in TNOK)

Operating income distributed on income area 2018 2017
Ticket income 522 949 471 878
Sales income etc. onboard - see also note 19 742 400 652 281
Cargo income 218 990 190 037
Recognised/accrued grant from the NOx-fund- see also note 20 5 469 5 469
Other 46 720 31 242
Total 1 536 527 1 350 907

Note 15 Taxes - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

Specification of deferred tax asset

Temporary differences 31.12.2017 31.12.2018 Change
Fixed assets -8 990 1 751 -10 741
Receivables -2 197 -2 197 0
Gain/loss account 13 477 10 782 2 695
Other differences including accounting accruals -91 024 -88 973 -2 051
Total -88 734 -78 637 -10 097
Carry-forward loss -1 194 310 -1 150 467 -43 843
Basis for deferred tax (-deferred tax asset) -1 283 044 -1 229 104 -53 940
22% (23%) of basis -295 100 -270 403 -24 697
Deferred tax (deferred tax asset) recognised in the balance sheet -125 000 -178 000 53 000
Deferred tax asset not recognised in the balance sheet -170 100 -92 403 -77 697

Per 31.12.2018 Fjord Line AS has accumulated basis for deferred tax asset of TNOK 1.229.104.  
This implies deferred tax asset (22%) of TNOK 270.403 when recognised in total in the balance sheet.

The Board of Directiors following a concrete assessment of the future prospects of Fjord Line AS, 
under the basis of the net income from the last two years, found that it has convincing evidence 
that future earnings will justify a recognition of a further 53 MNOK
in addition to the 125 MNOK that have already been recognized, thus the calculated deferred tax asset will be 178 MNOK.

We believe that this argument is sustained by the positive operating result in recent years, combined with the over budget earnings 
so far this year and that we see a positive development in the booking reserves before the high season.
This combined with the expansion of capacity on MS Stavangerfjord and MS Bergensfjord to increase the earnings in the high season
indicates that we have convincing evidence that we can at least have equivalent earnings in the years to come as shown in 
2018 and this has been taken into account in the assessment.

Specification of  taxable result and  tax expense:

Taxable result 2018 2017
Result before tax 53 764 23 925
Dividends from subsidiaries, not taxable 0 -38 521
Write-down of shares 0 0
Other permanent differences 176 99
Employee options recognised as expense 0 0
Change in temporary differences -10 097 -2 110
Issue expenses, offset against eqiuity 0 0
Application of carry forward loss -43 843 0
Taxable result 0 -16 607

Reconciliation of tax expense 2018 2017
23% (24%) of financial result 12 366 5 742
23% (24%) of permanent differences 40 -9 221
Impact of change tax rate 12 291 12 830
Change of deferred tax asset not recognised in the balance sheet -77 697 -84 351
Tax expense -53 000 -75 000

Specification of tax expense 2018 2017
Change in deferred tax asset -53 000 -75 000
Payable tax 0 0
Tax expense -53 000 -75 000

Note 14⁄⁄Operating income – Parent company  
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Note 15⁄⁄Taxes – Parent company  
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Note 16 Liabilities - parent company

(The figures in the table below is in TNOK)

Non-current interest bearing debt per 31.12. 2018 2017
Debt to credit institutions etc. 2 408 955 2 270 334
Bond loan 0 74 000
Total non-current interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 408 955 2 344 334

Current interest bearing debt per 31.12. 2018 2017
Debt to credit institutions (overdraft facilities) 0 0
Other current interst bearing debt, including debt to owners of the parent company 0 0
Total current interest bearing debt  31.12. 0 0

Total book value of interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 408 955 2 344 334

Fjord Line AS had an unused overdraft facility limit of MNOK 35 per 31.12.2018 (15 MNOK pr 31.12.2017).
Per 31.12.2018 the balance on the overdraft facility is positive by 128,1 MNOK (23,6 MNOK per 31.12.2017).

Non-current interest bearing debt  -  distributed on currency per 31.12.2018 figures in 1.000)

Currency Nominal currency Exchange rate Book value in NOK 31.12.2017
NOK 112 329 1,000 112 329
Euro 177 291 9,948 1 763 745
DKK 400 000 1,322 532 880
Total non-current interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 408 955

Non-current interest bearing debt  -  distributed on currency per 31.12.2017 (figures in 1,000)

Currency Nominal currency Exchange rate Book value in NOK 31.12.2015
NOK 132 727 1,000 132 727
Euro 192 763 9,840 1 881 157
DKK 250 000 1,322 330 450
Total non-current interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 344 334

Borrowing in Euro and Danish kroner
Borrowing in Euro and Danish kroner is recognised in the balance sheet at current exchange rate per 31.12.2018 and 31.12.2017, cf. the table above. 
Foreign exchange loss in 2018 related to non-current loan in Euro and Danish kroner was 108,7 MNOK in 2018
Foreign exchange gain in 2017 related to non-current loan in Euro is 159,3 MNOK in 2017

Book value per 31.12. for the Euro-borrowings and Danish kroner-borrowings as follows in NOK 
(figures in TNOK): 2018 2017
Principal amount: 2 247 072 2 227 288
Amortization effect of the borrowings, incl. guarantee commission -14 700 -15 682
Book value per 31.12. 2 232 372 2 211 606

Bond issue
The bond loan was settled in its entirety in 2018.

2018 2017
Total amount of bonds: 0 74 000
Own holding 0 0
Amortization effect of the loan (expenses etc.) 0 0
Book value bond loan 31.12. 0 74 000

Installment plan non-current interest-bearing debt to credit institutions (mortgage loan) and bond loan (figures in TNOK):

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Annual installments* -221 544 -244 242 -266 941 -337 511 -228 797
Remaining loan per 31.12. 1 988 499 1 744 257 1 477 316 1 139 804 911 007

Other current liabilities per 31.12 (figures in TNOK): 2018 2017
Prepayment from customers 63 270 59 804
Incurred interests and guarantee commission 17 854 22 315
Provision for other incurred costs etc. 44 478 23 292
Other current liabilities 31.12. 125 602 105 411

Derecognition of financial obligations
Fjord line AS has entered into a loan agreement with the australian export finance body EFIC about financing the purchase of a new catamaran 
to operate the route Kristiansand Hirtshals. Fjord Line AS stands as the formal borrower also during the construction period, but as a result of the entered 
agreement with EFIC and the contractor of the catamaran Austal-group will Fjord Line not be required to pay interest or instalments in the construction 
period together with a additional agreement that in the event of a default of debt, will EFIC seek full coverage from Austal before they kan seek 
coverage of the debt from Fjord Line AS. This results in Fjord Line considering the significant risk of the debt as transfered to another party and thus settled 
in accordance with NRS 18. 
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Non-current interest bearing debt  -  distributed on currency per 31.12.2017 (figures in 1,000)

Currency Nominal currency Exchange rate Book value in NOK 31.12.2015
NOK 132 727 1,000 132 727
Euro 192 763 9,840 1 881 157
DKK 250 000 1,322 330 450
Total non-current interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 344 334

Borrowing in Euro and Danish kroner
Borrowing in Euro and Danish kroner is recognised in the balance sheet at current exchange rate per 31.12.2018 and 31.12.2017, cf. the table above. 
Foreign exchange loss in 2018 related to non-current loan in Euro and Danish kroner was 108,7 MNOK in 2018
Foreign exchange gain in 2017 related to non-current loan in Euro is 159,3 MNOK in 2017

Book value per 31.12. for the Euro-borrowings and Danish kroner-borrowings as follows in NOK 
(figures in TNOK): 2018 2017
Principal amount: 2 247 072 2 227 288
Amortization effect of the borrowings, incl. guarantee commission -14 700 -15 682
Book value per 31.12. 2 232 372 2 211 606

Bond issue
The bond loan was settled in its entirety in 2018.

2018 2017
Total amount of bonds: 0 74 000
Own holding 0 0
Amortization effect of the loan (expenses etc.) 0 0
Book value bond loan 31.12. 0 74 000

Installment plan non-current interest-bearing debt to credit institutions (mortgage loan) and bond loan (figures in TNOK):

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Annual installments* -221 544 -244 242 -266 941 -337 511 -228 797
Remaining loan per 31.12. 1 988 499 1 744 257 1 477 316 1 139 804 911 007

Other current liabilities per 31.12 (figures in TNOK): 2018 2017
Prepayment from customers 63 270 59 804
Incurred interests and guarantee commission 17 854 22 315
Provision for other incurred costs etc. 44 478 23 292
Other current liabilities 31.12. 125 602 105 411

Derecognition of financial obligations
Fjord line AS has entered into a loan agreement with the australian export finance body EFIC about financing the purchase of a new catamaran 
to operate the route Kristiansand Hirtshals. Fjord Line AS stands as the formal borrower also during the construction period, but as a result of the entered 
agreement with EFIC and the contractor of the catamaran Austal-group will Fjord Line not be required to pay interest or instalments in the construction 
period together with a additional agreement that in the event of a default of debt, will EFIC seek full coverage from Austal before they kan seek 
coverage of the debt from Fjord Line AS. This results in Fjord Line considering the significant risk of the debt as transfered to another party and thus settled 
in accordance with NRS 18. 

Note 16 Liabilities - parent company

(The figures in the table below is in TNOK)

Non-current interest bearing debt per 31.12. 2018 2017
Debt to credit institutions etc. 2 408 955 2 270 334
Bond loan 0 74 000
Total non-current interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 408 955 2 344 334

Current interest bearing debt per 31.12. 2018 2017
Debt to credit institutions (overdraft facilities) 0 0
Other current interst bearing debt, including debt to owners of the parent company 0 0
Total current interest bearing debt  31.12. 0 0

Total book value of interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 408 955 2 344 334

Fjord Line AS had an unused overdraft facility limit of MNOK 35 per 31.12.2018 (15 MNOK pr 31.12.2017).
Per 31.12.2018 the balance on the overdraft facility is positive by 128,1 MNOK (23,6 MNOK per 31.12.2017).

Non-current interest bearing debt  -  distributed on currency per 31.12.2018 figures in 1.000)

Currency Nominal currency Exchange rate Book value in NOK 31.12.2017
NOK 112 329 1,000 112 329
Euro 177 291 9,948 1 763 745
DKK 400 000 1,322 532 880
Total non-current interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 408 955

Non-current interest bearing debt  -  distributed on currency per 31.12.2017 (figures in 1,000)

Currency Nominal currency Exchange rate Book value in NOK 31.12.2015
NOK 132 727 1,000 132 727
Euro 192 763 9,840 1 881 157
DKK 250 000 1,322 330 450
Total non-current interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 344 334

Borrowing in Euro and Danish kroner
Borrowing in Euro and Danish kroner is recognised in the balance sheet at current exchange rate per 31.12.2018 and 31.12.2017, cf. the table above. 
Foreign exchange loss in 2018 related to non-current loan in Euro and Danish kroner was 108,7 MNOK in 2018
Foreign exchange gain in 2017 related to non-current loan in Euro is 159,3 MNOK in 2017

Book value per 31.12. for the Euro-borrowings and Danish kroner-borrowings as follows in NOK 
(figures in TNOK): 2018 2017
Principal amount: 2 247 072 2 227 288
Amortization effect of the borrowings, incl. guarantee commission -14 700 -15 682
Book value per 31.12. 2 232 372 2 211 606

Bond issue
The bond loan was settled in its entirety in 2018.

2018 2017
Total amount of bonds: 0 74 000
Own holding 0 0
Amortization effect of the loan (expenses etc.) 0 0
Book value bond loan 31.12. 0 74 000

Installment plan non-current interest-bearing debt to credit institutions (mortgage loan) and bond loan (figures in TNOK):

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Annual installments* -221 544 -244 242 -266 941 -337 511 -228 797
Remaining loan per 31.12. 1 988 499 1 744 257 1 477 316 1 139 804 911 007

Other current liabilities per 31.12 (figures in TNOK): 2018 2017
Prepayment from customers 63 270 59 804
Incurred interests and guarantee commission 17 854 22 315
Provision for other incurred costs etc. 44 478 23 292
Other current liabilities 31.12. 125 602 105 411

Derecognition of financial obligations
Fjord line AS has entered into a loan agreement with the australian export finance body EFIC about financing the purchase of a new catamaran 
to operate the route Kristiansand Hirtshals. Fjord Line AS stands as the formal borrower also during the construction period, but as a result of the entered 
agreement with EFIC and the contractor of the catamaran Austal-group will Fjord Line not be required to pay interest or instalments in the construction 
period together with a additional agreement that in the event of a default of debt, will EFIC seek full coverage from Austal before they kan seek 
coverage of the debt from Fjord Line AS. This results in Fjord Line considering the significant risk of the debt as transfered to another party and thus settled 
in accordance with NRS 18. 

Note 16⁄⁄Liabilities – Parent company  
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Note 16⁄⁄Liabilities – Parent company                                                              

Note 16 Liabilities - parent company

(The figures in the table below is in TNOK)

Non-current interest bearing debt per 31.12. 2018 2017
Debt to credit institutions etc. 2 408 955 2 270 334
Bond loan 0 74 000
Total non-current interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 408 955 2 344 334

Current interest bearing debt per 31.12. 2018 2017
Debt to credit institutions (overdraft facilities) 0 0
Other current interst bearing debt, including debt to owners of the parent company 0 0
Total current interest bearing debt  31.12. 0 0

Total book value of interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 408 955 2 344 334

Fjord Line AS had an unused overdraft facility limit of MNOK 35 per 31.12.2018 (15 MNOK pr 31.12.2017).
Per 31.12.2018 the balance on the overdraft facility is positive by 128,1 MNOK (23,6 MNOK per 31.12.2017).

Non-current interest bearing debt  -  distributed on currency per 31.12.2018 figures in 1.000)

Currency Nominal currency Exchange rate Book value in NOK 31.12.2017
NOK 112 329 1,000 112 329
Euro 177 291 9,948 1 763 745
DKK 400 000 1,322 532 880
Total non-current interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 408 955

Non-current interest bearing debt  -  distributed on currency per 31.12.2017 (figures in 1,000)

Currency Nominal currency Exchange rate Book value in NOK 31.12.2015
NOK 132 727 1,000 132 727
Euro 192 763 9,840 1 881 157
DKK 250 000 1,322 330 450
Total non-current interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 344 334

Borrowing in Euro and Danish kroner
Borrowing in Euro and Danish kroner is recognised in the balance sheet at current exchange rate per 31.12.2018 and 31.12.2017, cf. the table above. 
Foreign exchange loss in 2018 related to non-current loan in Euro and Danish kroner was 108,7 MNOK in 2018
Foreign exchange gain in 2017 related to non-current loan in Euro is 159,3 MNOK in 2017

Book value per 31.12. for the Euro-borrowings and Danish kroner-borrowings as follows in NOK 
(figures in TNOK): 2018 2017
Principal amount: 2 247 072 2 227 288
Amortization effect of the borrowings, incl. guarantee commission -14 700 -15 682
Book value per 31.12. 2 232 372 2 211 606

Bond issue
The bond loan was settled in its entirety in 2018.

2018 2017
Total amount of bonds: 0 74 000
Own holding 0 0
Amortization effect of the loan (expenses etc.) 0 0
Book value bond loan 31.12. 0 74 000

Installment plan non-current interest-bearing debt to credit institutions (mortgage loan) and bond loan (figures in TNOK):

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Annual installments* -221 544 -244 242 -266 941 -337 511 -228 797
Remaining loan per 31.12. 1 988 499 1 744 257 1 477 316 1 139 804 911 007

Other current liabilities per 31.12 (figures in TNOK): 2018 2017
Prepayment from customers 63 270 59 804
Incurred interests and guarantee commission 17 854 22 315
Provision for other incurred costs etc. 44 478 23 292
Other current liabilities 31.12. 125 602 105 411

Derecognition of financial obligations
Fjord line AS has entered into a loan agreement with the australian export finance body EFIC about financing the purchase of a new catamaran 
to operate the route Kristiansand Hirtshals. Fjord Line AS stands as the formal borrower also during the construction period, but as a result of the entered 
agreement with EFIC and the contractor of the catamaran Austal-group will Fjord Line not be required to pay interest or instalments in the construction 
period together with a additional agreement that in the event of a default of debt, will EFIC seek full coverage from Austal before they kan seek 
coverage of the debt from Fjord Line AS. This results in Fjord Line considering the significant risk of the debt as transfered to another party and thus settled 
in accordance with NRS 18. 

Note 16 Liabilities - parent company

(The figures in the table below is in TNOK)

Non-current interest bearing debt per 31.12. 2018 2017
Debt to credit institutions etc. 2 408 955 2 270 334
Bond loan 0 74 000
Total non-current interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 408 955 2 344 334

Current interest bearing debt per 31.12. 2018 2017
Debt to credit institutions (overdraft facilities) 0 0
Other current interst bearing debt, including debt to owners of the parent company 0 0
Total current interest bearing debt  31.12. 0 0

Total book value of interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 408 955 2 344 334

Fjord Line AS had an unused overdraft facility limit of MNOK 35 per 31.12.2018 (15 MNOK pr 31.12.2017).
Per 31.12.2018 the balance on the overdraft facility is positive by 128,1 MNOK (23,6 MNOK per 31.12.2017).

Non-current interest bearing debt  -  distributed on currency per 31.12.2018 figures in 1.000)

Currency Nominal currency Exchange rate Book value in NOK 31.12.2017
NOK 112 329 1,000 112 329
Euro 177 291 9,948 1 763 745
DKK 400 000 1,322 532 880
Total non-current interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 408 955

Non-current interest bearing debt  -  distributed on currency per 31.12.2017 (figures in 1,000)

Currency Nominal currency Exchange rate Book value in NOK 31.12.2015
NOK 132 727 1,000 132 727
Euro 192 763 9,840 1 881 157
DKK 250 000 1,322 330 450
Total non-current interest bearing debt 31.12. 2 344 334

Borrowing in Euro and Danish kroner
Borrowing in Euro and Danish kroner is recognised in the balance sheet at current exchange rate per 31.12.2018 and 31.12.2017, cf. the table above. 
Foreign exchange loss in 2018 related to non-current loan in Euro and Danish kroner was 108,7 MNOK in 2018
Foreign exchange gain in 2017 related to non-current loan in Euro is 159,3 MNOK in 2017

Book value per 31.12. for the Euro-borrowings and Danish kroner-borrowings as follows in NOK 
(figures in TNOK): 2018 2017
Principal amount: 2 247 072 2 227 288
Amortization effect of the borrowings, incl. guarantee commission -14 700 -15 682
Book value per 31.12. 2 232 372 2 211 606

Bond issue
The bond loan was settled in its entirety in 2018.

2018 2017
Total amount of bonds: 0 74 000
Own holding 0 0
Amortization effect of the loan (expenses etc.) 0 0
Book value bond loan 31.12. 0 74 000

Installment plan non-current interest-bearing debt to credit institutions (mortgage loan) and bond loan (figures in TNOK):

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Annual installments* -221 544 -244 242 -266 941 -337 511 -228 797
Remaining loan per 31.12. 1 988 499 1 744 257 1 477 316 1 139 804 911 007

Other current liabilities per 31.12 (figures in TNOK): 2018 2017
Prepayment from customers 63 270 59 804
Incurred interests and guarantee commission 17 854 22 315
Provision for other incurred costs etc. 44 478 23 292
Other current liabilities 31.12. 125 602 105 411

Derecognition of financial obligations
Fjord line AS has entered into a loan agreement with the australian export finance body EFIC about financing the purchase of a new catamaran 
to operate the route Kristiansand Hirtshals. Fjord Line AS stands as the formal borrower also during the construction period, but as a result of the entered 
agreement with EFIC and the contractor of the catamaran Austal-group will Fjord Line not be required to pay interest or instalments in the construction 
period together with a additional agreement that in the event of a default of debt, will EFIC seek full coverage from Austal before they kan seek 
coverage of the debt from Fjord Line AS. This results in Fjord Line considering the significant risk of the debt as transfered to another party and thus settled 
in accordance with NRS 18. 
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Note 17 Wage costs, number of employees, remunerations, pension etc. - parent company

(Figures in table below in TNOK)

Wage costs 2018 2017
Wages, incl. feeding crew etc. 74 432 75 097
Payroll tax 12 616 12 145
Pension costs 1 358 1 966
Other remunerations 12 323 2 743
Total 100 729 91 951

Average number of man-labour years during the accounting year has been 121 in 2018 (128 in 2017).

Remunerations for CEO and the Board of Directors (figures in TNOK) 2018 2017
Wages CEO 2 050 2 050
Bonus CEO 513 129
Other remuneration  CEO 239 12
Board of Directors' fee 91 450
The figures above do not include the option program. See below for further information.
No loan or guarantee have been provided for CEO or any of the members of the Board of Directors.
The CEO is included in the company's pension agreement, cf mentioned  below. According to the agreement, 20 % of gross salary is allocated annually 
and the liability amounts to per 31.12.2018 TNOK 1.417 (TNOK 1.007 as at 31.12.17) 

Pensions
The company has taken on a pension savings agreement on behalf of the former and the present CEO and another two individuals.
The market value of the contributions/assets was var TNOK 4.047 per 31.12.2018 (TNOK 4.127 per 31.12.2017).
Gross liability per 31.12.2018 is calculated to TNOK 6 587 related to these four persons (TNOK 6 149 per 31.12.2017).
Net liability is thus TNOK 3.486 per 31.12.2018 (TNOK 3.048 per 31.12.2017), and is classified as pension liability in the balance sheet.

In addition the company has established a defined contribution pension scheme for its employees.
The company pays fixed contributions to an insurance company. The company has no further obligations to pay once the contributions have been paid.
The contribution constitutes from 2% to 4% of the employees' salary.

Auditor
Expensed fee to auditor relates to the following services (exclusive of vat), figures in TNOK:

2018 2017
Audit services 633 919
Certification services/Agreed-upon control procedures 11 26
Accounting and tax related/duty related technical assistance 254 181
Other services 371 250
Total auditor's fee 1 269 1 376

Note 17 Wage costs, number of employees, remunerations, pension etc. - parent company

(Figures in table below in TNOK)

Wage costs 2018 2017
Wages, incl. feeding crew etc. 74 432 75 097
Payroll tax 12 616 12 145
Pension costs 1 358 1 966
Other remunerations 12 323 2 743
Total 100 729 91 951

Average number of man-labour years during the accounting year has been 121 in 2018 (128 in 2017).

Remunerations for CEO and the Board of Directors (figures in TNOK) 2018 2017
Wages CEO 2 050 2 050
Bonus CEO 513 129
Other remuneration  CEO 239 12
Board of Directors' fee 91 450
The figures above do not include the option program. See below for further information.
No loan or guarantee have been provided for CEO or any of the members of the Board of Directors.
The CEO is included in the company's pension agreement, cf mentioned  below. According to the agreement, 20 % of gross salary is allocated annually 
and the liability amounts to per 31.12.2018 TNOK 1.417 (TNOK 1.007 as at 31.12.17) 

Pensions
The company has taken on a pension savings agreement on behalf of the former and the present CEO and another two individuals.
The market value of the contributions/assets was var TNOK 4.047 per 31.12.2018 (TNOK 4.127 per 31.12.2017).
Gross liability per 31.12.2018 is calculated to TNOK 6 587 related to these four persons (TNOK 6 149 per 31.12.2017).
Net liability is thus TNOK 3.486 per 31.12.2018 (TNOK 3.048 per 31.12.2017), and is classified as pension liability in the balance sheet.

In addition the company has established a defined contribution pension scheme for its employees.
The company pays fixed contributions to an insurance company. The company has no further obligations to pay once the contributions have been paid.
The contribution constitutes from 2% to 4% of the employees' salary.

Auditor
Expensed fee to auditor relates to the following services (exclusive of vat), figures in TNOK:

2018 2017
Audit services 633 919
Certification services/Agreed-upon control procedures 11 26
Accounting and tax related/duty related technical assistance 254 181
Other services 371 250
Total auditor's fee 1 269 1 376

Note 17 Wage costs, number of employees, remunerations, pension etc. - parent company

(Figures in table below in TNOK)

Wage costs 2018 2017
Wages, incl. feeding crew etc. 74 432 75 097
Payroll tax 12 616 12 145
Pension costs 1 358 1 966
Other remunerations 12 323 2 743
Total 100 729 91 951

Average number of man-labour years during the accounting year has been 121 in 2018 (128 in 2017).

Remunerations for CEO and the Board of Directors (figures in TNOK) 2018 2017
Wages CEO 2 050 2 050
Bonus CEO 513 129
Other remuneration  CEO 239 12
Board of Directors' fee 91 450
The figures above do not include the option program. See below for further information.
No loan or guarantee have been provided for CEO or any of the members of the Board of Directors.
The CEO is included in the company's pension agreement, cf mentioned  below. According to the agreement, 20 % of gross salary is allocated annually 
and the liability amounts to per 31.12.2018 TNOK 1.417 (TNOK 1.007 as at 31.12.17) 

Pensions
The company has taken on a pension savings agreement on behalf of the former and the present CEO and another two individuals.
The market value of the contributions/assets was var TNOK 4.047 per 31.12.2018 (TNOK 4.127 per 31.12.2017).
Gross liability per 31.12.2018 is calculated to TNOK 6 587 related to these four persons (TNOK 6 149 per 31.12.2017).
Net liability is thus TNOK 3.486 per 31.12.2018 (TNOK 3.048 per 31.12.2017), and is classified as pension liability in the balance sheet.

In addition the company has established a defined contribution pension scheme for its employees.
The company pays fixed contributions to an insurance company. The company has no further obligations to pay once the contributions have been paid.
The contribution constitutes from 2% to 4% of the employees' salary.

Auditor
Expensed fee to auditor relates to the following services (exclusive of vat), figures in TNOK:

2018 2017
Audit services 633 919
Certification services/Agreed-upon control procedures 11 26
Accounting and tax related/duty related technical assistance 254 181
Other services 371 250
Total auditor's fee 1 269 1 376

Note 17⁄⁄Wage costs, number of employees, remunerations, pension etc. – Parent company 
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Note 18 Interest income/interest expenses and intergroup guarantee commission - parent company

(Figures in TNOK)

Interest income comprises:

2018 2017
Interest income on loan to subsidiary (intergroup interests) 99 854 82 315
External interest income 956 1 271
Total 100 810 83 586

Interest expenses comprises:

2018 2017
Interest expenses on loan to subsidiary (intergroup interests) 1 726 1 844
External interest expenses 100 998 86 227
Total 102 724 88 071

Non-current intergroup loans are subject to interest calculation in accordance with market conditions. Further information about intergroup
loans/balances is disclosed in note 11.

In 2018 Fjord Line AS has expensed an intergroup guarantee cost of  TNOK 24.425 (TNOK 22.592 in 2017)
Fjord Line AS has entered into several contracts on loan financing of the group's ships.  The shipowning 
subsidiaries Fjord Skibsholding I, Fjord Skibsholding II, Fjord Skibsholding III, Fjord Skibsholding IV and Fjord Skibsholding V
have on their part provided security for Fjord Line AS' liabilities related to the loan contracts.
As a compensation the shipowning subsidiaries have received guarantee commission based on market conditions. 

Note 19 NOx-grant - parent company

The ship "MS Stavangerfjord" was delivered in July 2013, and the ship "MS Bergensfjord" was delivered in January 2014.
Because the ships are gas powered (LNG), with related low emission,  Fjord Line AS was granted a contribution from the NOx-fund.
Per 31.12.2014 contributions of MNOK 147.2 in total had been paid to Fjord Line AS connected to these projects. 
As a condition for the grant Fjord Line AS was obliged to use "MS Stavangerfjord" and "MS Bergensfjord" in NOx-liable waters for at least 2 years
from time of delivery.

In 2018 Fjord Line AS received 0 MNOK in NOx-grants (8 MNOK in 2017).
In the 2018 accounts MNOK 5,2 of the grants was recognised as income (5,5 MNOK in 2017). The amount was classified as other operating income 
in the income statement. For 2016 and 2017 the grants are subject to accrual in line with the depreciation profile of the operating assets to which 
the grants relate.

Below is a summary of accounting values (figures in TNOK)

Total received grants 31.12.2016 166 809 A
Received grants 2017 0 B
Total received grants 31.12.2017 166 809 C (A+B)
Grants recognised as income 2017 -5 469 D
Accumulated grants recognised as income 31.12.2017 -68 510 E
Grants received, not recognised in the income statement 31.12.2017 98 298 F (C + D + E)
Grants received 2018 0 G
Total received grants 31.12.2018 166 809 H (C + G)
Grants recognised as income 2018 -5 469 I
Accumulated grants recognised as income 31.12.2018 -73 979 J (D + E + I)
Grants received, not recognised in the income statement 31.12.2018 92 829 K (H + J)

Note 18⁄⁄Interest income/interest expenses and intergroup guarantee commission – Parent company 

Note 19⁄⁄NOx-grant – Parent company 
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Note 18⁄⁄Interest income/interest expenses and intergroup guarantee commission – Parent company 
KPMG AS 
Forusparken 2  
Postboks 57  
4064 Stavanger  

Telephone +47 04063 
Fax  
Internet www.kpmg.no 
Enterprise 935 174 627 MVA 

 
 
 
To the General Meeting of Fjord Line AS 

 

Independent auditor’s report 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Fjord Line AS, which comprise: 

• The financial statements of the parent company Fjord Line AS (the Company), which comprise 
the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018, the income statement and cash flow statement for 
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies, and 

• The consolidated financial statements of Fjord Line AS and its subsidiaries (the Group), which 
comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018, the income statement, statement of 
comprehensive income and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion: 

• The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and regulations. 

• The accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the 
Company as at 31 December 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards 
and practices generally accepted in Norway. 

• The accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2018, and its financial performance and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with simplified application of international 
accounting standards according to section 3-9 of the Norwegian Accounting Act. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the 
Group as required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
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Other information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises information in 
the annual report, except the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (Management) are responsible for the preparation 
in accordance with law and regulations, including fair presentation of the financial statements of the 
Company in accordance with the Norwegian Accounting Act and accounting standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, and for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group in accordance with simplified application of international accounting 
standards according to the Norwegian Accounting Act section 3-9, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern. The financial statements of the Company use the going concern basis of accounting insofar 
as it is not likely that the enterprise will cease operations. The consolidated financial statements of the 
Group use the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the 
Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 
an audit conducted in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices 
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's or the Group's internal control. 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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• conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company and the 
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company and the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group 
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Opinion on the Board of Directors’ report 

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, it is our opinion that the 
information presented in the Board of Directors’ report concerning the financial statements and the 
going concern assumption is consistent with the financial statements and complies with the law and 
regulations. 

Opinion on Registration and Documentation 

Based on our audit of the financial statements as described above, and control procedures we have 
considered necessary in accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements 
(ISAE) 3000, Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial 
Information, it is our opinion that management has fulfilled its duty to produce a proper and clearly set 
out registration and documentation of the Company’s accounting information in accordance with the 
law and bookkeeping standards and practices generally accepted in Norway. 

 
 
Stavanger, 14 May 2019 
KPMG 
 
 
 
Mads Hermansen 
State Authorised Public Accountant 
 
 
Note: This translation from Norwegian has been prepared for information purposes only. 
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Bergen–Stavanger–Hirtshals

Langesund–Hirtshals

Kristiansand–Hirtshals

Sandefjord–Strømstad

MS Stavangerfjord / MS Bergensfjord

MS Stavangerfjord / MS Bergensfjord

HSC Fjord Cat

MS Oslofjord

Stavanger

Bergen

Langesund

Hirtshals

Kristiansand Strømstad

Sandefjord

Oslo

SANDEFJORD | STRØMSTAD 2h30min
BERGEN | STAVANGER 5h30min
STAVANGER | HIRTSHALS 11h30min 
HIRTSHALS | LANGESUND 4h30min
KRISTIANSAND | HIRTSHALS 2h15min

New vessel 

introduced during 2020!


